PACIFIC STUDIES

a journal devoted to the study of the Pacific-its islands and adjacent countries

DECEMBER 1993

Anthropology
Archaeology
Art History
Ethnomusicology
Folklore
Geography
History
Sociolinguistics
Political Science
Sociology

Published by

THE INSTITUTE FOR POLYNESIAN STUDIES (BRIGHAM YOUNG UNIVERSITY-HAWAII)

In association with the Polynesian Cultural Center

EDITORIAL BOARD

Paul Alan Cox Roger Green Renée Heyum Francis X. Hezel, S. J. Rubellite Johnson

Adrienne Kaeppler Robert Kiste

Robert Langdon

Stephen Levine Barrie Macdonald Cluny Macpherson Leonard Mason Malama Meleisea Norman Meller Richard M. Moyle

Colin Newbury
Douglas Oliver
Margaret Orbell
Nancy Pollock
Karl Rensch

Karl Rensch

Bradd Shore Yosihiko Sinoto William Tagupa

Francisco Orrego Vicuña

Edward Wolfers

Brigham Young University
University of Auckland
University of Hawaii
Micronesian Seminar
University of Hawaii
Smithsonian Institution
University of Hawaii

Australian National University

Victoria University
Massey University
University of Auckland
University of Hawaii
University of Auckland
University of Hawaii
University of Auckland
Oxford University
University of Hawaii
Canterbury University

Australian National University

Emory University
Bishop Museum
Honolulu, Hawaii
Universidad de Chile
University of Wollongong

Victoria University

Articles and reviews in *Pacific Studies* are abstracted or indexed in *Sociological Abstracts*, Linguistics and Language Behavior Abstracts, America: History and Life, Historical Abstracts, Abstracts in Anthropology, Anthropological Literature, PAIS Bulletin, International Political Science Abstracts. International Bibliography of Periodical Literature, International Bibliography of Book Reviews, and International Bibliography of the Social Sciences.

PACIFIC STUDIES

Editor DALE B. ROBERTSON

Associate Editor
GLORIA L. CRONIN

Book Review Editor
MAX E. STANTON

Book Review Forum Editor ROBERT BOROFSKY Books Noted Editor RILEY M. MOFFAT

Technical Editor SHARLENE ROHTER

Editorial Policy: *Pacific Studies* is published quarterly by The Institute for Polynesian Studies, Brigham Young University-Hawaii, Laie, Hawaii 96762-1294, but responsibility for opinions expressed in the articles rests with the authors alone.

Subscription rate is U.S. \$30.00, payable to The Institute for Polynesian Studies. Articles submitted to the editor must not be submitted elsewhere while under review by *Pacific Studies* and should be the original typewritten copy, completely double-spaced (including quotations, references, and notes). Authors may write to the editor for a style sheet and information on computer-disk submissions. Books for review should also be sent to the editor.

The Institute for Polynesian Studies is an organization funded by Brigham Young University-Hawaii. The Institute assists the University in meeting its cultural and educational goals by undertaking a program of teaching, research, and publication. The Institute cooperates with other scholarly and research institutions in achieving their objectives. It publishes monographs, produces films, underwrites research, and sponsors conferences on the Pacific islands. Further information on the activities of the Institute may be obtained by writing to the editor.

©1993 Brigham Young University-Hawaii. All Rights Reserved. Printed in the United States of America.

This publication is printed on acid-free paper and meets the guidelines for permanence and durability of the Council on Library Resources.

ISSN 0275-3596

CONTENTS

Articles

Rivers (W.H.R.) Revisited: Matriliny in Southern Bougainville, Part 2 Douglas L. Oliver
Violence and Political Change in Papua New Guinea Andrew Strathern
Nationalism and Sexuality in Papua New Guinea Laura Zimmer-Tamakoshi
Sea Tenure and the Management of Living Marine Resources in Papua New Guinea David Hyndman
Editor's Forum
Predicaments in Polynesia: Culture and Constitutions in Western Samoa and Tonga RODNEY C. HILLS
Reviews
Nancy McDowell, The Mundugumor: From the Field Notes of Margaret Mead and Reo Fortune (MICHAEL W. YOUNG)131
Terry Crowley, Beach-la-Mar to Bislama: The Emergence of a National Language in Vanuatu (John Lynch)
Ingjerd Hoëm, Even Hovdhaugen, and Arnfinn Muruvik Vonen, Kupu Mai Te Tūtolu: Tokelau Oral Literature
(Richard Moyle)

Books Noted

Recent Pacific Islands Publications: Selected Acquisitions,	
May-August 1993	
RILEY M. MOFFAT	141
Contributors	149

PACIFIC STUDIES

Vol. 16, No. 4 December 1993

RIVERS (W.H.R.) REVISITED: MATRILINY IN SOUTHERN BOUGAINVILLE

PART 2: THE NASIOI, THE BUIN, DISCUSSION

Douglas L. Oliver *Honolulu*

Nasioi

In 1963, when the central dialects of the four languages comprising the Southern stock of Bougainville's non-Austronesian languages were compared, that of Nasioi was judged to be the one most closely related to that of Nagovisi, with which it shared 50 percent of its test-list cognates (as compared with 27 percent shared with Siwai and 20 percent shared with Buin). At that time the Nasioi language was found to have eight subdivisions. Basic reasons for the Nasioi people's greater linguistic heterogeneity probably lay in their widely scattered distribution over an extensive and exceedingly diverse terrain. During some periods of their precolonial history, more of them had resided on or near the coast, but by the beginning of this century most of the coast dwellers had moved inland--partly, no doubt, from preference and partly as refuge from the Austronesian-speaking Shortland Islanders, who were raiding and sometimes settling along the coast.

During earlier periods it is likely that some Nasioi had retained fairly frequent contacts with some Nagovisi, as evidenced by the close similarities of their languages, but during the first third of the twentieth century the uninhabited mountainous terrain between their and the Nagovisi settlements isolated them from the latter as effectively as similar terrain isolated them from the Buin. I mention these circumstances in order to contrast the Nasioi's isolation with the closer relations that

prevailed, at least during recent periods, between Nagovisi and Siwai, and between Siwai and Buin. With that said, I must indicate the extent of the Nasioi's contacts with *non*-Bougainvillians, up to and during the era that is the focus of this study.

There is credible evidence that Austronesian-speaking indigenes from the Shortland Islands had been canoeing along, sometimes settling down upon, the Nasioi coasts for decades, even centuries, before Europeans began to trade and recruit there (Terrell and Irwin 1972; Parkinson 1907). Then, in 1902 the Catholic Society of Mary established a mission station on Bougainville near present-day Kieta; a few years later they set up another station south of there at Koromira Point (Laracy 1976). In 1905 the German Colonial Administration, headquartered at Rabaul, established a post at Kieta, and at about the same time Europeans set up coconut plantations and trade stores at several places on the island's eastern coast, including some in the Nasioi region.

Thus, by the 1930s many of the Nasioi had been in closer and more frequent contact with Europeans than had the Buin, the Siwai, and, especially, the Nagovisi. Moreover, some of the coast-dwelling Nasioi had actually been residing for several decades, and probably longer, in close proximity to settlements of Shortland Islanders, a circumstance that had given rise to an exchange not only of objects and ideas but of persons as well. Similar exchanges took place between the Buin and Alu (Shortland Islands), and between the Siwai and Mono (Treasury Island), but in more episodic, less continuous ways.

The first, and up to now only, comprehensive published accounts about Nasioi indigenous society are those of anthropologist Eugene Ogan (1966, 1971, 1972), who carried out field studies there during the period between 1962 and 1978, twenty-five years after my study of Siwai. Prior to Ogan several persons, including anthropologist Beatrice Blackwood, had visited the area and written about some Nasioi "customs" (see the bibliography for works by Blackwood, Frizzi, Rausch, Parkinson, Chinnery, and Schlagenhaufen), but none of their published accounts contains information sufficient or credible enough to suit the purposes of the present study. ²⁰

Ogan's field studies and his resultant reports refer specifically to one portion of the Nasioi-speaking people: four Administration-created villages situated in the Aropa Valley, about four miles from the coast and at altitudes ranging from 700 to 900 feet above sea level. At the time of Ogan's initial fieldwork, the population of those villages totaled about 2,000, which comprised about one-fifth of all Nasioi-speakers. ²¹ In Western terms the Aropa Valley residents were at the time more "pro-

gressive" than, say, those of southeastern and western Nasioi and less so than those to the north--that is, those nearer the commercial and administrative center, Kieta. However, in line with the general purposes of this comparative study, I shall focus on Ogan's reconstructions of the earlier, more "traditional" features of Nasioi society.²²

Ogan distinguishes three eras--stages?--in his generalizations about the history of Nasioi society during a period that ended about 1971 and that had been in existence for a few centuries. The first of those eras, which he labels "aboriginal," existed not only before any contact with European agents and goods, but even before any Austronesian speakers (e.g., Shortland Islanders) had begun to introduce new cultural traits into their lives and before the latter had begun to make piratical forays against their coastal settlements. The second era, which Ogan labels "traditional," reached its culmination just prior to World War II, after Shortland Islander and European settlements had become well established along their coasts and after their "aboriginal" economy -- and society--had become more complicated as a result of the introduction of steel tools, shell valuables, and so forth, but before the extensive practice of cash cropping and the widespread acceptance of Christian doctrines concerning marriage and supernaturalism-that is, before the "modern" era during which his field studies took place.

In keeping with the time frames fixed on in the résumés of Nagovisi, Siwai, and Buin (see below), the focus in what follows will be on Ogan's "traditional" era and on those "traditional" forms of Nasioi institutions still prevailing in the Aropa Valley.²³

In "traditional" times the Aropa Valley Nasioi resided in widely scattered settlements--hamlets--containing from one to no more than a "few" households each. Food getting was virtually identical to that of the Nagovisi and the Siwai: the growing of taro, plantains, and sweet potatoes (a recent introduction that seems to have superseded yams); the collection of sago, coconuts, almonds, and leafy edibles; some stream fishing; and occasional hunting (mainly feral pigs, opossums, and flying foxes). Because of a near-stationary population size (due to a high rate of morbidity and stringent restrictions on postpartum copulation), there still remained much uninhabited, even unclaimed, land. And because of the outlawing of warfare--lethal hostility having come to be expressed mainly by sorcery or murder--people did not find it necessary for self-defense to form larger, more closely knit political units. Correspondingly, it was not unusual for single households or small groups of them to move residence--to improve subsistence on

more fruitful land, to avoid stressful conflicts, to escape from sorcery-ridden settlements, and so on.

Marriage

As elsewhere in southern Bougainville, each Aropa Valley household produced its own food and was composed in most cases of a nuclear family. Moreover, marital residence was normatively uxorilocal and modally so as well--despite (?) the convention and the usual practice that the goods exchanged at marriage were about equal in value (Ogan 1972:15). Exceptions occurred when goods from the husband's side so exceeded the customary parity that he was privileged to "pull" his wife to the place of his choice, usually to his own premarital hamlet. (Such was especially the case with polygynous marriages, which although infrequent, did occur.)

Community

I referred above to "hamlets"--which, according to Ogan, rarely consisted of more than three households during the "traditional" era. From his reconstruction of that era, it seems that there may have been cooperation among the households of any hamlet in several economic and social respects (e.g., land clearing, fence building, and feast giving), but it is not clear to what extent neighboring hamlets were united into multihamlet communities. Notwithstanding, there were ideological values that encouraged and well-known practices that enabled some men to raise themselves above others in influence and perhaps also in authority over hamlets in addition to their own.

Wealth and Renown

As in Nagovisi and Siwai the principal kinds of articles that enabled adults to maintain or better their social statuses were pigs and shell valuables. Here is Ogan's statement about numbers of pigs:

The need for abundant vegetable food implied a limitation on the size of a herd. Normally a couple could not hope to keep more than five adult pigs; a single man would be lucky to keep two. This consideration affected family organization: a man who wished to raise pigs in a big way would prefer to have many wives but few children, since the women could thus maintain a large supply of pig fodder. (Ogan 1972:26-27)

Other than the above figures on pig-feeding limits--no more than five adult pigs per married couple and two per unmarried man--no figures are provided on the actual number of domesticated pigs extant.²⁴ It is clear from other passages in Ogan's monograph that the principal, indeed about the only, use made of pigs was for festive meals and exchanges culminating in such meals. In other words, pigs were rarely killed for ordinary household consumption--except, for example, when a man killed another's pig found destroying his garden. And pigs were not commonly used for barter--as were pots, weapons, coconuts, garden produce, and fish.

Turning to shell valuables, the only type mentioned by either Ogan or Frizzi is *makutu*, about which Ogan writes as follows:

Makutu consisted of seashells strung in varying lengths. (The example I saw during fieldwork was composed of a single variety of shells approximately [one and a half] inches in length making up a string about two feet long.) Although Rausch [1912a:110] glosses this term 'Muschelgeld', Nasioi informants were remarkably explicit and insistent that makutu was not like European money. Whereas anyone might possess the latter, only older men, especially oboring [see below], had makutu. Nor was makutu employed in all sorts of exchanges. Those specifically described as involving makutu were: makutu for sorcery; makutu presented to a deceased spouse's matriclan as part of 'remarriage feasts'; and makutu presented to the bride's clan in 'marriage feasts'. I recorded only one case of the last-named; it is probably significant that the groom had worked outside Bougainville. Other testimony implied the use of makutu in 'growing-up feasts'. (Ogan 1972:39-40)

Ogan continues: "The origin of *makutu* was even less clear in present informants' minds than the details of traditional exchange involving these 'valuables', but there is general agreement that *makutu* came from islands other than Bougainville" (1972:40).

In comparison with the variety of types and functions of shell valuables in Nagovisi and Siwai (and, as we shall see, in Buin), the Nasioi parallels appear exiguous, to say the least. It is possible that they were

much more numerous, in types and function, during the "traditional" times of the 1930s and that their paucity during the times of Ogan's visits had resulted from a rate of Westernization--including monetization --that was much faster than in Nagovisi and Siwai (and Buin). I find that explanation difficult to swallow, however--which leads me to believe that shell valuables had never been as numerous or as widely functional in Nasioi as throughout the rest of southern Bougainville.²⁵

In any case, although we are not told how many *pigs* were actually being kept by the Aropa Valley Nasioi in Ogan's time or how many were likely to have been kept there during "traditional" times, we *are* informed that their transactional uses were manifold, including some that were carried out with shell valuables in other societies of southern Bougainville.

In practices similar to those of the Siwai mumi institution, one or two male members of nearly every Aropa Valley hamlet (or community?) elevated themselves to the leadership status of oboring--partly with the voluntary assistance of kinfolk but principally through their own industry and managerial ability (that is, in persuading others to assist them and in planning and coordinating their assistance). The intended product of that industry and assistance was the giving of feasts, which consisted mainly of acquiring and dispersing pigs: acquiring them through the husbandry of themselves and their families, and through "loans" from other kinfolk; dispersing them on the numerous kinds of occasions on which pig feasting was required (e.g., growing-up ceremonies and funerals; and labor in clearing the host's land and in fabricating slitgongs for his clubhouse). On most such occasions the "giving" of pigs or pork was requited by allegiance-winning renown, but for two occasions the returns were much more tangible. One of those was the mortuary feast for one's own father: if the son of a deceased man donated a much larger than usual number of pigs for the occasion, he thereby inherited his father's individually owned property (in matrilineage land rights, pigs, and shell valuables, for example), which otherwise would have devolved to the deceased's uterine kin. Thereafter the pigs and shell valuables were used by the son for his own individual purposes, but the land rights were added to his matrilineage's estate.

The second such occasion had to do with marriage. As noted earlier, the exchanges that formalized *most* marriages were about equal and the resultant residential changes usually uxorilocal. If, however, the groom's prestation was much larger than that of the kin of the bride, the groom gained the right to reside with his bride wherever he wished, which was usually in his own hamlet--an option that also facilitated his

acquisition of additional wives (which brought, among other advantages, more domestic labor to produce more pigs and more affines to increase his network of followers and allies).²⁶

Matriliny

Anchoring and crosscutting the above patterns of residence, marriage. and leadership was the institution of matrilineal clanship. Every Nasioi belonged to the *mu* of his biological mother, and nothing, including adoption, could change that affiliation. According to Ogan, "I found that *mu* affiliation is one piece of kinship information every normal Nasioi over the age of approximately eight years has at his command. All persons belonging to the same *mu* are regarded as being related even though the specific [genealogical] connection [may not be] known; this relationship is sometimes symbolized by such descriptive expressions as *narung ereng* ('one blood')" (1972:95) (also, "*narung kede*, 'one belly, one womb' " [Ogan, pers. corn., 19921). The names applied to the various *mu* appear to have no other denotations.

At the time of Ogan's fieldwork seven *mu* were represented in the Aropa Valley; there may have been more, or less, in that area in "traditional" times.²⁷ In the absence of a Nasioi-wide census it is not known how many *mu* there were in Nasioi as a whole during those times--nor where each one's members were numerically preponderant. Moreover, except for two tales, referred to but not recounted in Ogan's writings or elsewhere, no accounts have been published detailing the origins and "histories" of *mu* or of the foundations of their totemic connections. Correspondingly, there is no mention in the ethnographic sources of the existence of clan shrines.²⁸ Mention is, however, made of the existence of clan-associated heirlooms.

According to Ogan, shell valuables were inherited, usually through uterine lines, "and may even have been, in a sense, matriclan property which one man held for all," such men having been "older men, especially *oboring*" (1972:40) Continuing Ogan's account:

Transmission of *makutu* from father to son necessitated a return feast by the latter to his father's clan. While such a feast might have been part of a [mortuary] feast, some informants indicated that a 'big man' [i.e., *oboring*] might decorate a small child with *makutu* at a 'growing-up feast'. If the child were a uterine kinsman, such display would not have changed ultimate ownership. However, if the child were the 'big man's' son,

or namesake from another clan, the child's clan would be obliged to 'balance the books' with a return feast. (Ogan 1972:40)

Turning now to growing-up ceremonies (that is, to the Nasioi versions of Nagovisi *mavo* and of Siwai *maru*), they did in fact exist and were labeled, generically, *bauta*. Moreover, according to Ogan, "most [of them] involved the child's [own] matriclan rather than that of the child's father" (1972:34). However, Ogan characterizes such occasions as "feasts," and neither his nor any other writing I have seen mentions any accompanying magical ritual, clan-associated or otherwise.²⁹

Before considering other aspects of Nasioi clanship, it is pertinent to summarize how clans were subdivided. For this I draw on Ogan's remarks about "modern" clanship in the Aropa Valley, which, he says, has not changed much in the lifetimes of his oldest informants (1972: 14). Each of the seven clans represented in Ogan's Aropa Valley study area had members resident elsewhere in Nasioi, and each was divided into named "subclans" (also labeled mu). (Three of the seven clans were represented locally by one subclan, one by three subclans, one by five, one by six, and one by seven.) Moreover, most if not all of those subclans were associated with one or two totems (e.g., eel, eagle, cockatoo, bamboo, almond, ocean) in addition to the one or more associated with each one's encompassing clan. No stories are recorded concerning the process of clan subdivision, nor would it seem that subclanmates knew or displayed interest in the genealogical basis of their purportedly distinctive common descent. In fact, except for respect for their distinctive totems, the only peculiarity of subclanship lay in the widespread opinion that sexual relations with a subclanmate were even more socially reprehensible and supernaturally dangerous than sexual relations with a more "distant" clanmate.

Regarding the totemic aspect of clanship, there is little reported about it in the sources known to me.³⁰ Even Ogan's summary is very brief:

Associated with each *mu* are certain natural phenomena. Some of these phenomena are alleged to be prohibited (*meeka*, 'tabu, sacred') as foodstuffs; however, only Tankorinkan *mu*'s avoidance of 'eel' was consistently observed, and many older people of other *mu* were equally scrupulous in avoiding this delicacy. Such basic foodstuffs as coconuts and canarium almonds [which are totems of one or another of the *mu*] are enjoyed by

all, regardless of *mu* membership. By relating the associated phenomena of their native kin categories or groups, immigrants of different linguistic affiliation (e.g., Nagovisi, Siwai) can adjust to the Nasioi *mu* system. (Ogan 1972:95)

Continuing Ogan's résumé of Aropa Valley clanship:

Despite the fact that every Nasioi has a lifetime clan affiliation of which he is early aware and which has significance for many of his daily activities, neither clan nor sub-clan constitutes an action group. . . . In other words, *mu* and sub-*mu* constitute categories which 'function to dispose [their] members to group formation and relationships [although their] total membership does not thereby constitute a group'. (Ogan 1972:97; the included quote is from E. Goffman, *Stigma: Notes on the Management of Spoiled Identity* [Englewood, N. J.: Prentice-Hall, 1964])

The activities that served to transform *mu* categories into *mu*-based "action groups" were as follows:

The meaningful Nasioi interaction group formed on the basis of *mu* and sub-*mu* categories consists of those members of a *mu* who are co-resident, or at least in frequent face-to-face contact, and who share rights to a given area of land. These individuals form what is called here simply, to avoid cross-cultural connotations, a *mu*-group. I was able to discover no term in the Nasioi language for the *mu*-group. When asked, for example, to clarify *niikana kantsi* ('our land'), informants might reply in Pidgin, "Graun bilong mipela Batuan bilong [the village of] Rumba." (Ogan 1972:97)

Continuing Ogan's résumé:

Some contexts in which members of a given *mu*-group were seen to co-operate are here offered as examples . . .

- --provision of food and betel for guests from distant hamlets, at the funeral of a *mu*-group-mate;
- --allotment of land on which coconuts might be planted by the husband of a *mu*-group-mate;

--collection of coconuts belonging to a *mu*-group-mate and transport to his smoke-house [i.e., for making copra--a "modern" activity];

--verbal support of a male *mu*-group-mate in a charge of slander brought against a female of another *mu*.

Thus an action group may be formed on the basis of *mu* affiliation to carry out production, life cycle rituals and settlement of disputes. However, . . . *mu* affiliation is not the only basis for formation of such groups. Insofar as I could infer from informants' replies to such hypothetical questions as 'What if a Batuan [*mu*] man comes from far away and wants to make a garden at Rumba?', the greatest potential significance of the *mu*-group lies in its control over a tract of land. (Ogan 1972:98)

The members of what Ogan labels a *mu*-group--that is, a *mu*-based action group--were drawn from a whole clan and not exclusively from one or another of a clan's subclans. This feature of Nasioi clanship differentiates it sharply from clanship in Nagovisi and Siwai, where different kinds of activities and different kinds of property were allocated to different levels of clan subdivision.

Finally, there is the question of *mu*-group leadership. As we have seen, distinctions were made in both Nagovisi and Siwai between descent-unit "elders" (*tu*'*mele* and *simiri*, respectively) and community-wide leaders (*momiako* and *mumi*, respectively). What was the situation in Nasioi, where *mumi*-like *oboring* had influence and perhaps authority in hamlet and communitywide affairs? We depend again upon Ogan:

Any adult member of the *mu*-group has a voice in decisions of the group--women make their opinions known indirectly--but *de facto* leadership is assumed on the basis of both ascriptive factors (age, relationship to previous leaders) and demonstrated achievements (industry, approved personality traits). Thus, all the *mu*-group leaders in Rumba were over forty-five years of age, maintained substantial gardens as well as stands of coconuts, displayed generosity, calmness and helpfulness, and were related in some way to Maura, the *oboring* of the pre-World War I period. (Ogan 1972:98)

Some resemblances as well as differences will be noted between this type of clan leadership and the types that prevailed in Siwai and Nagovisi--where qualifications of seniority, both in age and in genealogical level, were more influential and more highly institutionalized.

We turn, finally, to the Buin, whose northwestern residents interacted quite frequently with their Siwai neighbors and resembled them closely in their beliefs and practices respecting matriliny, but whose central and eastern residents practiced a form of matrilineal clanship that was "dilute," to say the least.

Buin

The people now known as the Buin inhabit most of the southeastern corner of Bougainville throughout an area of about 200 square miles, extending from south of the crests of the Crown Prince Range almost to the sea. The Mivo River forms a natural boundary between the Buin and the Siwai on the west. Some of the Buin's western, specifically northwestern, settlements are near and easily accessible to those of northeastern Siwai, but high crests and deep gorges separate them quite effectively from their Nasioi neighbors to the northeast. In the midnineteenth century, when their existence was first recorded in European accounts, all Buin settlements were inland--north of the wide, crocodile-infested swamps that lie behind the island's southern coast. The sea-going, Austronesian-speaking Shortland Islanders therefore labeled them, disparagingly, "Terei" (bush people). Those same islanders were in the habit of visiting Buin--first to capture "bush people" for religious sacrifice, drudgery, or sexual use, then in the course of time to trade with them (for example, to trade shell valuables and ornaments for Buin weapons and pigs). After trading had replaced raiding, many Buin moved nearer the coast; some even adopted canoeing and themselves went to Shortland Island to trade. Through those coastal Buin, Shortland Island goods were traded farther inland, so that even the most remote of the Buin became engaged in trade. Then, beginning around 1840, European goods--metal axes and knives, cloth, and other goods in exchange for Buin-produced dried coconuts--were added to the trade.

In 1884 Germany took possession of Northeast New Guinea plus the Bismarck Archipelago and Bougainville-Buka. In 1901 the first Europeans--Roman Catholic Marist missionaries--established a station in Buin, and German colonial officials from Kieta began to visit there, first to stop feuding and protect the missionaries, then to consolidate hamlets into "villages" and to collect revenue in the form of German currency or compulsory labor (for example, to construct wider trails).

In 1908-1909 the German ethnologist Richard Thurnwald spent ten

months in south-central Buin engaged in research. By that time many Buin males were working on European plantations, on Bougainville and elsewhere, but pax Colonialis was not effectively established in Buin itself until the late 1920s by which time Australia had succeeded Germany as the colonial authority there. In 1929 the official anthropologist of the Australian Administration, E. W. P. Chinnery, visited southern Bougainville, including Buin, and carried out a cursory survey of demographics and social organization. In 1933-1934 Thurnwald returned to Buin, where he and his wife, Hilde, spent ten months, again mainly in the south-central area. Five years later I carried out an anthropometric survey in southern Buin and made several visits to the northwestern Buin settlements that bordered those of northeastern Siwai, the area of most of my own research. The present account, however, is based largely on data collected by Jared Keil, a Harvard-trained anthropologist, during his two-year study (1971-1973) of communities in northeastern Buin, where, he informs us, much of the "traditional" culture persisted--more so than in south-central Buin, where official administrative and private commercial influences were more prevalent, and different from northwestern Buin, where I had found many cultural similarities with nearby Siwai. The communities Keil studied between 1971 and 1973 had also undergone some Westernization (including missionization and involvement in cash cropping and wage earning--and of course adoption of European tools, cloth, and some trade-store foods) but had retained enough of the "traditional" culture of the 1930s to permit Keil to compose a reconstruction of parts of it--which I now summarize.31

Even after colonial officials had succeeded in requiring them to reside, at least some of the time, in line villages, the Buin lived most of the time in small, dispersed hamlets of one to six or so households, similar to those of the Nagovisi, the Siwai, and the Nasioi. And like them the Buin subsisted by growing root crops, mainly taro, raising pigs, collecting wild and semiwild food plants (e.g., sago, canarium almonds, greens), and doing a little hunting (of opossums and feral pigs, for example) and stream fishing. The residents of each of their hamlets comprised what Keil labels an "agnatic core group," typically made up of two or more adult male agnates together with their wives and unmarried sisters and offspring. (Unlike in Nagovisi and the Aropa Valley, where marital residence was normatively and statistically uxorilocal, and unlike in northeast Siwai, where choice was flexible and residential practice more varied, in northeast Buin virilocality was emphatically normative and nearly invariably so in practice.) Such "core

groups" were not individually named, having been referred to as "the men of X" (i.e., the name of the tract of land they jointly resided on and exploited). Although not expressly stated by Keil, it may be safely assumed that the head of each agnatic core group was its eldest non-senile male--the (untitled) parallel of the Nagovisi *tu'meli* (female first-born), the Siwai *simiri* (male or female firstborn), and the Nasioi *mu*-group leader--who exercised authority over joint hamlet activities (e.g., garden clearing and house building).

In Keil's 1972-1973 census of Mogoroi 1 line village, its 175 residents were divided into fourteen agnatic core groups, which ranged in size from one to six households each and which were clustered into six larger units, which Keil labels "mumira-groups," each under the headship of a "mumira-leader."

The Buin word *mumira* is cognate with the Nagovisi *momiako* and Siwai *mumi*, but what a difference in meaning it had from them during the 1930s! All three words, along with the Nasioi word *oboring*, denoted a measure of authority over local community affairs and a morethan-average influence in neighboring communities; and all four of those titles connoted a control over tangibles of high value--mainly shell valuables and pigs. However, as we have seen, the Nagovisi *momiako*, the Siwai *mumi*, and the Nasioi *oboring* attained their status largely by personal effort and achievement; the Buin *mumira* usually attained his by birth.

Buin society³²was--still is--socially stratified, with an upper class of mumira and a lower one of kitere. In most cases an individual was assigned to the class of his or her presumed biological father, exceptions having occurred when a mumira man formally adopted a kitere boy. And although mumira parents preferred their children to marry mumira--especially in the case of an eldest son (and principal heir)-marriages did take place across class lines and without any apparent adverse consequences, social or supernatural. Indeed, some kitere parents aspired to mate their children with mumira, but few were able to do so because of the higher costs of marital prestations. In Buin society at large, mumiras in general commanded more respect than kiteres, but they did not constitute a distinctive tribewide unit, a group, for any kind of social action--not for feasting or for maintaining order (or, in precolonial times, for fighting). It was only at the level of the local community--and, to a somewhat lesser degree, among neighboring communities--that Buin's mumiras--and only some of them--actually led.

Before the colonial authorities, first German and then Australian, had required them to amalgamate into villages, *mumira*-groups were

the Buin's only type of politically autonomous social units. Such units appear to have ranged in membership from about ten to three hundred. Any unit smaller than about ten would have been militarily undefensible and would either be wiped out or obliged to merge with another group. And, I am led to infer, any much larger than three hundred would have eventually split.

As mentioned earlier, in most cases each of the hamlets making up a *mumira*-group comprised a separate "agnatic core group"--one of those having been that of the *mumira*-group's *mumira*-leader and his agnates (*mumira* class), plus their wives. The other hamlets (or agnatic core groups) of a *mumira*-group were made up of *kitere*.

In precolonial times the authority enjoyed by a *mumira*-leader over all members of his *mumira*-group was, ideally, limitless; in practice, however, it was usually subject to constraints. Ideally, or metaphorically, he "owned" all of the lands identified with the several hamlets of his *mumira*-group, and this was betokened by his right to allocate use rights to them and by his receipt of firstfruits from them. In practice, however, every adult male member of a *mumira*-group--or at least the head of each of its component agnatic core groups--possessed firm and enduring use rights to particular tracts of the *mumira*-group's territory, including rights of transmission to his heirs. To forbid a subject such rights would have been tantamount to expelling him--and losing thereby his services in peace and in war.

In precolonial times and in the 1930s a *mumira*-leader was also said (again, metaphorically) to "own" all of his subjects' high-value goods-mostly his pigs and shell valuables. Evidently, this ownership did not usually include arbitrary expropriation of the latter, but it did require that the subject secure his leader's approval before giving, exchanging, or consuming such goods. Also, it was a leader's right to levy a subject's goods for "public" purposes (e.g., his pigs for a feast)--although it was expected that such goods would eventually be repaid.

Similarly, in precolonial times a *mumira* was held to "own" not only his subjects' services, but also their very lives. Regarding their services, he could require them to assist him, for example, in fighting outsiders, in clearing his garden sites, in making his fences, and in building his dwelling and clubhouse (*abaito*, cognate with Siwai *kapaso*)--for all of which services the subjects were usually compensated with food. Also, wrote R. Thurnwald, "the *kitere's* daughters will help the *mumiána* (chief's wife) in garden and house work, and they are chosen to contribute to the men's pleasures when a big feast is going on. All these services, however, including the last, are remunerated, either by meals of pig or by *ábuta* [shell valuables]" (1934a:126).

Regarding their lives, a *mumira*-leader was customarily empowered to kill any of his subjects without concern over revenge from the victim's close relatives and without being required to compensate them. Such killing was done either directly (e.g., as punishment) or indirectly (through giving the victim to an allied *mumira*-leader for sacrifice to the latter's guardian spirit).³⁴

The Buin's supernatural universe was peopled with innumerable spirits, including the ghosts of many dead humans plus numerous neverhuman spirits of many kinds. It is likely (but not reported) that the ghost-ancestors of mumira-leaders played active roles in the magical actions of the leader, but it is recorded that the most powerful supernatural helper of a mumira-leader was his oromurui, a never-human demon that was manifested on occasion either as Thunder-and-lightning or as White-bellied Sea Eagle or a brown tree-snake (Boiga irregularis). No kitere had an oromurui, and only the more affluent and powerful mumira-leaders had one. For one who had, his oromurui resided mainly in his clubhouse, serving as his protector and policeman at all times and as his helper, during the precolonial era, in time of war. To acquire and maintain the services of an oromurui, a mumira-leader had to give frequent feasts to satisfy the demon's hunger for the sight and smell of pig blood. Also, in precolonial times, to insure the continuing loyalty of an *oromurui*, it was necessary to engage fairly frequently in fighting, in order to satisfy the demon's desire for the sight of fresh enemy skulls in the clubhouse. When a mumira-leader died, his oromurui customarily transferred his loyalty to the deceased's heir, but if the heir did not provide enough pig blood and (in earlier times) enemy skulls, the demon forsook him and attached itself to a more "ambitious" elsewhere.³⁵ mumira-leader

To the best of my knowledge, there are no figures available on the number and average sizes of *mumira*-groups throughout Buin as a whole. In that part of Buin studied intensively by Keil between 1971 and 1973, there were six such units for a population of 145 (which represented about one-sixty-fourth of the total Buin population at that time). The sizes of those six groups were 48, 29, 24, 23, 13, and 8. (Two of those six units were characterized by Keil as "sub-*mumira*-groups," that is, as having been only semiautonomous.) It is possible, indeed probable, that in precolonial times the average size of Buin's fully autonomous *mumira*-groups was considerably larger than between 1971 and 1973; because of the pervasiveness of inter-*mumira*-group suspicion or active hostility, it is likely that a greater premium was placed on safety in numbers than on the satisfactions of separatism.

Returning to the class stratification of Buin society (which, as we

have seen, was the principal factor in the organization of *mumira*-groups), figures are likewise lacking concerning what proportion of the total population were members of *mumira*-groups. However, turning again to Keil's Mogoroi village sample, 83 out of the total population of 145 were unambiguously *mumira*.³

Despite its considerable weight, even in postcolonial times a *mumira*-leader's authority prevailed only within his own *mumira*-group; elsewhere he possessed influence only, and that commensurate with his feast-giving successes. However, Buin *mumira*-leaders are said not to have engaged in the kind of explicitly competitive feast giving practiced by Siwai *mumis*; perhaps because their office was hereditary; they did not need to compete in order to attain or retain it. Notwithstanding, the leadership office of a particular *mumira*-group and therefore the authority of its successive incumbents were subject to weakening and, eventually, obsolescence if the group's membership became too reduced --through emigration or death. And when that happened, the remnant usually joined some other *mumira*-group or *mumira*-groups, either individually or en masse.

Thus, Buin *mumira*-groups constituted the society's only enduring type of political unit and were also the society's only type of suprahamlet economic unit. They might also be characterized as one of the society's most important types of religious congregation. Reference here is to the religious prominence of *oromurui*; while those powerful and universally feared demons were the personal familiars of individual *mumira*-leaders, they also functioned, as did no other kind of spirit, on behalf of the leader's *mumira*-group as a whole.

Buin *mumira*-groups had little or nothing to do with regulation of members' marriages, but they did take an interest in a member's specific choice of spouse. Nor did the *mumira*-group concern itself with the religious side of a nor-deader's personal well-being. For a résumé of these matters, we turn to Buin's matrilineal clans and *maru* rites.

As was mentioned earlier, each of Buin's *mumira*-groups consisted of two or more hamlets, and each hamlet of one or more households. Also, in most multihousehold hamlets (male) household heads were related to one another by close agnatic ties. (I write "most" and not "all" to accommodate cases in which only a household head's widow and his minor children were resident.) There is no indication that the two or more core groups of agnates that constituted any *mumira*-group were themselves invariably or even usually agnatically interrelated. In some cases they evidently were; in others evidently not. In other words (as Keil points out), Buin's *mumira*-groups cannot themselves be labeled

"descent units." Nevertheless, it may be surprising to some readers that patrifiliation was so important in this society, whose neighboring societies were so preponderantly (but not entirely) matrilineal. Matrifiliation or matriliny did prevail in at least two Buin practices, as Keil succinctly describes:

A Buin, from birth, traces relationships to others through his mother for the purpose of defining kin ties (that is, for identifying the proper kin term to use for his or her relatives). In addition, all Buin claim an affiliation with a named matrilineal grouping, which I call a matrisib. These matrisibs are named; they are ideally exogamous; affiliation with such a named unit is ascribed at birth, a person being a member of his or her mother's matrisib; all members of a named matrisib have a certain (unclear) relationship to certain natural phenomena and to all other members of the matrisib; it is claimed that members of a matrisib can be identified (even beyond the linguistic borders of Buin) by the nature of the lines on the palm of one's handthe right hand is identified with one's mother, and is said to be the stronger hand.

Unlike their various counterparts in Siuai, Nasioi, and Nagovisi societies, Buin matrisibs are not local or cooperating groups at any level; there are no named or acknowledged segments of a matrisib. (Keil 1975:93-94)

Regarding the first of those practices--the defining of kin ties through one's mother--that topic may be disposed of by adding the following narrowing qualification: "Whenever a man and wife use non-corresponding kin terms for any person, the offspring of that couple will always follow the usage of the mother" (Keil 1975:125). With that said, we can proceed directly to what can be gleaned from Keil and other sources about Buin matrilineal descent units (which Keil labels "matrisibs" but which I shall call matrilineal "clans," in keeping with the terminology used in earlier sections of this essay).

The Buin had specific words for "my-clanmate," "his-clanmate," "their-clanmates," and so forth, and names for each of their several clans, but no generic word for "clan." Each clan was known by the name of its primary totem, for example, Kaakata (White Cockatoo), Tourikana (Yellow-throated White-eye Bird), Maramo (a variety of eel), and Kenumau (a species of tree). In addition, some clans had secondary totems in the form of animals or plants. Normatively, a person

ought not to kill or eat his or her animal totem or pick, cut, or pass too close to his or her plant totem. Keil added that respect "may also" be accorded to the totem of the clan of one's father, but he did not specify the currency or weightiness of this practice. Apart from the above, the relationship between a clan and its totem(s) was described by Keil as "unclear." He continues:

Often these birds or plants are prominent in Buin stories of the past, in which they are portrayed as part-animal, part-human, and part-spirit. But they are not said to be ancestresses of the peoples of the various matrisibs. In fact I could discover no stories pertaining to the actual origin of the various matrisibs. . . . There are no shrines or other sacred places identified with any matrisib. There are sacred areas in Buin, and sacred objects, such as large stones or bodies of water, but these are identified with specific culture heroes or spirit beings, not with matrisibs or matrisib ancestresses. Often such sacred stones or areas are associated with a particular man who has "rapport" with some spiritual being who resides there; this rapport is generally passed on from father to son. (Keil 1975:95)

Furthermore:

[K]nowledge of one's mumira-group, both by the name of the mumira-leader and the name of the ground associated with its members, is at the command of every Buin except very young children. [In contrast, the name of one's matrisib] is not readily elicited from persons other than the older men and women (particularly women). Most other persons could not name their matrisib without asking other people. Often, though, a person could tell me that he or she was a member of the same matrisib as some other, specified individual. (Keil 1975:95)

The most salient aspect of Buin matrisibs (i.e., clans) was their exogamy:

Matrisibs are ideally exogamous. If a man marries or has sexual relations with a woman of his own matrisib the Buin state that supernatural agents would cause the offending couple and their offspring to be physically maimed or impaired. In addition, the ancestral spirits of the offending couple, if they are angered and

powerful enough, might add further to their woes. In addition to sexual affairs and marriage, the Buin state that if a member of one's own matrisib (and of the opposite sex) even walks upon or over one's sleeping mat, sores will appear on the body of the offender. In the past, I was told, intra-matrisib sexual affairs or marriage might be punished by the actual killing of the offending couple by their kinsmen, or at least by social ostracism. (Keil 1975:96)

Moreover, "a person of one matrisib may marry a person of *any* different matrisib; there is no evidence of any form of dual organization or any pairing of matrisibs in marital exchanges" (Keil 1975:97).

The sources disagree concerning the number of clans in Buin. In a report on his fieldwork of 1908-1909, Richard Thurnwald wrote that there were only four (i.e., Manugau, Fish Hawk; Tou, a small bird; Uau, a dove; and Ugu, Hornbill)--an assertion that he and his wife were to repeat in reports on their field study of 1934-1935. Chinnery, reporting on his shorter but more geographically extensive survey of 1929, listed twenty-eight "social groups" or "clans," which (according to Keil) may have once been "totemic beings" but during Keil's visit from 1971 to 1973 had no known connection with matrisibs: "Some of the species [listed by Chinnery] are definitely prominent in Buin stories and tales; perhaps they were totemic beings who are no longer recognized by the Buin today, or perhaps they are merely secondary phenomena associated with matrisibs" (Keil 1975:100). Finally, in his account of his 1971-1973 study of northeast Buin, Keil listed names of eight matrisibs--only one corresponding to any of those listed by Thurnwald --and implied that his list was not complete for Buin as a whole.

Thus, on the basis of available published sources, it is not possible to provide a complete listing of Buin clans--or even to state with any certainty that the society's matrilineal clans were alike throughout. My findings in northwest Buin differed from Keil's in the northeast--and both of them differed from Thurnwald's, which were based on his study of the south-central part of that extensive ethnic unit. 37

There was, however, one aspect of the matriclan institution that may have been the same throughout Buin. Reference here is to the finding, by Keil in northeast Buin, that matriclans were *not* class-stratified-that each of the clans known to him contained both *mumira* and *kitere* --not surprising inasmuch as interclass marriage was generally condoned and widely practiced there.

A description should now be given of the Buin institution of maru,

which Keil glosses as "life crisis rituals." As described earlier the Nagovisi, the Siwai, and the Nasioi performed similar kinds of rites-labeled *mavo* by the Nagovisi, *maru* by the Siwai, and *bauta* by the Nasioi. In Nagovisi they were performed on such occasions as birth, an infant's first bathing, first entry into a garden, first eating of certain foods, first entry into a clubhouse, first marriage, and first pregnancy. In Siwai and in Nasioi the occasions for such rites were nearly the same. For Buin, Keil states, the "most important" of the ceremonies involving performance of *maru* were birth, marriage, and a woman's first pregnancy (1975:105). In addition, "There are many other occasions where parents might arrange ceremonies and feasting to 'mark' the 'first' time a child 'sees' something new, and this always involves maru ritual. A child's 'first' visit to the garden is often celebrated in this way" (Keil, pers. corn., 1992).

The rites in question were similar in all four societies with respect both to the characteristics of their practitioners--that is, older females --and to the nature of their actions and materials--anointment or bathing of the subject with "sacred" water, coconut juice or oil, and magically potent leaves; magical incantations; and the sharing of pork by subjects and other participants. They differed, however, in one very significant way. In Nagovisi and Siwai the rites were associated explicitly and exclusively with one or another of those societies' matrilineal descent units. The association is less clear in Nasioi, although, according to Ogan, "most 'growing-up feasts' involved the child's matriclan rather than that of the child's father" (1972:34). In Buin the several different sets of *maru* rites--each of which had a name--had no discernible association with clans or with any other kind of durable social unit.

Every Buin became permanently affiliated with--underwent the rites of--one or another named set of *maru*. According to Keil, the grounds for that affiliation were not entirely "clear." The only points on which most of his informants agreed were as follows: (1) an individual, male or female, became affiliated, permanently, with the set of *maru* that was performed for his parent's marriage and, consequently, for his own birth; and (2) *maru* affiliation had no effect on choice of spouse, SO that it sometimes happened that the set performed for a couple's marriage and consequently for their offsprings' births was that of *both* of them.

More often, perhaps, the couple were affiliated with different sets of *maru*. When that was the case, it was more customary, although not rigidly prescribed, for the marriage rite--and subsequently the birth rite--to be ceremonialized with the *maru* of the mother. It did some-

times occur that the parental marriage rite (and the offspring's birth rites) was ceremonialized with the father's *maru*--in which case the offspring became affiliated with the latter.

In any case, although *maru* affiliation derived from filiation, unlike clanship it appears to have had no effect on choice of spouse. Nor, as far as I can discover from the ethnographic sources, was it in any way associated with upper- and lower-class status.

The total number of Buin's *maru* sets--"denominations"-- is not recorded. According to Keil, only three of them were represented in the northeastern village of Mogoroi 1 (whose population was 149), and three entirely different ones were represented in the south-central village of Mamaromino (population unstated).

To summarize, in northeastern Buin there were three types of residentally localized and fairly durable social groups: (1) virilocally based nuclear- or extended-family households, one or more of which composed, or were combined into, (2) agnatic core groups, some made up of mumira-class, others of kitere-class, members. Furthermore, agnatic core groups were combined into (3) mumira-groups. The two to six agnatic core groups that made up each mumira-group were centered on a mumira-class agnatic core group whose hereditary patriarch, the mumira-leader, was absolute ruler of the whole mumira-group. In precolonial times, here and there and now and then, two or more mumiragroups became allied to fight against common enemies; otherwise each mumira-group constituted a territorially distinct and politically autonomous unit. By the 1930s the political autonomy of Buin's mumiragroups had been superseded by colonial rule, and the authority, especially the physically coercive authority, of the mumira-leader had been curtailed, but many of the other social functions of such groups and their leaders still survived.

In addition to the above social groups, each resident of northeastern Buin became permanently associated, at birth, with the clan (Keil's "matrisib") of his or her mother--which, however, possessed no jointly held property--not even localized shrines, no shared activities, and few if any shared mythical traditions. In fact, the only things shared by members of any clan were their common respect for one or more distinctive totems and their prohibition against sexual relations with one another.

And, finally, every resident of northeastern Buin was associated with one or another of the society's sets of *maru* (life-crisis, growing-up, and so on) rites--the one that had been performed at his or her parents' wedding. Because it was more usual, though not obligatory, for a wed-

ding to be formalized by the *maru* of the bride, an individual's own *maru* tended to be that of his mother. However, persons having the same *maru* did not necessarily share anything else.

Although the summary just presented refers most particularly to northeastern Buin (the area studied intensively by Jared Keil), it is not unlikely that it applies to some other parts of Buin as well--except perhaps to the northwestern area, where certain aspects of social relations once resembled more closely those of northeastern Siwai.

Discussion

Even allowing for their factual gaps and uncertainties, the foregoing reconstructions reveal some close cultural similarities along with some striking cultural differences among the four linguistically related peoples just sketched. Some similarities are noteworthy. For example:

- their subsistence tools and technologies
- their residential and social intercourse patterns (i.e., households, hamlets, and nonnucleated communities)
- the nature of their most value-laden nonland goods (i.e., pigs and strings of marine-shell beads)
- their religious beliefs and practices--including especially their growing-up rites and their funeral rites and transactions
- their Dravidian-type system of kinship terminology and their norms for choice of spouse
- their ascription of a distinctive mystical quality to matrilineal and matrilateral relationships

In other matters, all four tribes shared ideas and practices in general, but with different degrees of emphasis:

- genealogical seniority as a basis of authority by and stratification among consanguines
- the assignment of initiative and authority to adult males in most public secular affairs
 - the incidence of polygyny
 - · quantitative differences in holdings of pigs and shell valuables

In certain other matters, there were large differences among all or some of the four tribes, namely,

- the frequencies and kinds of contacts with non-Bougainvillians
- political authority and social stratification based on factors other than consanguineal hierarchies
 - postmarriage residence

• and the focus of this study--the institutionalization and culturalsocietal importance of matriliny

Probably, some of the above differences were interconnected, causally or functionally. Before discussing these connections, though, it is necessary to recapitulate the more salient similarities and differences among the four peoples with respect to their institutionalization of matriliny. Common to all four tribes was the belief that relationships based on matrifiliation, and thence matriliny, differed significantly-one might say, mystically--from those based on patrifiliation, and in a way that rendered sexual intercourse between matrilineal relatives supernaturally dangerous--and therefore socially unacceptable (or, perhaps, chronologically it may have been the other way around?). Also, it was generally held by all four tribes that, other things equal, persons related matrilineally owed one another more mutual generosity in goods and services than was owed to other persons.³⁸ And third. in all four tribes persons who were matrilineally related were believed to be associated, more or less exclusively and "totemically," with certain animals (and, in some cases, plants).

Those complications aside, the four tribes differed, in some respects widely, in other aspects of matriliny:

- in the spans and subdivisions of the social units (groups and categories) comprising persons of supposed matrilineal relationship
- in the symbols associated with those units and in the nature of those associations
 - in the "histories" of those units and their totemic associations
 - in the collective functions and corporate possessions of those units
 - in the part played by matriliny in each tribe's total social life

Why did these differences exist? No two separate human societies have identical institutions. Why should those of south Bougainville be exceptions to that universal circumstance? The answer to that query is contained in the assumption that most of the ancestors of the four tribes under study once shared a single kind of matriliny (i.e., single in kinds of beliefs and practices) and, furthermore, that that situation occurred relatively recently in the total time span of humankind. The basis for that assumption rests on the close linguistic similarities of the four tribes. However, neither linguistic nor any other sort of evidence that I know of reveals the nature of that single "ancestral" kind of matriliny. Nevertheless, two "logical" possibilities come to mind: (1) that the kind of matriliny ancestral to all four tribes resembled that of Nagovisi of the 1930s, and all clans were categorized into two exogamous units (i.e.,

moieties), or (2) that the single ancestral tribe was divided into numerous discrete exogamous units (i.e., clans). (Neither of these possibilities assumes where on Bougainville that hypothetical ancestral tribe was located. However, in view of the present distribution of Bougainville's languages, I favor the likelihood of its having been in south Bougainville. And because of the routes of the migrations recorded in several Siwai and Nagovisi clan "histories"--that is, from near-coastal areas inland--my surmise is that the present Nagovisi area did not constitute the entire ancestral domain.)

In seeking support for possibility (1), we fulfill the promise contained in the title of this essay to "revisit Rivers," who stated: "[I]t is possible to infer with certainty the ancient existence of forms of marriage from the survival of their results in the terminology of relationship" (Rivers 1968:74) and "The scheme of development formulated in the early chapter of this volume rests on the assumption that, at the earliest stage to which the evidence takes us, Melanesian society was organized in two exogamous moieties with matrilineal descent" (Rivers 1914, 2:557). All four of our tribes used--still use--kin terms of the Dravidian type, which corresponds to a two-section (or moiety, or dual organization) social system.

We turn now to possibility (2), namely, that the ancestral form of matriliny of our four tribes consisted of numerous discrete clans-which, among the cultural forebears of the 1930s Nagovisi, became combined into moieties, that is, into two multiclan, intermarrying categories of persons. There is no direct evidence regarding how or when that process actually began among the Nagovisi, but there are wellauthenticated instances that suggest how it might have begun. I refer to fairly recent situations in Nasioi and Siwai, in which members of two adjacent and locally preponderant clans made a longtime practice, almost a norm, of intermarrying (i.e., of "exchanging women"). Various reasons were stated for the practice, especially the desideratum that "land and valuables would stay close together" (Ogan 1972:14-15; see also Oliver 1955:286-287, 292). 41 Moreover, as already cited, there are equally well authenticated instances of segments of "nonmoietized" Siwai clans having migrated into Nagovisi and become "moietized" (Nash 1974:5).

In any case, however much nostalgic contentment one may derive from this archaic debate, the question about the nature of south Bougainville's "ancestral" matriliny is likely never to be answered. More interesting, and perhaps less insoluble, is the question of how matriliny--whatever its "ancestral" form--came to have such different manifestations in the lives of the four tribes under study during the third decade of this century. Present among all four were social units comprising persons of known or supposed common matrilineal descent--units that were normatively exogamous and intracooperative, and that had totemic associations with distinctive species of animals and plants. But there the similarities ended. Regarding their differences, the extremes were represented by Nagovisi and northeast Buin. For example:

- In Nagovisi, on the one hand, all clans were localized but were combined, in terms of marriage prohibitions and particular myth-sanctioned spirit-ancestresses and totems, into one or another of the society's matrimoieties; furthermore, each clan was subdivided into sharply bounded, hierarchically ranked, and functionally distinctive segments. In northeast Buin, on the other hand, the clans were exogamously and "historically" discrete and morphologically unsegmented, and their respective members widely dispersed.
- In Nagovisi all land and most high-value shell valuables were owned, corporately, by matrilineal clans or clan subdivisions. In northeast Buin all land, high-value shell valuables, *and pigs* were "owned" by (at least, metaphorically) or at the disposal of the hereditary leaders of aristocratic and patrilineally aligned *mumira*-groups.
- In Nagovisi all religious loci and most public religious rites (including growing-up rites) were owned and used by and on behalf of clans or clan subdivisions. In northeast Buin clans had neither shrines nor religious rites of their own; growing-up rites were owned by and used for other, nonclan aggregates of owners.
- In Nagovisi, consonant with the prevailing mode of land ownership, postmarriage residence was normatively, and in practice most frequently, uxorilocal; moreover marital prestations were, during the thirties, mainly in the form of dowry. In Buin, postmarriage residence was normatively and statistically virilocal, and marital prestations were in the form of bride-price.

From all the above and from facts given elsewhere in this essay, it is reasonable to conclude (1) that matriliny played a much larger part in Nagovisi life, including the conduct of individual and public affairs, than in Buin; and (2) that Nagovisi women (through their leading roles in matrilineal-unit affairs) were more socially important than their counterparts in Buin.⁴²

It is, I trust, unnecessary to review where the northeast Siwai and the Aropa Valley Nasioi stood with regard to matriliny, between the Nagovisi and the Buin, so I shall conclude this lengthy exercise with some thoughts, first, about the factors that might have initiated the pro-

cesses of matriliny differentiation among the four tribes, and, second about the processes themselves.⁴³

Geography

The geographic environments of the four subtribes focused on in this study--central Nagovisi, northeast Siwai, Aropa Valley Nasioi, and northeast Buin--are quite similar: gently sloping plains rising into higher but generally broad and flat interfluvial ridges; waterways ranging between tiny brooks and wide streams (which were normally kneeto waist-deep, except after heavy rains, when they became deep torrents); clumps of primary rain forest surrounded by large stretches of secondary growth and pockets of gardens; scattered patches of swamp; and fairly heavy year-round rainfall, with little or no seasonal variation in precipitation or temperature (Scott et al. 1969:62-70). If such conditions had prevailed throughout the entirety of our four tribal areas or if those tribal areas had been alike geographically in all other parts as well, it would be reasonable to discount environment as a contributing cause. Buin and Siwai were indeed topographically similar to each other throughout, having broader streams, wider valleys, flatter land surfaces, and more and larger swamps than Nagovisi and Nasioi. In contrast, parts of Nagovisi and Nasioi were very mountainous. And whereas some Nasioi settlements were located on or near the coast, all of Nagovisi's were located inland--and separated from the coast by the Siwai to the south and the Austronesian-speaking Banoni to the west.

Therefore, one cannot *logically* discount the role of physical environment when searching for causes of matriliny differentiation. Yet, I am hard put to explain how topography per se could have influenced matriliny-except perhaps in terms of communication. That is to say, for a pair of mountain settlements that were adjacent and relatively accessible to each other but relatively inaccessible to all other settlements, a long-continuing de facto practice of intermarriage between them might have led eventually to a de jure moiety pattern. Such reasoning would, however, have to contain another assumption, namely, that the Nagovisi moiety pattern originated in the mountainous part of the tribal area and diffused to all other, nonmountainous, parts--an assumption for which there is no "hard" evidence.

In contrast, Nagovisi's mountains together with the whole of that tribal area's relatively greater distance from the island's southern coast did serve to preclude direct contact with Shortland and Treasury islanders, and to reduce the number of imports from them. Also, the wide variety of physical environments occupied by the Nasioi might well have resulted in local specialization of commodities, therefore in interregional barter--which, in time, *might* have reduced the acceptance of a general purpose exchange currency (i.e., in the form of shell-valuable money). (See below.)

Race

Bougainvillians are all dark brown to black in skin color but exhibit wide variations in several other genetically influenced body traits, such as stature and sitting height, and shape of head and face (Friedlaender 1975; Oliver 1954, 1955; Oliver and Howells 1957). In broadest terms, three regional extremes have been distinguished: a tall-statured north-central mountain type (best exemplified by the Rotokas), a short-statured southern type (found mainly in the Nagovisi mountain area), and a tall-statured, somewhat lighter-pigmented coastal type (exemplified by the beach-dwelling, Austronesian-speaking Roruana). With respect to the tribes dealt with in this study, the nonmountaineer Nagovisi are somewhat taller than their mountaineer language mates, and both the Siwai and the Buin are taller yet. As for the Nasioi, there is and was considerable variation between shorter mountaineer and taller near-coastal subtypes (which may reflect recent intermarriage between some of the latter with coastal Austronesian speakers).

All very interesting, but not very surprising in view of the vast length of time that the ancestors of many twentieth-century Bougainvillians have been living on the island and the numerous relatively recent immigrations from other islands north and south. But, in terms of intertribal variations in matriliny, the point of interest in all the above racial differences is not whether and how this or that racial feature has had any effect upon this or that aspect of matriliny. Instead, the relevant point lies in what the anthropometric evidence might reveal about breeding relations within, among, and beyond the borders of the four tribes (the assumption being that the sexual relationships involved in breeding were usually accompanied by other forms of relationships, including exchanges of objects and ideas).

Looked at from that point of view, Nagovisi as a whole had been for a very long time more isolated not only from Siwai, Nasioi, and Buin, but from other peoples as well. Moreover, within the linguistic boundaries of Nagovisi there had developed over time a number of fairly distinct inbreeding subpopulations. In contrast, within Siwai and within Buin interbreeding had evidently been less narrowly localized than in Nago-

visi--that is, the kind of marital exchange exemplified and jurally institutionalized in Nagovisi was not prevalent enough in Siwai or Buin to encourage the institution of the moiety pattern throughout those two tribes.

A second matter on which the above-cited anthropometric findings throw some light concerns a hypothetical invasion of Buin by non-Bougainvillians. Here and there in his publications Richard Thurnwald postulated that the differences in social organization between the Buin and other south Bougainvillians were due largely to a successful invasion and colonization of Buin by Austronesian-speaking Shortland Islanders, who--he wrote--imposed their rule over the matrilineally organized indigenous Buin, thereby creating the agnatically biased, class-stratified society described above.

Although some of the differences between the Buin and other south Bougainvillians--in social structure generally and in matriliny particularly--might indeed have been initiated by the Bum's more frequent and closer interaction with Shortland Islanders, those interactions need not have included--probably did not include--a colonizing invasion. There is no evidence for such a colonization from archaeology (Terrell and Irwin 1972), from history (Laracy 1976), or from anthropometry (Oliver 1954).⁴⁴

Demography

It is hypothetically "explorable" that a large preponderance of adult males over adult females in any of the four tribes could have reduced matrilineal continuities to such an extent that groupings and other linkages based on matriliny were thereby diminished in number, size, and function.

Census figures for 1938 do record a preponderance of "adult" males over "adult" females in Nagovisi as a whole (1,078 males:954 females), in Siwai as a whole, including Baitsi (1,621:1,570), and in Buin as a whole (2,812:2,285)-- no figures being available for Nasioi⁴⁵--but I cannot conceive of these differences having been large enough to influence the matrilineal institutions of any of those tribes--except as will be noted below.

During his 1929-1930 patrol in south Bougainville, E. W. P. Chinnery collected census data from the villages he actually visited--in Nagovisi, in Siwai (including Baitsi), and in Buin, but not from those visited in Nasioi. His figures also reveal a preponderance of "adult" males over "adult" females in Nagovisi (288:222) and Buin (906:790),

but not in Siwai (880:900). Again, however, I cannot conceive of any connection between those differences and their respective tribes' differences in matriliny, except, perhaps, in the case of Buin, where the relatively larger preponderance of males might reflect that tribe's "preference" for agnation--including perhaps not deliberate female infanticide, but greater efforts to preserve the lives of infant males.

Having narrowed the search through the above circumscriptions, I shall succumb to the urgings of my Tolstoy-an soul and propose what I believe to be the principal factors--or situations, or whatever--that set in motion the events that culminated in the intercultural differences in matriliny herein described.

In a word, I propose that the most effective of those factors were trading relations with Shortland and Treasury islanders (i.e., Alu and Mono), including particularly the importation of enough shell valuables to permit their use as generalized tokens of exchange--that is, money (see also Nash 1981:110). Unlike weapons, pottery, and other objects of short life and limited utility, shell valuables were relatively indestructible, multiutilizable, and capable of limitless accumulation. Even pigs, the most highly valued indigenous Bougainvillian measures of wealth and objects of exchange, were short-lived and, beyond a certain small number, impossible to maintain--and thus to "accumulate."

Some shell-valuable imports ended up in the (corporate) possession of matrilineal descent units and served mainly as heirlooms, which did not ordinarily circulate. Moreover, control over their use and disposal remained with descent-unit elders ("Firstborns"), especially female elders. In other words, large accumulations of such valuables brought prestige to corporate groups and influence to their, mostly female, leaders (as group officials and not as individuals).

The rest, perhaps most, of the shell-valuable imports ended up, however, in the possession of individuals, mostly men. It was individual men who conducted most of the original trading with the foreigners and who subsequently increased--or decreased--their takings through transactions with other Bougainvillians. Prior to the import of shell valuables, individual men had been able to achieve personal renown, social authority, or influence by raising or exchanging pigs (in the form of feasts, interest-bearing gift-loans, funeral "donations," war financing, and so forth). However, as noted above, compared with shell valuables, pig-based wealth (and renown and influence) was far less accumulable.

Thus, individual men (and in Nagovisi a few individual women) were enabled to accumulate more wealth and to achieve more (local) authority and wider (multicommunity) influence than previously--released,

as it were, from the quantitative restraints of the pig economy and from some of the moral obligations of matriliny (including, for example, exemption from customary uxorilocal residence and from the custom of bequeathing all or most of one's personal wealth to one's descent unit).

The latter exemption was especially important, inasmuch as some men--in Nasioi, Siwai, and Buin--began the practice of bequeathing all or most of their personal wealth to their sons, thereby serving in large measure to commence the processes that eventually transformed their societies from earlier more-pervasively matrilineal formats to those of the 1930s. Evidently, the numbers of such men varied from one society to another, as did the scales of their activities--and, consequently, the heights and degree of legitimation of their renown (which varied, for example, from the transient prominence achieved by a male Nagovisi *momiako* to the transmissible "chieftainship" attained by the Buin *mumira*-leader).

Such opportunities were available in each of the four tribes, but in different measure. It is my hypothesis that the most decisive determinants of those differences were, first and foremost, differences in the *quantities* of shell-valuable imports; and, second, differences in the numbers of men who possessed ambition for *personal* renown, along with the requisite financial and social skills. The first part of this hypothesis is supported--but only partly--by recorded facts (i.e., Buin and Siwai contained many more shell valuables per person than Nagovisi, the situation in Nasioi being unclear). Regrettably, I can adduce only unsubstantiable circular arguments in support of the second part of the hypothesis and shall not try the reader's patience by attempting to do so.

Several other factors could have, probably did have, some influence on the transformations studied in this essay--by undermining the pillars of matriliny directly, or indirectly by positive promotion of agnation. My contention is that those factors operated with different degrees of effectiveness in the four tribes and therefore produced different degrees of results. (The order in which these factors are listed is not intended to signify the relative force of their impacts.)

1. Wittingly or not, the Administration officials who dealt with south Bougainvillians encouraged not only agnation in general but male chieftainship in particular. Only men were taxed, required to work on government projects (such as building roads and rest houses or carrying cargo for government patrols), and penalized for violating government rules. And only men were appointed to government offices: to the line-village chieftainship (kukerai), to village interpreter (tultul), to medical

orderly (doktaboi), and to the higher office of regional paramount chief (nambawan, luluai). Although it is true that some of those appointments were made with popular backing, the very nature of those offices included an amount of coercive authority far greater than that possessed by clan elders or community leaders (mumi, momiako, oboring) --though not, perhaps, by Buin's more powerful mumira-leaders.

2. By the 1930s Christian missionaries, both Europeans and indigenes, had been active in Nasioi, Buin, and Siwai for at least three decades, and nearly every member of those tribes had been "convrerted," either to Roman Catholicism or to Methodism--or, in a very few instances, to Seventh-Day Adventism. For a handful of intensively trained youths and men (who served as village "teachers"), the conversion may have been relatively deep, but in all other cases known to me conversion served more to add to native religious beliefs and practices than to replace them. (For example, Jehovah, Jesus, and Mary were added to the native pantheons; Christian baptism was added to native birth rites.) A few native practices, such as sorcery and cremation, were censured by one or another of the missions but during the 1930s continued unabated. As for cousin marriage in general and cross-cousin marriage in particular, had the censure been effective, it would have toppled one of the principal pillars of matriliny. I do not know how effective that censure had become in Buin during the 1930s but I know for certain that it was only later that it became so in Siwai (and I suppose that to have been the case in Buin as well). As for Nasioi, Ogan writes in a 1992 letter to me: "I agree that the mission censure against cross-cousin marriage was probably not effective until after the 1930s, and probably not until after World War II."

With respect to Nagovisi, a European missionary (in this case a Roman Catholic priest) first established residence there in 1930. When I became acquainted with him, in 1938, he was continuing to practice his personal policy of proceeding slowly and forbearingly with conversion, maintaining a respectful tolerance of cross-cousin marriage and of matrilineal practices in general.

3. It is also relevant to consider whether the foreign work experiences of many south Bougainvillians affected the matriliny of their tribes.

As noted earlier, even before the turn of the century many south Bougainville males were leaving their homes for one or more years to work on distant plantations owned and managed by Europeans. The first published account known to me giving actual numbers of such "village absentees" was that of Chinnery, who recorded, in 1929-1930, the number of absentees among each village's total number of "able-bodied"

males" (from those villages that were included in his census), For Nagovisi the proportion was 30 percent: for Siwai (including Baitsi) 19 percent, and for Buin 23 percent. (Chinnery also visited several Nasioi villages but did not record the absentee figures from them.) In 1938 the patrol officer mentioned above made a similar but more complete census of the Buin subdistrict (which also included Banoni, but not Nasioi). According to his counts, the proportions of absentees (to all adult males) were, for Nagovisi, 30 percent; for Siwai (including Baitsi), 19 percent; and for Buin, 17.6 percent. (No comparable figures are available for Nasioi, all patrol records for that tribe having been destroyed or lost during World War II.) In other words, before and during the 1930s the peoples in this study included large numbers of men who had lived and worked for years in social-cultural settings strikingly different from their own, Could any of those experiences have provided them with the motives or the means to transform the matriliny of their homelands?

I am uncertain about what might have prompted any such motives-or, indeed, what they might have been. A few of the returned workers I talked with expressed some dissatisfaction with the "tedium" of tribal home life--although nothing could have been as monotonous as the daily routines of plantation living. But most of the returnees expressed pleasure at being back home--away from the continuous hard work, the barracks living, the strict and sometimes harsh discipline, and the lack of women, all of which characterized plantation life. As for means, no returned worker could have earned and brought home enough (Australian) money or money-bought goods to have allowed him to embark on an indigenous-type renown-achieving career (which, if achieved, might have weakened his own commitment to some aspects of matriliny). During the 1930s the average wage for plantation work was about seventy to eighty shillings a year (plus blankets, cotton loin cloths, soap, stick tobacco, and keep). Some of those wages were spent on goods to take home (e.g., flashlights, lanterns, storage chests, and canned meat and fish), many of which were distributed among the workers' kin. Moreover, much of what money remained was used to pay the Administration head tax (of the worker himself and of his moneyless close kin). Indeed, in the many cases I recorded, few returned workers had saved enough money to buy more than one or two pigs--not enough to even begin to become a mumi, momiako, or oboring.

4. Finally, during their plantation years south Bougainvillians came into close contact with other New Guineans, including many from societies unlike their own. Could the latter have persuaded them that patriliny--or ambilineality, or bilineality, or nonunilineality--was su-

perior to matriliny? I think not. On the contrary, the returned workers I knew were unanimous in their disdain for other non-Bougainvillian Melanesian ways of thinking and acting, including patriliny and other ways of grouping or categorizing people.⁴⁷

NOTES

[This is the second of two parts. Part 1 appeared in *Pacific Studies*. Volume 16, Number 3 (September 1993). --ED.]

- 19. Actually, the authors of this classification distinguished between "dialects" and "sub-languages," but the above characterizations are sufficient to indicate the relative homogeneity of those languages--and of the cultures of the four peoples now being compared.
- 20. Ogan relies on some published statements of those earlier writers, especially Frizzi, but does so on the basis of his much longer and more thorough field studies of Nasioi institutions, including what he judged, seemingly correctly, to be their "continuities."
- 21. As far as I know the Australian Administration's official census figures for most of Bougainville did not survive the Japanese invasion of 1942. I was fortunate in obtaining and preserving a copy of the 1938 census figures for the Buin subdistrict, but not for the subdistrict that included the Nasioi. I did. however, obtain and record an estimated head count of Nasioi speakers (including Simiku), a total of about 3,600--which, spread over an estimated "tribal" area of about 500 square miles, works out to a density of about 7 persons a square mile--the thinnest density of the four tribes included in this study. That, of course, represents a "generalized" density. In fact, those 3,600 or so persons were divided into eight dialectally distinct, spatially separated, and ecologically different subtribes.
- 22. Ogan adds the following, judicious, note concerning the authenticity of his reconstruction: "Clearly my definition of 'indigenous' or 'traditional' behaviour must be arbitrary. Today there are, for example, no Nasioi alive, or at any rate capable of being interviewed, who were full-fledged adult members of society before Europeans arrived in numbers on Bougainville. Yet the effort is necessary, not least because present conditions are obviously causing modern Nasioi to distort descriptions of past customs in order to achieve new political and social goals. Much of my own material was gathered at a time, and from the kind of responsible, elderly informants, which makes me confident that such distortions were minimal. . . . In this chapter I call 'traditional' those behaviours which were still current between the world wars, often clearly remembered by men living today but evincing continuity with the more distant past. This material is comparable [in degree of Westernization] to that observed at first hand by Oliver among the Siwai" (1972:12).
- 23. Although Ogan acknowledges some "modern-day" cultural differences between the Aropa Valley and the mountain-dwelling, southeastern Nasioi (i.e, those of the Kongara region), he uses some data on the latter in his reconstruction of "traditional" Aropa Valley culture--because of the less-Westernized state of Kongara culture and because of the availability of the earlier descriptions thereof by Frizzi and others.
- 24. In a 1992 letter to me Ogan wrote: "In the Aropa Valley in 1962-64, people had temporarily given up pigs in order to expand stands of coconuts. But even in Kongara in 1967-68, where people utilized rough terrain as 'natural pigpens,' I saw no large herds of pigs."

- 25. Ogan wrote in a letter to me: "I agree that shell valuables were likely to have been less important in Nasioi than elsewhere [in southern Bougainville]. Perhaps this is related to the importance of exchanging produce across ecological niches, or maybe just to the relative isolation of areas like Kongara from the source of supply."
- 26. On the basis of her two-day visit to "mountain hamlets" southwest(?) of Aropa Valley, in 1929(?), Blackwood wrote: "Certain families are recognized as being of high rank, the rest being commoners. There is an hereditary chieftainship, a man's heir is his sister's son, his own children belonging to another clan, and taking a position corresponding to the rank of their mother" (1931:430). This is the only published mention I have found of "hereditary chieftainship" or "family rank' in Nasioi--except insofar as Ogan's statement about *oboring* (big-man) succession (quoted below under Matriliny) might be so inter. preted. In this connection, Ogan also wrote in a 1992 letter to me: "Despite Frizzi's use of *Hauptling* [chief] . . . I cannot believe that hereditary chieftainship existed. As I have quoted often [in publications], the Germans were appalled at Nasioi failure to grasp the concept of chief. Again, I think the features of scattered, low density population and a lack of pressure on land play an important part here."
- 27. As mentioned above, some of Nash's Nagovisi informants tended to see their neighbors, the Nasioi, as having matrimoieties like themselves. That may indeed have been the case with their *nearest* Nasioi neighbors--i.e., those of western Nasioi--but there is no published mention of Nagovisi-like moieties by Ogan or any other writer on Nasioi except Chinnery, who wrote: "The Nasoi [sic] people appear to be divided into two clans, each of which has numerous subdivisions. My information was not very reliable, but I gathered that one of the clans is called Borapanu, and is associated in some way with Marioi, the eagle, and the other clan is Mantanu, which is associated in some way with Ungtong, water" (1924:71). However, the Nasioi were similar to the Nagovisi--and to the Siwai and Buin--in having had a kin-terminological system of the Dravidian type (i.e., one that classified all kin terms into one or another of two intermarrying categories).
- 28. The only type of "shrine" mentioned by Ogan (and also by Blackwood, Chinnery, and Frizzi) was that associated with households: "A small house, resembling a European birdhouse, was set on a pole behind one's dwelling, a small fire built inside, and tasty morsels of pig, opossum and other delicacies placed on the fire. This house was the *dopo* where the ancestral 'spirits' dwelt. It is unclear from informants' accounts whether ancestral 'spirits' were propitiated as individuals or groups, or how kinship alignments affected the system. Since the *dopo* was associated with the household as a social unit, it seems likely that each member made offerings to whatever spirits he thought of. [Present-day] Nasioi disinterest in such matters effectively precludes the possibility that this ritual accurately reflected a living individual's genealogy" (Ogan 1972:30-31). In a related footnote Ogan draws attention to a similar kind of shrine, a *lopo*, among the Austronesian-speaking peoples of Choiseul Island.
- 29. I find this omission puzzling. I cannot help but believe that such ritual once existed, given the role that magic played in growing-up ceremonies elsewhere in southern Bougainville and that it *probably* played in other domains of "aboriginal" Nasioi life. Nasioi growing-up ceremonies did differ from those of Siwai and Buin in at least one other known respect, namely, they, like those of the Nagovisi, included puberty (i.e., first menstruation) rites for girls.

30. Blackwood's description of Nasioi matriliny consists of the following brief remark: "There are five clans *(mu)*. Their names are Mara-owi (Eagle), Lingumbuto (Spring of Water), Mo (Coconuts), Toro (Eel), and Kandji (Ground). There are no subdivisions, but the Eagle clan is regarded as the most important. A man may not marry a woman of his own clan, but can marry into any of the others. The children follow the clan of their mother" (1931:430). For Chinnery's account see note 27 above. Frizzi's account (in my translated version) of Nasioi clans and clan totemism is as follows:

What little I could learn about Nasioi clans (mu) and their clan-totem-related customs is as follows.

A child inherits the clan totem of his mother, and a woman retains her own totemic affiliation after marriage. Persons having the same totem call one another "brother" or "sister" even though they are members of entirely separate local groups.

Marriage between members of the same totemic clan is strictly forbidden. When I asked a person to tell me the name of someone who happened to be a totem-clanmate, he would ask a third person to answer; had he himself uttered the name, he would have become susceptible to some misfortune. Persons having the same totem do not enter each other's house[!: see below]. Likewise, physical contact with a clanmate's blood causes sores, and smoking a clanmate's tobacco pipe cause boils on one's forehead.

During their wanderings outside their home territories, which might last for days, they informed me that they were always put up and fed by totem-mates. To my question "How do you recognize them as such?" the answer was "We just know." (However, only seldom do they go far from home, especially to places entirely unknown to them.)

Almost every kind of animal serves as one or another clan's totem, including snakes, birds, bats, fish, pigs, opossums and locusts--three kinds of snakes being among the most highly respected: the *bogiago* (a very large one), the *kurure* (a small one), and the *eru* (a thick-bodied one). A person is forbidden to kill or eat his own totem. Plants also serve as clan totems and, as such, should not be eaten by their human affiliates. With respect to all such restrictions, however, the prohibition pertains only to the species or variety of animal or plant specifically affiliated--not, for example, to *all* bats or to *all* varieties of taro or bananas, but only to that species or variety associated with one's own clan. (Frizzi 1914:17-18)

- 31. This reconstruction is based partly on Keil's and partly on my own reading of Chinnery and the Thurnwalds. It should be noted, however, that Keil now professes some misgivings about the reconstruction offered, tentatively, in his 1975 dissertation, In a letter to me of December 1992, he writes, "any reconstruction of the past on my part--in reference to the roles of mumira, kitere, etc.--is uncertain and debatable--and throughout [my dissertation] I discuss processes whereby the neat categories of my analysis have been transformed and changed and blurred. . . . And, perhaps, parts of my [dissertation] relied too much on [the writings of the Thurnwalds and Chinnery], without noting at every part that the Buin at the time of my fieldwork could not confirm or deny every point made in those earlier writings." Therefore, let the reader beware!
- 32. Henceforth in this essay--unless otherwise specified--all statements concerning "Buin" beliefs and practices refer most directly to the communities studied by Keil (Mogoroi and those nearby) and indirectly to those of southern and central Buin. As mentioned

- earlier, some of the northwestern communities of Buin had matrilineal clans that bore closer resemblances to those of the neighboring Siwai than to those of Mogoroi, but I do not know whether that resemblance applied to social stratification as well.
- 33. Two principles governed the transmission of a deceased's land use rights: (1) that they should go to the individual who had contributed preponderantly to his funeral feast (which had to be sumptuous to insure his spirit's entry into Paradise) and (2) that they should go to the deceased's eldest son--or, lacking sons, to another closely related male agnate, In most cases the recipient was the same--whether or not he had to "borrow" some of the costs from others (including, often, from his *mumira*-leader).
- 34. By the 1930s the time frame adopted for this study, a *mumira*-leader's power to kill had been curtailed by the colonial authorities. It is mentioned here only to indicate the authority that once rested in the status.
- 35. For more details about *oromurui*, including their comparison with Siwai *horomorun* and Nagovisi *paramorun*, see Oliver 1943.
- 36. Such a number of "upper-class" members strikes me as disproportionately large in comparison with figures for other class-stratified societies in Melanesia, but it is the only Buin-related head count known to me.
- 37. In 1938-1939, during my brief forays into northwest Buin (whose inhabitants were adjacent to and in frequent contact, including marriage, with those of northeast Sinai), I found their institutions to be closely similar to those of the neighboring Siwai--including the presence of the same and no other matrilineal clans and the division of those into subclans and matrilineages (Oliver 1943:62n).
- 38. In commenting on this statement, however, Keil writes: "I'm not sure that I would agree, for the Buin, that 'other things equal', persons related matrilineally owed one another MORE mutual generosity in goods and services than owed to other persons. I'm not sure it's MORE than what is, or was, owed to agnates, for example. or one's mumira/kitere" (pers. com., 1992).
- 39. It might be argued that the four tribes had different cultural origins and that their similarities in the 1930s had come about through convergence--specifically, through centuries-long contacts and mutual borrowings. Some such borrowing doubtless did occurfor example, between residents of northeast Siwai and northwest Buin. And, as Nash reported, there are well-attested cases of Siwai individuals having moved into Nagovisi and become assimilated into the Nagovisi dual-organization "mind set." However, scattered instances do not a broad flow of history make. And--with a bow to Friar Occam and his razor--divergence requires fewer assumptions than convergence with respect to the matter at hand.
- 40. By adding conjecture to "evidence" in order to reach back even further into Melanesian "history," Rivers proposed that that "ancestral" social system was itself the result of fusion between "aboriginal" native peoples and later waves of immigrants from Southeast Asia--the former having been "negroid," "ignorant," "of low culture," and "divided up into small hostile bands"; the latter lighter-skinned, of "higher culture," and superior in "mental and material equipment" (1914, 2:558).

- 41. Even in farawsay Buka, with its numerous matrilineal exogamous clans, two of the clans were so preponderant, numerically, that there were communities in which they functioned like moieties (Blackwood 1935).
- 42. For a comprehensive intertribal comparison of the roles and social value of women in southern Bougainville, see Nash 1981.
- 43. I do so while agreeing with the caveat by Count Tolstoy that the "totality of causes of phenomena is inaccessible to human understanding." I also accept his added observation that "the necessity of finding causes is innate in the human soul" (*War and Peace*, part 13, chap. 1).
- 44. In one publication R. Thurnwald wrote: "Among the people of Buin . . . you may easily distinguish various physical types since the invasion of this part by the Alumono race [Alu, of Shortland Island; Mono, of Treasury Island] seems fairly recent" (1934b:2810-2811). But in another statement published that same year, he revised his opinion: "The cultural and racial distinction between the 'aristocracy" and the 'bondsmen' seems on the whole to be less pronounced here than in Africa. The chief is housed, dressed and fed exactly like his bondsman. It may be that the fusion between the two is more advanced here" (1934a:125).
- 45. The census figures for Nagovisi, Siwai, and Buin were collected by Patrol Officer K. W. Bilston, who generously provided me with the copy cited here--which, as far as I know, is the only copy in existence, the original along with most other pre-World War II Administration records having been lost or destroyed during World War II.
- 46. Pigs could, in a sense, be "accumulated" by lending them out for others to feed, or by "giving" them in terms of collectible debts, but those forms of assets had their social limits --and were much less "liquid" than shell money.
- 47. A comprehensive report on south Bougainvillian matriliny would include much more than is provided in this essay, such as the stereotypical characteristics of familial relationships in clan origin myths, including the role of the senior and more authoritative, but often wicked, Elder Sister--a kind of Melanesian Cinderella theme--and the overworked and jealous. even vengeful father. However, I leave that task for scholars who are more inventive or perceptive or, in any case, younger than I.

REFERENCES

Allen, Jerry, and Conrad Hurd

1963 *The Languages of the Bougainville District.* Ukarumpa, Papua New Guinea: Summer Institute of Linguistics.

Blackwood, Beatrice

- 1931 "Mountain People of the South Seas: The Homelife of the Natives in the Hill Villages of Bougainville." *Natural History* 31:424-433.
- 1935 Both Sides of Buka Passage. Oxford: Clarendon Press.

Chinnery, E. W. P.

1924 "The Natives of South Bougainville and Mortlocks (Taku)." Canberra: Territory of New Guinea Anthropological Reports, nos. 4 and 5. (Note: The date of this report should be 1929.)

Fried. Morton

1968 "Introduction." In *Essays in the Problem of Tribe*, ed. June Helm, 1-20. Seattle: University of Washington Press.

Friedlaender, J. S.

1975 Patterns of Human Variation. Cambridge, Mass.: Harvard University Press.

Frizzi, Ernst

- 1912 "Ein Besuch bei den Kongara und Oiai." Zeitschrift für Ethnologie 44 (1): 178-179.
- 1914 Ein Beitrag zur Ethnologie von Bougainville und Buka, mit spezieller Berücksichtigung der Nasioi. Baessler Archiv, Beiheft 6. Leipzig and Berlin: Druck und Verlag von B. G. Teubner.

Irwin, G. J.

1973 "Man-Land Relationships in Melanesia: An Investigation of Prehistoric Settlement in the Islands of the Bougainville Strait." *Archaeology and Physical Anthropology in Oceania* 8 (3): 226-252.

Keil. J. T.

- 1975 "Local Group Composition and Leadership in Buin." Ph.D. diss., Department of Anthropology, Harvard University.
- 1980 "Prescription and Improper Marriage: Kin Category, Social Group, and Relationship Terminology Usage in Buin." *Journal of Anthropological Research* (formerly *Southwestern Journal of Anthropology*) 36 (4): 501-516.

Laracy, Hugh

1976 Marists and Melanesians: A History of Catholic Missions in the Solomon Islands. Canberra: Australian National University Press; Honolulu: University Press of Hawaii.

Mitchell, D. D.

1976 Land and Agriculture in Nagovisi, Papua New Guinea. Boroko: Boroko Institute of Applied Sociological and Economic Research Monograph no. 3.

Nash, J. M.

- 1972 "Aspects of Matriliny in Nagovisi." Ph.D. diss., Department of Anthropology, Harvard University.
- 1974 Matriliny and Modernization: The Nagovisi of Bougainville. New Guinea Research Bulletin no. 55. Canberra: Australian National University Press.
- 1981 "Sex, Money, and the Status of Women in Aboriginal South Bougainville." *American Ethnologist* 8:107-126.

Ogan, Eugene

- 1966 "Nasioi Marriage: An Essay in Model-building." Southwestern Journal of Anthropology 22 (2): 172-193.
- 1971 "Nasioi Land Tenure: An Extended Case History." Oceania 42 (2): 81-93.
- 1972 Business and Cargo: Socio-Economic Change among the Nasioi of Bougainville.

 New Guinea Research Bulletin no. 44. Canberra and Port Moresby: Australian National University Press.

Oliver, Douglas

- 1943 "The *Horomorun* Concepts of Southern Bougainville: A Study in Comparative Religion." *Papers of the Peabody Museum of American Archaeology and Ethnology* 20 (1): 1-27.
- 1949 Studies in the Anthropology of Bougainville, Solomon Islands. Papers of the Peabody Museum of American Archaeology and Ethnology 29.
- 1954 *Somatic Variability and Human Ecology on Bougainville.* Cambridge, Mass.: Department of Anthropology, Harvard University.
- 1955 A Solomon Island Society: Kinship and Leadership among the Siuai of Bougainville. Cambridge, Mass.: Harvard University Press.
- 1971 "Southern Bougainville." In *Politics in New Guinea,* ed. R. M. Berndt and Peter Lawrence. 276-297. Nedlands: University of Western Australia Press.
- 1989 Oceania: The Native Cultures of Australia and the Pacific Islands. 2 vols. Honolulu: University of Hawaii Press.
- 1991 Black Islanders: A Personal Perspective of Bougainville, 1937-1991. Melbourne: Hyland House; Honolulu: University of Hawaii Press.

Oliver, Douglas, and W. W. Howells

- 1957 "Micro-evolution: Cultural Elements in Physical Variation." *American Anthropologist* 59:965-978.
- 1960 "Bougainville Populations Studied by Generalized Distance." In *Actes du VIe Congrès International des Sciences Anthropologiques et Ethnologiques*, vol. 1. Paris.

Parkinson. R.

- 1899 Zur Ethnographie der Nordwestlichen Salomo Inseln. Abhandlungen und Beriche des Koniglichen Zoologischen und Anthropologisch-Ethnographischen Museum zu Dresden. Vol. 7. Berlin.
- 1907 Dreisig Jahre in der Südsee: Land und Leute, Sitten und Gebrauche in Bismarckarchipel und auf den deutschen Salomo-inseln. Stuttgart: Verlag von Strecken und Strecken.

Rappaport, R. R.

1968 Pigs for the Ancestors: Ritual in the Ecology of a New Guinea People. New Haven: Yale University Press.

Rausch, P.

- 1912a "Die Sprache von Südost-Bougainville, Deutsche Salomo-inseln." *Anthropos* 7: 105-134, 585-616, 1964-1994.
- 1912b "Die Verwandtschaftsnamen der Nasioi, Südest-Bougainville, Deutsche Salomoinseln." *Anthropos* 7:1056-1057.

Ribbe, Carl

1903 Zwei Jahre unter den Kannibalen du Salomo-inseln: Reise-erlebnisse und Schilderungen von Land und Leuten. Dresden-Blasewicz: Beyr.

Rivers, W. H. R.

- 1914 The History of Melanesian Society. 2 vols. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press
- 1929 Social Organization. London: Kegan Paul, Trench, Trubner.
- 1968 Kinship and Social Organization. London: University of London, Athlone Press.

Schlagenhaufen, O.

1908 "Bericht über eine Orientierungsreise nach Kieta auf Bougainville." Zeitschrift für Ethnologie 40:85-86.

Scott, R. M., et al.

1969 Lands of Bougainville and Buka Islands, Territory of Papua and New Guinea. Land Research Series no. 20. Melbourne: Commonwealth Scientific and Industrial Research Organisation.

Spriggs, Matthew

1992 "Alternative Prehistories for Bougainville: Regional, National: or Micronational." *The Contemporary Pacific* 4 (2): 269-298.

Terrell, J., and G. J. Irwin

1972 "History and Tradition in the Northern Solomons: An Analytical Study of the Torau Migration to Southern Bougainville in the 1860's." *Journal of the Polynesian Society* 81:317-349.

Thurnwald, H.

1934 "Women's Status in Buin Society." Oceania 5 (2): 142-170.

1938 "Ehe und Mutterschaft in Buin." *Archiv für Anthropologic und Völkerforschung, neue Folge* 24:214-246. Braunschweig.

Thurnwald, R.

1912 Forschungen auf den Salomo-inseln und den Bismarck archipel. 2 vols. Berlin: Dietrich Reimer Verlag.

1934a "Pigs and Currency in Buin." Oceania 5 (2): 119-141.

1934b "Some Traits of Society in Melanesia." *Proceedings of the Fifth Pacific Science Congress* 4:2805-2814.

Wheeler, G. C.

1914 "Totemismus in Buin." Zeitschrift für Ethnologie 46:41-44.

Wickler, S.

1990 "Prehistoric Melanesian Exchange and Interaction: Recent Evidence from the Northern Solomons." *Asian Perspectives* 29 (2): 135-154.

Wickler, S., and M. Spriggs

1988 "Pleistocene Human Occupation in the Solomon Islands." Antiquity 62:703-706.

VIOLENCE AND POLITICAL CHANGE IN PAPUA NEW GUINEA

Andrew Strathern
University of Pittsburgh

Papua New Guinea's government faces challenges to its legitimacy and power over major issues in a number of spheres, including control over mining projects, payments of compensation, and the electoral process itself. This circumstance prompts me to raise a question similar to ones regarding rebellion and revolution posed initially in the very different context of the study of African kingdoms by Max Gluckman (1963): What are the conditions for the political legitimacy of authority in a small-scale multiethnic state such as that of Papua New Guinea? Or, to put it in a less a priori way, what contests over such legitimacy occur? Using cases from the Highlands region of Papua New Guinea I will explore this underlying issue, and in so doing will at the same time examine the place of violence in political life from the point of view of its legitimacy or acceptability to different parties as a part of the overall political process (cf. Riches 1986).

At stake here also is the place of "custom" (kastom) in contemporary politics. Keesing's study of Kwaio history shows clearly that for the Kwaio, "custom" is a way of marking out their resistance to external control (1992), and violent physical action has a place in such processes of resistance among the Kwaio as well as elsewhere in Melanesia. My argument here is that the insertion of violence into political processes that are now encapsulated within a state framework leads, whether intentionally or not, to a risk of turbulence reaching the state level itself and to the possibility that a democratic form of government may not be

able to sustain itself in future. Conversely, state-level institutions and processes, in their impingement on local communities, may themselves contribute to the growth of turbulence and to the resurgence of transformed versions of "custom." The perspectives of politicians, public servants, local leaders, and ordinary people may be sharply at variance, especially with regard to the place of violence in politics, so "legitimacy," as Riches pointed out (1986:11), is likely to be inherently contested and indeterminate. As an observer, I can only report on the contest, while also attempting to see its wider-scale implications for the future of the state.

One broad point can be made at the outset. By contrast with many African societies, the small-scale societies of Papua New Guinea tended to be politically acephalous, and in the Highlands there were no established centralized chiefdoms that could have been used to graft indigenous politics onto the introduced colonial state. Big-men were leaders of groups, coalitions, and factions in pursuit of competitive ends. When populations of this kind are introduced first to colonial and then to postcolonial power, we should not expect them to invent overnight a respect for hierarchical authority. They obeyed the colonial power out of a combination of fear and self-interest. When fear is no longer there, they will continue to pursue the self-interest part of the equation unless curbed. In short, the national government, inheriting the colonial state apparatus in 1975, was not initially equipped with any automatic legitimacy in the people's eyes. Indeed, many Highlanders had not wanted independence and were skeptical from the outset about what the new government could achieve (see Strathern 1979).

The general context into which the historical processes I am concerned with are set is, then, clear for the Highlands region. This region was first explored only in the early 1930s and effectively pacified only after 1945. Since then it has been subjected to an intense pace of change and development, driven first by cash cropping and a plantation economy and more recently by the effects of a mining boom. State institutions have been fully in place only since 1975, when Papua New Guinea was granted political independence from Australia; provincial governments began operating only at the end of the 1970s. These institutions, as I have noted, carry with them no particular legitimacy of their own at local levels. From the point of view of the people, then, new institutions have to *earn* such legitimacy or acceptance through the benefits they offer, and in practice such benefits are often channeled through personal networks of patronage that take on a local aura of influence quite separate from that of the state itself.

The Historical Context

The argument of this article is thus historical, and the focus is on the Highlands region, whose problems with violence figure prominently in contemporary debates in and on Papua New Guinea. In the immediate precontact past in the Highlands (that is, up to c. 1930) it is obvious that both violence and peacemaking were equally, and in alternation, legitimate means of raising and settling issues in intergroup contexts. The legitimacy of violence in interpersonal relationships varied by kinship, gender, and status, and breaches of the boundaries of legitimate action were marked by rules of paying compensation for harm done to others or, failing such compensation, by recourse to violent retribution. With pacification such violence at local levels became proscribed. Control over physical force was in theory concentrated into the capacity of the colonial Administration, although the people did not necessarily recognize this as a valid claim. The use of physical force to settle disputes was supposed to be replaced in the life of the Highlanders by "law," meaning the courts and the police, as well as, less explicitly, a benign expansion of indigenous custom in the sphere of making compensation payments for past killings. Indeed, without the latter process pacification could never have succeeded even for the limited period in which it did hold sway.

The colonial Australian Administration set up an array of courts prior to independence in 1975 to provide a means of litigation within the framework of the state. "Custom" was permitted to be influential only at the lowest levels of these courts, which began to be introduced widely only after 1975: the village courts. It was not recognized as a basis for law above the local level and hence could not be applied to acts that were tried in higher-level courts, such as crimes or acts of violence. Peacemaking between individuals or groups was largely left to custom, with passing interest from the formal levels of administration. (*Kiaps*, colonial officials, often introduced revised versions of compensation practices to the people, in the belief that they were following or improving local methods of dispute settlement.)

It is evident that the court system that the postindependence government inherited had a formal legitimacy within its own sphere, backed up with varying degrees of effectiveness by force in the shape of the police. This legitimacy, however, was self-accorded and primarily established in colonial times. Highlanders do not see these courts as separate from the rest of government, as enduring institutions to be

respected in their own right. If government, or the police, lose respect, so do the courts.

Customary procedures for settlement, as I have noted, had an informal legitimacy in the people's eyes, not as backed by the state but as dependent on self-regulatory mechanisms and ultimately on the sanctioning power of intergroup violence. This ultimate sanction, however, was precisely what state control disallowed. From this fundamental problem many others have subsequently stemmed. We can identify a gap here in the overall system of social control, which has grown wider over time. If, for example, compensation procedures are rejected by one party to a dispute, how could the other side claim state assistance if there was no legal framework in which to do so? Government officials tried, and indeed still try, on an ad hoc basis and using their prestige, to push through compensation claims of this sort when it suited their interests. They sponsored ceremonies of peacemaking in which weapons were broken and burned by warring sides. Thus they tried to close the gap in control. However, a conflict had been set up in the intersection between local politics and state or colonial law: Although the former necessitates the readjustment of intergroup relations at the local level, the state authorities saw killings as a matter between the state and the guilty individual (Strathern 1972).

In this situation, both court authorities and the local people saw each other's actions and attitudes as odd and basically irrelevant. Judges were concerned about punishing crimes on an individual basis. Clans were concerned about claiming compensation from each other. Neither side essentially supported the other. The result could be that the state punished criminals, while clansmen still took revenge if they could not, without outside help, obtain compensation in wealth. (For further case histories and more detailed discussion, see Strathern 1974; cf. Gordon and Meggitt 1985 on the Enga region.)

The Context of Violence

The resurgence of overt physical violence at local levels in the Highlands during the 1970s was precipitated by a large number of factors, in particular the dismantling of the powers of government patrol officers and their dissipation into a supposedly rational bureaucratic structure; land shortages in some areas, caused by cash cropping and land alienation; an overall decline in coffee prices since the mid-1970s; the failure of courts adequately to address the underlying issues in disputes; the loss of sanctions associated with the indigenous religions and the inability of

Christian missions to fill the gap; and tensions brought about by uneven development between urban and rural centers and between emergent social classes within the nation (sometimes expressed in hostile behavior stemming from the consumption of alcohol [see Iamo and Ketan 1992]). A crisis of legitimacy is implicated in all of these factors; implicated also are the severe contradictions in social life brought about by processes of change. Highlanders have both avidly sought wealth through cash cropping and business activity, and at the same time quite tenaciously held on to certain indigenous ways of behavior, particularly in the sphere of prestige-seeking and exchange but also in terms of exercising violence to resist, or per contra to effect, political changes. Jealousy of another's success in the competitive game of wealth may lead to murder, for example, or sorcery. (In earlier phases of history sorcery accusations and fears kept alive a historical consciousness of conflict between groups and individuals based upon tribal structures.) Criminal gangs have emerged pari passu with rich businessmen, either preying on these or living symbiotically with them. In intergroup contexts armed confrontations are frequent, and the deep-seated enmities that go with these can be assuaged only by lengthy and autonomous compensation ceremonies, which remain essentially outside of the sphere of government action. (These events are still occasionally endorsed or even sponsored by government officials in Hagen, but the social pressures behind them have little to do with government policy or influence; however, see Gordon and Meggitt 1985 on the Enga situation.)

So far, I have presented a "layered" picture of political action: as though government was free of violence and violence-plus-exchange operated at local levels. The picture is incomplete. First, the state has itself been faced with an internal secessionist movement in the North Solomons Province, especially on Bougainville island, which has led to bloody engagements and fierce arguments over the legitimacy of state action in these conflicts. Second, the results of this state-level conflict have further affected regions already marked by their own struggles, since the withdrawal of police and resources from these regions to the North Solomons has reduced government presence and capability and hence further diminished its legitimacy and effectiveness. Third, and this is the theme that I will pursue, in this context vertical linkages have occurred between local areas and the state that have led to a perception that local and state issues are interconnected and that matters of state, far from being imposed only from the center, can be altered through local actions.

The top-down legitimacy of government thus begins to be radically

contested, at least partly through the activities of elected politicians who use ties with local electorates to bring to a head issues that impinge on the national level. Along with government efforts to control violence and restrict its sphere of legitimacy, there is actually a tendency for that sphere to expand upwards from those local levels, where it always held an unspoken legitimacy, into the sphere of national affairs and into issues that affect wider sets of people. The strength of this tendency in fact varies directly, if paradoxically, with the strength of politicians in both their local arenas and on the national scene.

Here we see clearly a major difference between the colonial and the postcolonial state. Government officials chosen and paid by the colonial power represented government interests and concerns to the people but in no way depended on them for continued employment. Postcolonial politicians, by contrast, must try to favor their electors and are intrinsically likely to seek resources at the national level to do so, as well as to use their local base of support as a means to raise issues at the national level. The potential for volatility and instability in the relationship between the state and local populations is thus greatly increased, and the situation is exacerbated when the voting process itself becomes commoditized (see below).

Two contradictory activities of government are taking place. Laws are enacted in Parliament and effected through the courts and by the police that specifically aim at containing violence. Insofar as the agencies that apply such laws at the local level use force themselves to do so, they present a two-edged example to the local people: not just that right is might, but the reverse, that might is right. Politicians, on the other hand, by fostering local factions in pursuit of personal power, may actually stir up conflicts and increase their significance beyond the local level. Tendencies in this direction were already evident in the 1980s when funeral ceremonies for important leaders were sometimes made the occasion for rioting and destruction of property in Mount Hagen town, motivated by political rivalry between candidates for the provincial premiership or for a seat in the national Parliament. One can see a conflict of opinion developing here between the public service and the politicians. Senior public servants largely see their task as the expansion of the sphere of administration and of "law and order." They sometimes are of the opinion that politicians can get in the way of this process both by commoditizing, and so corrupting, politics and by attempting to usurp the spheres of administrative work in favor of their own patronage networks: networks that inevitably conduce to the factionalization of relationships between groups within local electorates since, in favoring close supporters, the politicians deprive others of desired resources.

Adventitiously, the situation has been made much more precarious since the introduction of firearms into fighting and criminal actions in the Highlands (and elsewhere). The ambiguous role of politicians in this situation is made clear by the recurrent suspicion on the part of ordinary people (and some electoral officials also) that certain politicians are among the most important suppliers of guns to their constituents, largely because guns buy votes. Politicians' henchmen distribute guns to their networks and build their own influence on the putative possession of powerful weapons. At the end of 1991 in Mount Hagen (Western Highlands Province) people predicted that warfare would break out shortly after the elections, scheduled for May 1992, precisely because of these preset alignments presided over by local henchmen or bosses.

These henchmen are not outsiders. They are kin to either the politicians or the local people whom they attempt to influence, or they are linked to both. They receive money, vehicles, and business opportunities in return for promoting the politicians for reelection. A major factor in this process has been the access that both national and provincial politicians have had to discretionary ("slush") funds for stimulating local development and services. The henchmen, usually younger than the politician, are seeking avenues to become politicians later or to found businesses such as security and nightwatch services. Although henchmen possess and distribute guns, they are distinguished from the younger warriors who gain prominence by using these weapons. Typically, henchmen move often between local areas and the capital city, Port Moresby, and occupy an ambiguous status of part-influence, part-obscurity in both arenas.

The people in fact predicted that as a result of electoral violence the 1992 election would be the last one, implying that the army might take over to save the state from anarchy. If this vision were correct, it would mean the final point of the expansion of the legitimacy of violence proceeding from the local level had been reached, to be met by the counterpoint of repressive rule; and the historical link between point and counterpoint would turn out to be the previously democratically elected politicians themselves.

Elections and the Commoditization of the Vote

People were predicting, then, that the 1992 elections would bring the end of elections as such. It would be a revolution and not just a rebellion against a particular politician or political coalition of the kind that has characterized the volatile events of Papua New Guinea's national politics since 1975. It may be worth while here to trace a history of elections

over the years, showing how politics had reached the point of such a prediction being made by the end of 1991.

Elections for the National House of Assembly were arranged by the colonial Administration as early as 1964. In 1964 aspiring politicians attempted to cultivate an image of representatives who by their "strong talk" (*ik rondokl* in the Hagen language, a prerequisite for big-manship) could extract benefits for their area from the Australians. The idea that politicians are also lawmakers or that political parties might have competing ideologies was at this time entirely absent, and the politician was seen as a glorified local government councillor.

This image prevailed until not long before independence, when it became clear to Highlanders that certain parties, in particular PANGU, aimed at achieving independence, while others, such as the UNITED Party at that time, opposed it and wanted the Australians to stay. Highlands politicians soon learned the perks to be gained from switching their loyalties between factions in coalitions, and their image in the people's eyes began to shift from an idea of them strictly as "servants of the people" to a notion that they were in power chiefly to serve themselves, Notions of policy remained remote from debate. Given, then, that politicians were perceived as being rich and seemed to achieve their riches by virtue of being elected, and also that their promises to assist the people rang increasingly hollow or even ceased altogether, the next step for the electors was to ask, "What's in it for us?" This question no longer referred to collective benefits in the style of the politics of the 1960s.

By the 1980s it was understood that politicians are in power to benefit themselves and their factions, and they concentrate on consolidating their existing power bases. As a result of armed conflicts between groups these bases had become more, rather than less, rigidly defined and a process of neotribalization was well under way (see Strathern 1992). This intensified demarcation of political space coupled with the fragmenting of perception within such spaces was accompanied, then, by a sharp commoditization of the voting process that Hageners, at any rate, seemed to equate with their own ethnoperspective on modernization. One long-term friend of mine, who told me that of course now it was absolutely necessary for rival candidates to outbid each other in offers of bribes to every individual elector, added that the people were sure (from what the candidates themselves had said) that this was "the way of the white man" and had just reached Papua New Guinea. When I contested this view, he appeared shocked and begged me not to spread the point around, for fear that I might be physically attacked and silenced by politicians and their followers alike.

This brief sketch indicates, then, a historical movement from the 1960s, when the idea of the politician as a collective advocate of the people vis-à-vis the colonial power was paramount; to the emergence of party politics and assumption of indigenous control of politics around independence; further to the venalities of factions and coalitions among these parties; and finally to the intensified retribalization of electorates and the full commoditization of individual voting anticipated for 1992 (cf., for a comparable history, Standish 1992).

Provincial Politics

The national political situation is complicated by the existence, since 1970, of a separate level of provincial politics, with an elected provincial assembly and a premier who presides over a loose coalition of followers in a way that mirrors the national level. Provincial politicians make alliances with politicians at the national level and may belong to one of the national political parties. Equally, they can be opposed to parliamentarians, since province-level politicians see themselves largely in the mold of those who demand resources for their province from the national government.

Electoral contests may implicate these shifting and ambiguous relations between politicians at the two different levels. At either level the politicians tend to convert their representative role into one of patronage towards their constituents, and the same model of patronage accordingly operates among politicians themselves at succeeding levels, or is felt by the people to do so. Important, therefore, is what the politicians can offer to their people in between elections as well as at them. National parliamentarians up to 1991 both used personal allowances granted to them through the budgetary process to sponsor local schemes for development (and thus to secure support) separately from budget items funded through the public service and funneled further assistance through candidates seeking election at provincial level. The latter process, and its potential for violence, can be illustrated by a case history situated at Kuk, near Mount Hagen.

Case 1

Since elections began in 1964, the Kawelka people at Kuk have never had one of their clan members as a representative at either the national or provincial level. From 1972 to 1987 the MP for their electorate (Dei) came from a tribe allied to their own by a traditional pairing and by

historical ties forged in early colonial times by this man's father, an outstanding big-man. The politician himself was a sister's son of the most numerous Kawelka clan, the Membo, and a dense web of ceremonial exchange partnerships had surrounded this individual tie over time. The Kawelka therefore generally gave their votes to this relative and helped him to retain power in face of the opposing bloc within the electorate.

During the 1980s the strength of the alliance between the two tribes began to falter. A less than completely successful occasion when the politician's clansmen repaid a ceremonial gift of pigs and money (moka) to the Kawelka heralded this decline, which was hastened by a tragic event in 1989. The newly adult son of a Membo leader was killed in a brawl in the capital city of Port Moresby, struck down by a fellow clansman of the politician (the assailant was himself married to a Kawelka woman of another clan). This untoward event split the alliance, and even after a large compensation payment of hundreds of pigs and K12,000 cash had been made, relations were still shaky. There was suspicion that the death was not an accident but might have been planned.

The Kawelka people at home in Mount Hagen had been involved for some years in bitter fighting with long-established enemies within Dei, and there was a feeling that the MP had not given them support but had rather attempted to gain favor with their more numerous enemies as a part of electoral maneuvering. (All this was unsubstantiated rumor, but it affected people's attitudes.) Guns had been introduced in this war and the enemies held the better weapons (Strathern 1992). It happened that the Membo youth killed in Moresby was one of a new generation of fighters with guns and his removal was regarded as giving an advantage to the Kawelka's prime enemies. Previously, in 1987, the politician had lost the parliamentary election to a rival from the opposing bloc within Dei. Relationships that had held since the 1960s were now being shattered in all directions.

In this context the focus of political conflict shifted to the 1990 provincial elections, which were being held between national elections. The sitting provincial-assembly member for the Kawelka was an affine (wife's sister's husband) of the previous MP. The assembly member was now opposed by a Kawelka candidate, and this candidate in turn was sponsored by the new national-level MP who had also managed to secure a ministry for himself in the new government. The Kawelka candidate was popular *qua* Kawelka, and the time seemed ripe for his success. The sitting assembly member, however, was reelected. The Kawelka candidate accused a fellow Kawelka man of defecting to the opposite side and of aiding and abetting many relatives of the previous

MP who had come to live with the Kawelka at Kuk to vote against him. A punitive raid was organized after the election result was announced, in which the supposed traitors lost houses and gardens through arson, women were reportedly raped, and some families were forced to flee.

Relations were only slowly returning to a friendlier footing in 1991. Discussions continued on the cause of the 1989 death in Port Moresby, and attempts were made to interrogate the previous MP on his possible knowledge about the case and his possible role in the provincial elections. The Kawelka candidate subsequently continued to act as a henchman for the new MP, opposed within his own small lineage by a younger man who decided to support for the 1992 national elections the son of the previous MP. Physical fights and brawls following drinking sessions between these two lineage mates now took the place of the wider disputes, but it was expected that conflict would reemerge and escalate during 1992, particularly since the candidates would be divided by party political allegiances and to some extent would have rival party "machines" behind them.¹

What this case illustrates is the potential for conflict to repeat itself in different modes and at different levels of the political system over time, replicating and intensifying causes of dispute between groups. The political arena involved is not one in which we can separate out "traditional" from "introduced" spheres of activity, but rather one in which there is an enchainment of issues that all feed into the political arena, sometimes explosively, and particularly at the times of elections. Obviously, a close connection has grown up between violence and political change, to the extent that a certain level of violence is expected in conjunction with elections (especially after them), whether at the national or provincial level. Such expressions of violence clearly also reveal a disparity between the supposed exercise of state law with its ideal of a peaceful democratic process and the actual views of the local people. In staging attacks of this kind, the local people are not simply protesting against any particular electoral result (although this is what they think they are doing) but are also weakening the peacefulness of the political process itself--an action that has more destructive potential than they perhaps intend. Only the creation of trust between politicians and their electorates as a whole could halt this trend.

"Law and Order": The Impact of "Rascals"

Locally-based processes threatening the effectiveness and image of the state have also to be set into a general context of increasing law and order problems in Papua New Guinea as a whole. These problems stem from many sources, of which I will mention two. The first is the rise of criminal gangs of educated or semieducated younger males, who band together either on a local clan basis or through interethnic alliances, gain access to weapons, and embark on car thefts, highway robbery, house and shop break-ins, murder, and rape. These gangs are found in all urban centers of the country, especially in Port Moresby, Lae, and the Highlands region, and some coastal provinces (Sepik, Oro, Gulf). In places they are involved in the cultivation and sale of marijuana; everywhere they trade in weapons. They stage holdups on major highways that link parts of the Highlands together, but they also assist their fellow tribesmen in intergroup fights and are given refuge in tribal areas when hunted by the police. Such gangs of *raskal* are obviously a perturbing factor in the overall processes of change, and the government is forced to expend scarce resources on strengthening police operations against them.

Early in 1991 a "crime summit" was held in Port Moresby. One outcome was an agreement to declare a state of emergency and deploy army troops, including some Australian army personnel, along with police, to bring raskal gangs more under control. As long as the army remained and used superior telescopes (kampas) and guns to those of the raskal, the latter were quiescent. But people predicted that when the curfews ended and the army went away, the gangs would be back. The existence of these gangs, who self-consciously maintain themselves outside of, and opposed to, the forces of the national state, constitutes another blow to the perceived legitimacy of control vested in the state as a whole. Ordinary people, of course, support the government's campaign at both national and provincial levels, except where a relative of theirs is involved, but raskal assistance in tribal fighting leads to just enough local support to maintain their hideouts. (The emergence of raskal is due to economic changes over time, with loss of revenue from coffee and insufficient job creation in the formal sector of the economy; see Hart Nibbrig 1992.)

In general the response of the national government to the *raskal* problem has been serious but episodic. When urban crime rises, the government declares a curfew or an emergency or does both, moves in extra police, and conducts searches for gang members. But the gangs are mobile and move elsewhere just ahead of the authorities. Rumors that gang members have turned up in remote rural locations frighten the local people (as well as visiting anthropologists) and make them acutely aware of the inadequate protection police can offer. Rehabilitation

schemes for *raskal* such as the Self-Help Task Force in Mount Hagen are severely underfunded, in spite of the fact that they offer one of the few genuine pathways for the reform of criminals by granting them the chance to work instead as local entrepreneurs and earn money legally.

Problems from a second source also threaten the effectiveness and image of the state, in a process that resembles a hugely enlarged version of the early political role of representatives in asking for resources from the government. I am referring here to inflated demands for compensation by local landowners and kinsfolk when their land is used for development purposes (Strathern n.d.).

Case 2

During 1991 such demands increasingly came from groups in the Southern Highlands Province, stemming from the discovery of considerable oil and gas fields in remote parts of the province (Lake Kutubu and Tari). One issue related to the construction of an access road for the Kutubu project through the territory of the Poroma people. Aware of how badly the road was needed by the developers, the local people blocked its construction and demanded huge sums of money. Meanwhile, the Kutubu people were asking for all royalties on the oil finds to be paid to them, without a share for the provincial government. The government was itself split in a struggle over which construction firm should get the contract to make the road. The struggle centered on the premier and his deputy, locked in competition for the premiership. The immediate issues were finally resolved, after which the incumbent premier hinted that there would be more disruption if the national government did not give his province more resources to combat law and order problems. The national prime minister replied that the premier should not engage in even apparently threatening him on this issue.

From an analytical viewpoint what is significant in this case is the preemptive resistance of people at local levels towards nationally planned development activities. Legitimacy is claimed at the bottom and only reluctantly delegated upwards. The national government does not have this legitimacy *ab initio*; it has to create it as best it can.

The implications of this case history were written even larger in two instances at the end of 1991. In the first the Koiari people, who consider themselves to be the original landowners of Port Moresby city, massed together and cut off the city's water supply, which derives from an artificial lake in their territory (Lake Sirinumu) in the hills above Moresby.

The prime minister, while strongly condemning violence, in effect had to appease the Koiari and promise them development funds as well as a new electorate of their own (a major aim of the Koiari leader). In the second instance, landowners in two different parts of the country threw the whole of Papua New Guinea in confusion in December 1991 by vandalizing and destroying telecommunications repeater stations (at Mount Ialibu and Mount Strong) in pursuit of their demand for millions of kina as compensation for the small areas of land on which the stations are housed. In this case the government acted more firmly; dispatching police to guard the stations, but clearly the landowners had no compunction about making their claims in this violent way.

Clans seem to treat the state, national, and provincial authorities as another clan and to direct their demands against all entities in the outside world in the exact way they do against their immediate neighbors. They appear to know that violent actions can be effective in changing governmental attitudes towards them, whereas more peaceful methods tend to prove futile. From their perspective, then, their behavior is highly rational, while at the same time it is deeply damaging to the fabric of state legitimacy.

My conclusion in this section is thus that government attempts to control the "lawless" activities of *raskal* and of disgruntled landowners both signal deep-seated problems for the legitimacy of government itself. Neither landowners nor *raskal* appear to recognize any superordinate right of the state to control their activities and demands, and the more "democratic" the government response to their challenge is, the more they continue to exercise their challenges and escalate their demands.

Local Modifications

The picture I have drawn here depends heavily on processes and events as seen from the Western Highlands Province, although case 2 also dealt with the Southern Highlands. It is important to note that the processes of what may be called "disintegrative integration" described here occur most strongly in areas that are central rather than peripheral to the development that is taking place in Papua New Guinea. Mount Hagen is the boomtown center both for the tea and much of the coffee industry and for the new business offices through which mining operations are administered in the Southern Highlands and Enga provinces.

In sharp contrast is the situation that holds in a peripheral area, Lake Kopiago District, in the far northwestern part of the Southern Highlands. Kopiago government station is small, staffed by one district manager, one council executive officer, and one policeman, or at most, two. These officials serve a population of up to fifteen thousand people scattered over a wide area. The station is served by Mission Aviation Fellowship flights and is tenuously linked by a very rough road to Tari and thence to the provincial capital, Mendi.

It is tempting, though in some ways inaccurate, to see Kopiago as caught in a time warp, reflecting what other parts of the Highlands were like in, say, the late 1960s. The time warp, if it has existed, is on the verge of ending, though, with the advent of more road traffic, taverns for drinking beer, and money from gold mines at Porgera and Mount Kare to the east. But what is striking is the absence of severe, large-scale armed conflicts between clans, such as have been commonplace in Hagen since the early 1970s, and, concomitantly, the lack of any serious challenge to the few representatives of government at the station. It is agreed in government circles that the station is much understaffed and in the event of trouble might simply be overwhelmed. But while there is a fair amount of interpersonal conflict (as revealed in a study of police occurrence books over the last ten years), this has not broadened to include intergroup fighting or the affairs of politicians. Indeed, politicians in Kopiago are looked on as intermediaries with government in the hierarchical way that held previously in Hagen; and they are criticized for their failures in this role, not for any involvement in intrigues beyond it. There is indeed a potential "law and order" problem in Kopiago that centers on the availability of police and firearms, but it does not encompass the politicians as in Hagen.

Reasons for these differences may be hazarded as follows. First, the area is distinctly underdeveloped, and what it needs to begin a course of economic change is government input of the kind given long ago in Hagen. The politicians are accordingly judged in this light and tend to confine their actions to this sphere, as when the sitting national MP gave electoral development funds to help establish a primary school in a neglected part of the district (Hewa, where a language different from the majority language, Duna, is spoken).² Second, the people are at a stage where their practices of compensation for deaths and injuries are still viable enough to cope with the resolution of disputes. Inflation in the size of these compensations, however, and the threats of forceful action that at times accompany demands for them, indicate that this phase may be ending. Third, ritualizations of physical conflict in the form of verbal abuse are highly elaborated by the Duna, and they appear less ready to physically attack others (although such attacks definitely occur) than perhaps the Hagen people are. All injuries are held potentially to result in sickness or death over time and only compensation can heal them (author's field notes, 1991). Injury is thus a very serious matter. In Hagen it is serious, too, because of the threat of physical counteraction; there appears to be a greater readiness in Hagen to inflict blows and to regard such blows as a legitimate counterresponse to annoyance.

For an array of reasons, then, violence is for the time being less a part of social interactions in Kopiago than it is in the more "advanced" parts of the Highlands, and the generalizations that I have made regarding "disintegrative integration" do not yet apply there. Kopiago does, on the other hand, have an incipient *raskal* problem, and holdups of vehicles are common on the highway linking the area to Tari, which has become something of a turbulent frontier town as a result of goldmining at Mount Kare (Ryan 1991).

Conclusion

My overall argument in this article is very simple: that violence is becoming more and more an expected part of political activity, the more complex and sophisticated in other respects the political process becomes. As a corollary I note that the most highly developed areas, such as Mount Hagen, are among those that have the greatest problems of violence. By violence I mean physical attacks on others as opposed to verbal haranguing or rhetorics of persuasion. It is necessary to distinguish between different contexts of violence and their different meanings here: for example, between interclan fighting, gang robbery, and attacks on private and government personnel. Yet, in the perceptions of the people at large, all of these processes and contexts become merged in an overall feeling that the government cannot keep control. One important aspect of this whole matter is the commoditization of politics; the idea, that is, that people's minds cannot be persuaded by talk. Short of physical coercion, they can only be bribed with money. Politicians, therefore, in their search for power, no longer depend on platforms or policies but rather on contexts of violence and cash payments.

Another way of looking at the process, I have suggested, is to see it as a decline in the legitimacy of government itself, a denial of a hierarchy of power in the state. The roots of this decline in the Highlands date to at least the time of independence, when many Highlanders were opposed to the departure of the Australian Administration. The indigenous politicians had therefore a hard job to replace their colonial mentors in the first place. But their attempts to set up patronage networks of

their own, mingled with their almost-inevitable embroilment in intergroup conflicts, have now created a situation in which they on the one hand make laws to control violence and crime and on the other hand are implicated in processes that escalate the overall level of violence in their areas. It is in this context that people at Kuk spoke of the possible "end of elections" and linked this in their minds with charismatic messages of Armageddon or the millennium that Christian fundamentalist preachers assured them would take place sometime in the year A.D. 2000. The loss of legitimacy by the government and the rising tide of violence were seen in this light as somehow fated, a part of a wider historical process about to produce a more catastrophic denouement in the elections of June 1992.³

The external forces behind this history are clear, and the conjuncture between these forces and millenarian images is also clear. One further feature may be pointed to here. At the beginning of the article I remarked on Max Gluckman's work, including his original distinction between rebellion and revolution. Such a distinction depends on a clear differentiation between an incumbent and the office occupied by the incumbent. It is precisely this distinction that is blurred in Papua New Guinea politics and to a lesser extent in the bureaucracy as well. Politicians are admired or accepted by the people as personal leaders in the style of the leaders of small-scale polities in the past. They are not judged in terms of their adherence to laws but purely in terms of what they do for their people, however they manage this. In a sense, their legitimacy in the people's eyes depends solely on this aspect of their role. But actions that are legitimate in this sense may in other ways harm the longer-term stability and legitimacy of the government. A cycle of patronage and the unmasking of patronage (and exploitation) is thus set up that makes the political future uncertain.

Finally, I return to a concept I have mentioned briefly, that of "disintegrative integration." By integration here I refer to the incorporation of local areas into district, provincial, and national political structures and processes. By disintegration I mean that the very processes that link local clans to the state also produce within and between clans a heightened potential for conflict through competition for resources and political offices. If policy is to be devised to modify the dialectics involved in this two-way traffic between the state and local groups, the approach must be to recognize from the beginning that the problems are produced through many interactions of politicians, public servants, and local leaders that have consequences beyond those intended by the individuals concerned. In this regard, reducing the immediate power of

politicians and increasing the power of public servants to direct the processes of development might have a salutary effect.

NOTES

A version of this article was delivered in M. Godelier's seminar at the École des Hautes Études en Sciences Sociales in Paris, May 1992, and I am grateful to Professor Godelier for his invitation, as also to him, Pierre Lemonnier, and others for their comments. Fieldwork in the Western and Southern Highlands provinces of Papua New Guinea in 1991 was conducted with national and provincial permission and financial support from the National Science Foundation (NSF grant no. BNF900600), the Harry Frank Guggenheim Foundation (research assistant Gabriele Stürzenhofecker), and the Wenner-Gren Foundation. I gratefully thank all of these institutions for their generosity. All opinions expressed in this article, however, are my own.

I am also grateful for the extensive comments and queries of the three reviewers of this article, two anonymous and one who named himself, Dr. W. Standish of the Australian National University. To respond to all of their suggestions would have caused me to double the length of the paper, but I have tried to make alterations that pay heed to their various criticisms. I wish to thank Dr. Standish in particular for supplying me with materials by which to update the account.

Regarding the two case studies: Recent experience in the Hagen area has shown me that it is prudent to omit the names of groups and individuals today as a protection both for the individuals and for myself as the anthropological observer.

- 1. In the actual election the sitting MP in the Dei electorate won narrowly against his chief challenger, a favored son of the earlier MP. However, he later faced charges of corruption and was forced to resign and in the by-election his challenger won.
- J. Ketan (n.d.) has reported in some detail on episodes of violence that accompanied polling and postpolling events in the Hagen area generally. Postpolling violence was severe. Ketan reports one serious case, which resulted in "three brutal deaths, several hospitalized with serious injuries and massive destruction of property." A Simbu security worker for a business group based on the Welyi-Kuta tribal alliance was shot dead at the place Yan; some suspected he was murdered by Kentpi tribesmen upset that he and his coethnics at Yan may have voted for the Welyi-Kuta candidate rather than for the candidate from the Kentpi, on whose land the Simbu people were settled. While the army controlled the actual elections successfully, postpolling violence has fed intergroup warfare (see also Dinnen n.d.).
- 2. In the 1992 election this MP lost his seat to a rival from his own ethnic area. The Hewa people are not numerous, and so their votes would be able to swing an election result only if the contest were a close one, which it was not. The nearest rival to the winner was not the sitting MP but a recently graduated lawyer from the Kopiago area, son of a previous president of the local government council. He proceeded to file a lawsuit against the winning candidate.
- 3. In the event, a Mount Hagen politician, Paias Wingti, was elected by the new Parliament as prime minister, with the narrow majority of one vote, cast by the new Speaker of the Parliament--himself elected only by the same margin! The example shows how evenly matched major factions tend to become in a competitive arena where no side holds a

monopoly over resources, whether material or ideological; and also how such an extreme form of democracy may prove very difficult to translate into effective government, thus conducing to further long-term instability. But such predictions cannot be made with any certainty. Economic factors will also have an effect, for example, the viability and revenue from mining projects. Cultural factors also have to be assessed. for example, the influence of the churches in promoting "Christian" patterns of nonviolent behavior or otherwise. Earlier phases of missionization, with the destruction of local practices, have contributed to the overall situation of confusion regarding authority and power today. It is also interesting in this context to note that one of the new prime minister's actions during 1992 has been to suspend the Southern Highlands provincial government and also to propose the abolition of the provincial government structure altogether. This plan can be seen both as a cost-saving exercise and as an attempt to refocus legitimacy within the state at the national-government level by dissociating himself from corruption and inefficiency, at provincial levels. For overviews of the aftermath of the election results, see Ketan n.d. and Standish 1993. Standish (pers. corn., 1992) points out to me that in some provinces the provincial governments see themselves as stronger than the national government and are prepared to demand secession rather than submit to being abolished.

REFERENCES

Dinnen, S.

n.d. "Fighting and Votes: Violence, Security, and the 1992 Papua New Guinea National Elections." MS, National Research Institute, Port Moresby.

Gluckman, M.

1963 Order and Rebellion in Tribal Africa. London: Cohen and West.

Gordon, R., and M. Meggitt

1985 Law and Order in the New Guinea Highlands. Hanover: University Press of New England.

Hart Nibbrig, N. E.

1992 "Rascals in Paradise: Urban Gangs in Papua New Guinea." *Pacific Studies* 15 (3): 115-134.

Iamo, W., and J. Ketan

1992 How Far Under the Influence? Alcohol-related Law and Order Problems in the Highlands of Papua New Guinea. Port Moresby: National Research Institute.

Keesing, R.

1992 Custom and Confrontation: The Kwaio Struggle for Cultural Autonomy. Chicago: University of Chicago Press.

Ketan, J.

n.d. "Electoral Politics in Mount Hagen." MS, National Research Institute, Port Moresby.

Riches, D., ed.

1986 The Anthropology of Violence. Oxford: Basil Blackwell.

Ryan, P

1991 Black Bonanza: A Landslide of Gold. Vic., Austral.: Hyland House Publishing.

Standish. W. A.

- 1992 "Simbu Paths to Power: Political Change and Cultural Continuity in the Papua New Guinea Highlands." Ph.D. thesis. Australian National University.
- 1993 "Papua New Guinea in 1992: Challenges for the State." *Asian Survey,* Feb.: 211-217.

Strathern. A. J.

- 1972 "The Supreme Court: A Question of Prestige and Power." *Melanesian Law Journal* 2:23-28.
- 1974 "When Dispute Procedures Fail." In *Contention and Dispute.* ed. A. L. Epstein 240-270. Canberra: Australian National University Press.
- 1979 Ongka: A Self-Account by a New Guinea Big-man. London: Duckworth.
- 1992 "Let The Bow Go Down." In *War in the Tribal Zone: Expanding States and Indigenous Warfare.* ed. R. B. Ferguson and N. L. Whitehead. 229-250. Santa Fe: School of American Research.
- n.d. "Compensation: What Does It Mean?" *Taim Lain* (Port Moresby: National Research Institute), forthcoming in issue devoted to law and order problems, ed. Wari Iamo.

NATIONALISM AND SEXUALITY IN PAPUA NEW GUINEA

Laura Zimmer-Tamakoshi Northeast Missouri State University

This article attempts to answer the question of why confining women's sexuality within the imagined nation-community of a "thousand villages" is a feature of nationalist rhetoric in Papua New Guinea. I begin with a brief history of women and nationalism in Papua New Guinea, showing that postcolonial elites have, as elsewhere in the Third World, failed to deliver on their promises to women. One such promise was to improve the lives of rural women. Another was to emancipate women by promoting their equal participation in the development of Papua New Guinea society. I then narrow my focus to look at three aspects of women's involvement in Papua New Guinea nationalism. The first is how the country's nationalist male elite condemn women for striking out in the modern directions (sexual choice, fashion, lifestyle) that many have permitted themselves. The second and third are sharp divisions in the experiences and aspirations of both educated women and men and of rural women and urban elite women.

A premise of this article is that today's conservative sexual politics reflect a desire of nationalist leaders to connect with a "grass-roots majority" and a "respected past" in which, supposedly, men were superior to women and women's primary role was to support male interests. Ironically, it is the elite who have created the idea of a unitary grass roots as Papua New Guinea continues to be characterized by extreme cultural diversity, a diversity compounded by the effects of history and uneven development. Nevertheless, this diversity assumes a gendered political importance in the composition of the elite class, for most educated women are from matrilineal societies on the coast and islands

Pacific Studies. Vol. 16, No. 4--December 1993

and from families with long involvement in Western education and urban employment. The opposite is true of many educated men, who come from the less developed and more recently contacted patrilineal societies in the interior highlands. By publicly supporting a myth of chaste and selfless village women contrasting with sexually promiscuous Westernized women living in selfish abundance in town, Papua New Guinea's male leadership has contributed to the marginalization of the national women's movement. Playing on the gulf between rural women and urban elite women and appealing to the larger proportion of Papua New Guinea's populace, male leaders have contained the aspirations of women in their own class while at the same time diverting attention away from the needs and interests of all women.

Women and Nationalism

In much of the Third World, the struggle for women's emancipation began as women fought alongside men for decolonization (see Jayawardena 1986; Parker et al. 1992). In India, women hoped for equality in return for their help in bringing down the colonial government (Katrak 1992). In 1980, the year Vanuatu achieved independence, female leader Grace Mera Molisa argued that independence would be only a half-victory if Vanuatu's women did not achieve political equality with their men (Jolly n.d.:11). And in New Zealand, Maori women's long involvement in the struggle against white domination has from the beginning included a quest for equality in the face of traditional male dominance (Dominy 1990:248).

In the postcolonial era, women are disappointed with the pace of change and setbacks in their economic and political situations. The process of women's economic marginalization, begun during colonialism (see Boserup 1970; Etienne and Leacock 1980), has intensified as men fill vacancies left by departing expatriates and monopolize new technologies and economic opportunities (Leacock and Safa 1986). Deprived of former productive functions or forced to accept low wages for their labor, women lose status as well as subsidize development for others' benefit (Eviota 1986; Hammam 1986). Cases of women's marginalization abound in the South Pacific, where women make indispensable contributions to subsistence and yet are excluded from direct participation in the development of commercial farming and fishing because of official perceptions—held by Westerners and Pacific Islanders alike—that women's work is not "real farming" or "real fishing" (Hughes 1985; Schoeffel 1985:163).

In the political arena, Third World women suffer a less-than-hopedfor participation. This is especially apparent in African societies where traditionally there were male and female leaders and each sex managed its own affairs (Hafkin and Bay 1976; Potash 1989) but where colonial sex biases marked the end of such equality. Among the Igbo, for example, the British filled colonial government posts with men, gave only the male monarch a monthly stipend, replaced women's religious functions with Christianity, and destroyed the market-women's system of pricefixing by introducing imported goods into the market. In a paper on the 1929 Igbo "women's war," Van Allen describes how the colonials' shock over the extent of the resistance led to reforms, but not for women (1976:71-75). More native courts were introduced, but only Igbo men were in charge of them. Throughout the "war," Igbo men expressed little concern with what was to them "a women's affair." Afterwards, they accepted women's dependency as befitting a Victorian view of women that Igbo men--but not many women--eventually adopted. Since Nigerian independence and a resurgence of interest in traditional values, Igbo women have tried to recapture their lost power, but at the national level single-sex rule continues (Okonjo 1976:57-58).

In many countries, the disappointment women feel over their lack of progress is sharpened by the fact that during the fight for independence men encouraged women to return to their traditional roles (real or imagined) in order to advance the cause, promised them equality, and then reneged on their promises. In India, Gandhi's nationalist movement conformed to this "familiar pattern of mobilizing and then subordinating women" (Katrak 1992:395). Espousing a nonviolent philosophy, Gandhi called for men and women to engage in acts of passive resistance as a means of bringing down the colonial government. Essentializing Indian women's sexuality, Gandhi appealed to men and women to assume the "female" virtues of chastity, purity, self-sacrifice, and suffering (Katrak 1992:398). The legacy of Gandhi's representations of female sexuality for the Indian women's movement is complex. The more negative aspects, however, include that a view of women as passive does not challenge Indian society's patriarchal order and that it places educated women in the bind of appearing to be aggressive harlots when they attempt to enter the public world of work and politics. Gandhi's advice for the educated woman (but not the educated man) was "to remain unmarried, and to abnegate her sexuality so that she could dedicate herself 'to work with her rural sisters' " (Katrak 1992:399).

Where women's roles are more restricted, reformers striving to modernize their societies or enlist women's aid in nationalist movements may promote ideas of "new women" or idealize past civilizations in which women held high positions and enjoyed untold freedoms (Hale 1989; Jayawardena 1986). Thus, Iranian reformers seeking to promote capitalist development and a bourgeois society of "monogamous nuclear families with educated and employable women" recalled early Zoroastrian traditions that accorded women a high status and many of the same freedoms as men (Jayawardena 1986:15). Such allusions, however, do not guarantee women's emancipation. In 1979, in spite of women's active participation in the Islamic populist movement and the Left's promise of continued equality and support, Iranian women were rendered dependent minors by legislation enacted to make gender relations as "different as possible from gender norms in the West" (Moghadam 1992:427-430). With the formation of the revolutionary government, men physically attacked women seen in public without the veil, calling them "whores, bourgeois degenerates, un-Islamic, and deculturated." These women, seen as having "lost their modesty" and become intoxicated with the West, were considered a threat to men's honor that must be obliterated along with Western capitalism.

Slandering elite women's sexuality and using them as scapegoats for religious, class, or racial tensions have also been common practice in many African nations. Ghanian women traders are "regularly accused by government officials and in the press of hoarding and profiteering. Nigerians call successful women 'cash madams'. Nigerian business-women who do not come from prominent families with influential connections are widely thought to use 'bottom power' to obtain lucrative contracts" and in Kenya, in addition to "sugar daddies" there are thought to be "sugar mommies" who use their wealth to attract young lovers (Potash 1989: 199).

As the above examples suggest, women are rarely a single mass; and in contexts of unequal opportunities for women, playing up and contrasting women's sexuality in appeals to rural women or women in the underclasses is often politically expedient, however destructive it may be to certain or even all women. The same is true in Papua New Guinea but this theme will be developed later, after first reviewing some of the history of women's political involvement and situation there. In the years leading up to independence in 1975, women--particularly women in the urban elite--believed that they would share in the benefits of national liberation and development, that past inequities (colonial or traditional) would be done away with, and that they would help form and lead the nation. Women's suffrage was a part of Papua New Guinea's Constitution. The cabinet included the intention to promote wom-

en's equal participation in all forms of political, economic, social, and religious activities in the Eight Point Improvement Plan (1972) and National Goals and Directive Principles (1975). In 1974, the first prime minister, Michael Somare, appointed an advisor on women's affairs. At a meeting of the Port Moresby YWCA, Papua New Guinea women leaders called for and helped organize the first Pacific Women's Conference, timed to coincide with International Women's Year (1975) and Papua New Guinea's independence. And in 1975, a national group of women established the National Council of Women and convened the country's first National Convention for Women.

From the mid-1960s on, education programs and women's clubs for rural women were encouraged by church and colonial government officials. Thousands of women participated, learning better hygiene, nutrition, and child care or training for leadership positions in local church organizations or business cooperatives (Baker 1975; Temu 1975). Small but increasing numbers of women were prepared for the public service and other professions by being given a Western education. By 1970, 12 percent of the University of Papua New Guinea's first graduating class were women, rising to 17 percent in 1978 (Murphy 1985: 147).

The first woman to be elected to national office was Papuan separatist leader Josephine Abaijah. Elected to the Third House of Assembly in 1972, Abaijah represented the Central District of the Australian Territory of Papua. Unofficially, she represented Papua Besena, an anticolonial movement she helped form in 1973 (Abaijah 1991:284-304). A primary objective of Papua Besena was to fight the forced political union of Papua with New Guinea, but both Papuan women and women from the United Nations Trust Territory of New Guinea saw her as a political role model (Daro 1975a:12; Loko 1974:7; Rooney 1985:40; Taylor 1970).

Women's high expectations were captured in a special issue of *Point* in 1975. In the words of Lady Kiki, women's activist and the wife of a famous politician, "I have no doubt that women will dominate men in politics in the villages . . . [and] that I as a politician's wife have an important role to play in my husband's career" (1975:66-67). Or as Bess Daro, then a research assistant with the New Guinea Research Unit, put it, "there has been a great acceptance in this country of many NON-Papua New Guinea values . . . [including] an international awareness of women as liberated and liberating agents" (1975b:41). Rose Kekedo, then principal of Port Moresby Teacher's College, spoke plainly: "The ambitious woman is looking forward to the day when she can be given the opportunities her male counterparts take for granted. She would

like these opportunities because she has proved herself qualified and capable; because she is NOT JUST WINDOW DRESSING (1975:21).

Women were soon aware, however, that change would not come easily given the overwhelming dominance of men in the government and in their own societies. In 1974, Margarete Loko pointed out that there was no mention Of women's political activity in Point Seven of the Eight Point Improvement Plan and that without women's involvement in politics they would not be positively integrated into the development process (1974:4). This point was later included in the National Goals and Directive Principles (1975)--the preamble to the Constitution--but seems to have made little difference. At the most only three women have served in the national Parliament at the same time (from 1977 to 1982) and since 1987 there have been none. Few hold senior positions in the public service, private enterprise, or church organizations (Crossley 1988:2). And at the level of government and public service closest to village life, only 2 percent of agricultural extension workers are female (Crossley 1988:6), and in 1978 only seven local government councillors of 4,313 were female (Nakikus 1985b:41).

Educational gains have been significant at lower levels. But by the time girls are of an age to enter high school and college, the numbers of females enrolled drops sharply. Fifty percent of Papua New Guinea's young female population were enrolled in Grade 1 in 1971-1972 (compared to 77 percent of the same-age male population). By the mideighties the same figures were 75 percent for girls and 90 percent for boys (Weeks 1985a:95). At the tertiary level, however, female enrollment has remained below 15 percent at the University of Papua New Guinea and the University of Technology since shortly after independence (Crossley 1988:9).

Even more than might be expected from women's lesser participation in education is women's low participation in the work force. By 1981, Papua New Guinea's tertiary institutions had produced only nine female lawyers and ten female doctors (Crossley 1988:9). By the late 1980s only a little over 10 percent of women living in town were wage earners, with most female workers concentrated in clerical and lower-level public service jobs (Crossley 1988:4-5). Urban women's unemployment is troublesome in Papua New Guinea, where traditionally women are expected to contribute to household subsistence and ceremonial exchange (Chowning 1985; Strathern 197213). Urban husbands are often resentful when their wives do not help them financially, a resentment fueled by endless pressures on urban couples to give generously to rural or unemployed kin and to repay expensive bride-prices (Filer

1985; Rosi and Zimmer-Tamakoshi 1993; Toft 1985, 1986; Zimmer-Tamakoshi 1993, n.d.a).

In the villages, where 85 percent of Papua New Guinea's population lives, women struggle to support their families with older forms of food production and help their husbands with introduced cash crops such as coffee, cocoa, and cardamom. In a study in East New Britain, Epstein found that Tolai women were spending more time tending their husbands' cash crops than the men were (1968: 100). While men's work has been lightened by the use of steel axes (Salisbury 1962), women have received little practical training or improved technology (Cox 1987; Nakikus 1985a). Women's heavier work load is often exacerbated by male labor migration, more frequent childbearing as old sexual mores break down, and demands for greater production of ceremonial wealth such as pigs, leaving women less time to participate in politics or women's clubs (Meleisea 1983). Overwork and more frequent pregnancies also contribute to women's (and children's) ill-health and malnutrition (Jenkins n.d.; Papua New Guinea Post-Courier 1992a:29; Townsend 1985).

Other areas of concern to both rural and urban women are men's drinking and high levels of domestic violence and rape (Kivung, Doiwa, and Cox 1985). Studies by the Papua New Guinea Law Commission have revealed the extent and causes of violence against women (Toft 1985, 1986; Toft and Bonnell 1985). A campaign is currently under way to make the findings more general (Waram 1992a). Women leaders in Port Moresby chose the theme "Violence Against Women" for their May 1993 International Women's Day Celebration (The Times of Papua New Guinea 1993b). And in East New Britain, provincial women's leaders have embarked on a campaign against violence, hoping to open a women's crisis center by 1994 (The Times of Papua New Guinea 1993a). Nonetheless, the sex bias in Papua New Guinea society makes it difficult for women to combat the problem. Having less access to cash than men do, women have less access to lawyers who will press for women's right to live in safety from physical assault (Slarke 1992). With few women to represent them in the political arena, women suffer men's disregard, as happened when the Law Reform Commission presented its interim report on domestic violence to an all-male Parliament in 1987 and was booed from the floor (The Times of Papua New Guinea 1992).

As women have articulated their separate concerns from men (see King, Lee, and Warakai 1985; Stratigos and Hughes 1987), there has not been a corresponding drawing together to form an effective na-

tional women's movement. Rather, cleavages exist everywhere, between village women and urban elite women, between women in different regions of the country, and among village women as they align themselves in competing church and local women's groups. Although well-meaning members of the bureaucratic elite and such prestigious groups as the Port Moresby-based Women in Politics see their role as providing communication links among women and educating village women to use the various women's councils to further their special interests (Kekedo 1985; Mandie 1985:53), such suggestions are rejected by women who feel that urban elite women are too far removed from village women's concerns to be of much help. As one rural women's leader put it, "Village women await the help of trained sisters with open arms but they are very wary of young sophisticates who do not wish to get their hands dirty" (Ogi 1985: 150).

The disunity among Papua New Guinea's female national leadership has been apparent for years (see Johnson 1984; Macintyre n.d.; Wormald 1992), but never more so than in 1992. In March 1992, efforts to coordinate celebrations on International Women's Day failed, with provincial and local women's groups organizing their own celebrations without the promised help of the National Women's Council (Bunpalau 1992; *Papua New Guinea Post-Courier* 1992b). In Port Moresby the president of the National Council of Women, Maria Kopkop, and the invited guest speaker (a male) were not on hand on the big day (Waram 1992b). And in East New Britain, neither provincial leaders nor other invited guests showed up to head the festivities (*Papua New Guinea Post-Courier* 1992b).

The strongest indications of a lack of unity, however, are statistics showing that few women stand for election or vote for other women. Only 41 women have ever run in national elections. In the 1987 elections, a year in which no women were elected or reelected, there were 18 women out of a total of 1,464 candidates. In 1992, another year of defeat for women, there were only 12 women among 1,653 candidates. In the 1987 elections, women made up 1.2 percent of the field of candidates and received only 1.4 percent of the vote, demonstrating that women-- with half the vote--do not have a bias for female candidates or women's issues (Wormald 1992:23-24). Fragmentation at the national level has accelerated following female candidates' defeat, as there is a florescence of new women's groups and nationally known women realign themselves with the newly organized regional councils (Bengi 1992; Waram 1992c, 1992d, 1992e).

The failure of women to fight for and to achieve significant numbers

of leadership positions in Papua New Guinea can be attributed to sexism and unequal opportunities (in education, the workplace, and the home), to regionalism, to the double workday many women contend with, and to women's fear of rape or being beaten by their husbands should they venture too far out into the public domain and bend local conceptions of appropriate women's behavior. The disabling lack of unity among women's groups, however, demands additional explanations since men too are divided along economic and regional lines and yet elite males continue to be elected in larger numbers and to go beyond their home regions for support.

In the remainder of this article, I will look at several other reasons why I believe women are unable to put together a strong women's movement in Papua New Guinea. The first is that Papua New Guinea's male leaders have consistently slandered the sexuality of women in their own class, thereby stigmatizing them and hurting women candidates' chances in rural electorates. The second is the alienating distance between most elite men's and elite women's goals and experiences. And the third is the politics of difference among Papua New Guinea women that makes it easy for leaders to scapegoat elite women.

The Brotherhood of PNG Nationalism

On the eve of independence and on appropriate (but rare) occasions since, male nationalist leaders have called for women's "full" involvement in the development of Papua New Guinea society. Quoting from the Eight Point Improvement Plan of 1972, former Prime Minister Michael Somare called for a "rapid increase in the equal and active participation of women in all forms of economic and social activity." In his newspaper series, "The Melanesian Voice," lawyer and Supreme Court Judge Bernard Narokobi declared that both men and women "are needed to meet the changing needs [of Papua New Guinea], and both must be paid according to their merits" (1983:38). In 1982, at a seminar on the successes and failures of the Eight Point Plan and National Goals after a decade of performance, the then (and now) prime minister, Paias Wingti, opined that the government "is not happy with the fact that this total [of girls in grades 7 to 10] is only 33 per cent now when it was 31.8 percent at the time of independence. In universities, only 15 per cent of enrolments are women, the same as in 1975" (1985: 17). And in 1992, a year in which few politicians felt compelled to comment on women's issues, former Morobe premier and now member of national Parliament Jerry Nalau publicly invited a Morobe women's group to work for the development of Morobe Province and the nation (Bunpalau 1992).

Male leaders have also said and done things, however, that demonstrate their insincerity or opposition to women's "full" involvement in the development of Papua New Guinea society. In his 1975 autobiography, Michael Somare said little about women other than to express irritation with politician Josephine Abaijah for supporting a demonstration of church women seeking higher pay (from his administration) for their husbands and the end of inflation (1975: 132). And in spite of his avowed commitment to women's equality, there was no section on women in the 1976 National Development Strategy (Turner 1990:87). It is worth remembering, of course, that both the Eight Point Plan and the Constitution were drafted by committees that included non-Papua New Guinea members and derived many of their liberal democratic ideas from non-Papua New Guinea sources. Thus, it was inevitable in the years subsequent to independence, as Papua New Guineans came to dominate their own country, that their own ideas about women's appropriate roles would come to the fore.

These more traditional ideas are reflected in Narokobi's struggle with the idea of giving women too much latitude for fear that like "Westernized woman" they will reject traditional values of family and marriage (1983:34-38, 51-57, 74-78). In a pre-independence statement, Kaibelt Diria, then minister for posts and telegraphs, put it more forcefully: "Women should never be allowed to become equal because it would be against the social culture and tradition of the people" (quoted in Turner 1990:87). A similar sentiment is apparent in the words of Paul Langro. a former member for West Sepik: "As far as Papua New Guinea is concerned, women are always regarded as the lowest in the family. I do not want the concept of Western civilisation to give equal rights to women as are given to men. Men must get first priority in the society and not women" (quoted in Turner 1990:87). In 1992, women were still far from being given first priority as severe cuts in government funding to women's activities (Miria 1992) made it difficult for women groups to carry out their operations, much less "work for the development of the nation" as Jerry Nalau and others thought they should.

A rich source of elite males' ideas on modernity and women's emancipation can be found in their literary creations. In the poems and stories of male students at the University of Papua New Guinea and the National Arts School, valued roles for women are wife and mother, upholding tradition and carrying out their duties to husbands and children in the village or urban household. Mathew Sil, in the poem "The

Village That My Grandmother Knew" (1986), mourns a way of life that is "fading under a modern sun" as men are determined to have "lots of paper money," "hard shiny cars," and roads "right through the centre" of villages that were once places of calm and pride, "jealousy guarded" and "loved" by women who never knew the modern-day horrors of "wife-beatings" and children afraid of their fathers "like dogs in a stranger's way." Francis Nii's poem "Peaceful Village" paints a more idyllic picture of a world both he and Sil have left behind (1985): "Birds sing unchanged jungle melodies, while country kids dance free for joy. . . . Kids hide and seek, and mum and dad have endless honeymoon."

The idealization of village life and village women is further elaborated in Benjamin Umba's novel *The Fires of Dawn* (1976), in which he portrays village women as uncomplaining and always looking after the needs of their husbands and sons. In Vincent Eri's *The Crocodile* (1970) and Ignatius Kilage's *My Mother Calls Me Yaltep* (1980), village women are portrayed variously as hard-working, sympathetic mothers or young, submissive sex partners. In Russell Soaba's *Maiba* (1979), the female lead is wise enough to hold her village together in the face of the conflicting forces of tradition and modernization.

By comparison, images of urban women are often negative, especially men's depictions of women students. In numerous poems in *The PNG Writer*, the male authors accuse female university students of participating in wanton drinking parties with wealthy politicians (Dondoli 1985b), engaging in promiscuous sex (Kilburn 1985; Yatu 1985:72), and being the dupes of untrustworthy, white boyfriends (Yatu 1986:48). When such behavior results in pregnancy, the blame is placed on the woman, as in Dondoli's unsympathetic "Blame Yourself"--quoted here in full--and in other poems (Kilburn 1985; Yatu 1986:48):

Blame Yourself

Out of the Darkness, Unwanted,
An insect attracted by bright lights,
You enjoyed what came your way.
Distrustful of tribal values,
You sucked the sugar-cane.
Now with swollen belly,
And a fatherless piglet,
You twist the truth,
But cannot blame the Stone Age.
Sophisticated, overeducated, westernized

You scream, shout, yell: Women's Lib, Women's Council, Women's Rights. Granma is entertained by your comedy. You've got your rights. You've got your piglet.

B. M. Dondoli (1985a)

More generally, women and girls from all segments of urban society are stigmatized as promiscuous carriers of venereal disease, prostitutes, or potential rape victims, as in the poems "Hohola in the Night" (Kerpi 1987) and "Yupela Meri i Senis Hariap Pinis" (Umetrifo 1987).

From their writings, young men are clearly ambivalent about modernization. Less obvious is their hypocrisy in depicting village women as morally superior to educated women, while often they themselves desire the pleasures of urban life and the freedom to experiment in love and sex with more "liberated women" (see Houbein 1982; Sharrad 1984:2). In Kama Kerpi's "Kulpu's Daughter" (1974), however, two young men consider the pros and cons of educated girlfriends, with such girls being associated with sex appeal and free sex while village girls are credited with affirming a man's manhood and giving him more mental security:

Well, there is more to say than merely having secret lovers. I have taken advantage of several educated girls and discovered that they all put up an act in bed. They make believe they are innocent . . . that they knew no other men before. . . . It becomes rather an act of retaining their boyfriend's love. A village girl is fair to you and to herself. (Quoted in Houbein 1982:16)

Setting aside, for the moment, the question of whether or not the hostilities and ambivalence of the educated male writers are justified, their sense that women are less likely than men to prosper in modern circumstances is grounded in reality. I have already mentioned sexism in education and economic opportunities, and the dangers women contend with in Papua New Guinea's towns. A part of women's failure to prosper, however, is attributable to the same men who have publicized their anxieties or contempt for women of their own class. From the start, Papua New Guinea's leaders and their expatriate mentors and teachers have done little to include women in such important nation-building

institutions as the Administrative College in Port Moresby and an early political training ground and association called the Bully Beef Club.

In her dissertation on Papua New Guinea's government women, Dianne Johnson describes how women's early education was designed to make them better housewives and models of Christian womanhood (1984: chap. 4). Even after education became a priority in the 1960s, the stress was less on sexual equality than hurriedly building a local elite to lead the country through independence. According to Johnson:

Given the roles of women in both traditional Papua New Guinean societies and in the country of colonial power, Australia, and the totally male-dominated colonial administration . . . the obvious but unstated intention and the directions taken for leadership training were in order to create a *male* leadership. It is not surprising then that western colonial education at all levels, despite the massive expansion, was much more accessible to males. (Johnson 1984: 124)

The mission of the Administrative College, opened in 1963, was to train an indigenous administrative leadership. Female students have been few. This male bias in formal leadership training was matched informally in the organization of the Bully Beef Club, a forerunner to the political party that became known as Pangu Pati and about which Michael Somare writes extensively in his autobiography. Formed in 1964 at the Administrative College, the club began with a membership of seven men and one woman. The woman was subjected to teasing and sexual harassment (Johnson 1984: 124); by the time Michael Somare joined in 1965 and began his maturation as a politician, she was gone.

The political motivations for prejudice against women politicians are easy to discern. The issue of women's liberation is an inflammatory one in Papua New Guinea, where most men and women associate it with white society and resent women who compete with men for political and economic power. In the 1970s, as some urban elite women sought to create new images for themselves and to exercise freedom of choice over family planning, work, and involvement in public life, elite males were seeking to rid the country of the vestiges of colonialism (or at least those elements that conflicted with their own interests) and to assert a Melanesian cultural identity consisting mostly of recreated myths of what life had been like before colonization (Hogan 1985:54). As Papua New Guinea neared independence, women who wore makeup and

miniskirts were subjected to public harassment, denounced by church leaders, and even fined. In the minds of many, miniskirts were associated with white women and white women's alleged (and sometimes real) promiscuity. From 1971 to 1981, the issue was fought in the letters to the editor column in the *Post-Courier*.

Analyzed by Evelyn Hogan, this debate is revealing of the polities of men's almost complete unity against women's right to determine their own lives. A few selections from Hogan's article capture the emotions the debate aroused:

In February 1973 a circular . . . signed by Tolai politicians, community and church leaders, was distributed throughout East New Britain [Province]. It suggested a campaign in school against immodest dress. The rapid rise in gonorrhoea, syphilis and other diseases . . . was attributed to immodest dress . . . men claimed that women who dressed immodestly were looking for carnal pleasures (*Post-Courier* 27 February 1973). (Quoted in Hogan 1985:55)

In response to the circular condemning the wearing of miniskirts there were three letters from women (*Post-Courier* 7 March 1973, 28 May 1973, 13 June 1973). One signed "Four Tolai Girls" (13 June 1973) had no doubts that the banning of mini-skirts would have wider implications. For its writers, wearing mini-skirts signified that they wanted greater control over their lives. They accused the initiators of the circular of having political motivations—of using the issue of public morality for their own political purposes . . . and [of knowing] that with education women would be able to judge the decisions of men. (Quoted in Hogan 1985:56-57)

Three male Tolai students from the University of Papua New Guinea added their opinions to the debate by arguing that the "women were not freely determining their own lives, but were blindly following the dictates of Western culture: 'They want to keep on "pleasing" and "praising" the colonial administration without stopping and asking themselves a single question' (*Post-Courier* 28 June 1973)" (quoted in Hogan 1985:57).

Similar debates have set young and especially educated women apart as a separate category from the majority of women in Papua New Guinea.

Attending to the sensitivities of the rural majority is a feature of not only men's political campaigns, however. At one time or another, the few women who have attained national political positions have publicly disavowed feminist leanings and extolled the virtues of women playing supportive versus independent roles in the development of Papua New Guinea society. Describing her first major political campaign in a semifictional account, the nation's first female member of Parliament--Josephine Abaijah--repeatedly portrayed herself in public and in the book as "a modest Papuan girl supporting traditional Papuan values in the new era" (1991: 178). Asked by a reporter if she supported women's liberation, Abaijah replied, "I don't really know what women's liberation means. . . . Personally, I am as liberated as I want to be. It might be unhealthy to be any more liberated than I am now. I don't want to be a man. I don't think women's liberation means anything to Papuans. It is not relevant . . . to us" (1991: 216-217).

More recently, however, after Abaijah's defeat and the defeat of all other women candidates in the 1992 national elections, she has become more feminist, arguing publicly that "women are half the population in PNG. . . . However, the women population is saddened and highly demoralized by the lack of government's insight into the women's plight as the women continue to be victims of rape, abuse, molestation and break-enter and stealing activities in our communities" (*Papua New Guinea Post-Courier* 1992c).

New Men for New Women

Elite women's views on "ancestral ways," the future of Papua New Guinea, and their role in that future differ in telling ways from men's views of the same things. Writing on "The Changing Role of Women in Society," women's advocate Margarete Loko early on contested the view that traditionally women did not play politically important roles within the family, clan, and tribe: "Women, throughout the years, have been the backbone to development and expansion in the above three groups" (1974:6). In contrast to the sexist content of PNG schoolbooks (Gough 1984:97) and their male schoolmates' idealizations of village women, educated women's claims for greater autonomy in the new order are based on a more earthy and less submissive view of women. Contrast, for example, Loujaya Kouza's energetic and daring poem "Teenage World" with men's condemning tone in the above-mentioned miniskirt debate.

Teenage World

The pulsating beat at a discotheque, sweaty palms and smelly feet, fried chicken, fish n' chips, tight fitting sneakers and a swinging hip.
Comic books, the latest gag, choosing cheap junk and the best looking rag.
Loujaya Kouza (1987)

Or the realism in Joyce Kumbeli's and May Paipaira's poetry (Kumbeli 1985a, 1985b; Paipaira 1986a, 1986b, 1986c, 1986d, 1986e) contrasted with the dreamlike quality of such male authors as Francis Nii and Benjamin Umba (see above):

Mother Stands

From dawn to dusk, mother stands Amid clattering dishes and undug gardens. Sweat is her shower; the sun her energy.

By the evening table she stands: Has everyone eaten? Her duty comes first. Tiredness is her satisfaction. Last to bed. First up to prepare breakfast.

How have I rewarded her life-time's work? An illegitimate child; another burden. When all she wanted was my love.

May Paipara (1986e)

On the subjects of development and nation building, women like poet May Paipara (1986d) and filmmaker Maggie Wilson decry men's drinking and violence and challenge them to share both authority and responsibility for family matters and the work of nation building with women. In Wilson's words, village women are the "backbone of Papua New Guinea society" while educated women are in "business and politics and many other well-paid and important positions where they . . . give much to society" (1987: 174). In the first stanza of her poem "Beer

and Shotguns--Is This Development?" Wilson turns the table on poet Justin Yatu, who has accused female university students of being the dupes of white lovers (Yatu 1986:48) and falling prey to the seductions of Western civilization (Yatu 1985:72), by accusing the male elite of chasing after the chimera of Western civilization:

This is the 20th century
The age of high technology.
They lead us into television.
Have we enough money for a TV studio?
It's only 50 million.
The boys are into communication,
Too busy communicating.
The problems at home don't matter,
Even if people are murdered in cold blood.
Eager to copy the so-called civilised countries,
Where are the boys leading us?
Where are the women in this?
Beer and shotguns-- IS THIS DEVELOPMENT?
Maggie Wilson (1987: 175-176)

In numerous other matters, elite women are identifying themselves as being more concerned than elite men with the well-being and health of individuals, the family, and the larger society. In the pages of the *Papua New Guinea Post-Courier's* new series "Women Today," articles focus on topics ranging from health and law-and-order problems (1992a, 1992c; Waram 1992a) to the benefits of exercise and the right way to dress (1992d; also S.M.R. 1992).

Although there are many other differences in elite men's and women's self-definitions and representations of the opposite sex, objective differences also divide them. These differences go far in explaining the alienation elite men have from women of their class. They also go far in explaining why it is women more often than men in Papua New Guinea who call for new kinds of relationships--an ethnographic twist contradicting the usual pattern in which it is men who call for "new women" to fit the new or desired social order (see Jayawardena 1986; Little 1973).

An important set of differences in the lives and experiences of many of Papua New Guinea's male and female elite are differences in their educational, social, economic, and regional backgrounds. In Papua New Guinea, early missionaries promoted the education of women by refusing to teach boys unless girls were also sent to school (Smith 1987). In part this was related to a widespread belief among missionaries that educated Christian men (and the children of these men) needed educated Christian wives and mothers if they were to remain true to the new faith. In part it was related to the fact that at the turn of the century, at least in Papua, one-third of the missionary force was female and most of these women were committed to raising local women's status and quality of life (Langmore 1989: chap. 7).

In spite of this potentially equalizing force, fewer women than men have received a high school or college education in Papua New Guinea. And those women who have are distinctive in that a majority come from the coastal and island areas, where mission education has been in place the longest and where matrilineality and its greater stress on women's active involvement in society are common. In studies of PNG university students, researchers have also discovered that female students are much more likely than male students to have educated and employed fathers (Weeks 1985b), fathers who by virtue of their own education are aware of the benefits of education for women and thus more likely to be supportive of their daughters' aspirations (see Wormald and Crossley 1988).

Dianne Johnson found similar factors in the backgrounds of the government women she studied. The effects of individual missionary zeal and feminism were most apparent in the students and intellectual and biological descendants of students taught at the Kwato school in Milne Bay by Charles Abel and his wife, Beatrice (Johnson 1984:111). At Kwato, established by the Abels in the 1890s, girls were accorded high status, considered as capable of leadership as boys, and taught nursing and teaching skills as well as homecraft skills and Western etiquette (Johnson 1984:112). According to Papua New Guinean historian Anne Kaniku (now Waiko), Kwato-influenced women have an attitude of Kwato elitism and a willingness to compete that is consonant with political aspirations and other ambitions (1981:190).

In the Highlands, where mission activity and Western-style education are more recent, among the educated Simbu women interviewed by anthropologist Paula Brown, most grew up "near schools at missions or in towns, often because their father was employed" (1988:135). According to Brown, these unusual women live unusual lives that require a greater break with traditional roles than is the case for elite men:

Urban men's roles are continuations and adaptations of traditional men's competition and dominance. Rural support groups

are essential to political ambition and election to national or provincial office. . . . Urban women discard many aspects of the traditional wife/mother role in exchange for wage-earning, household management rather than housework, and independence. They maintain close family ties with visits and often incorporate rural relatives into their urban households . . . [but they do so] without the domestic role of wife. (Brown 1988: 138; see also Zimmer-Tamakoshi 1990, n.d.a)

Reflecting differences in their socioeconomic backgrounds, many male and female members of the educated elite hold opposing expectations regarding male-female relationships, marriage, and women's proper station and work. There are also lifestyle differences, particularly in the family backgrounds of educated men and women, that further alienate educated men and women from one another. In a paper written on love and marriage among the educated elite in Port Moresby, Rosi and Zimmer-Tamakoshi (1993) document the conflicting viewpoints of many students at the University of Papua New Guinea and the National Arts School. In a survey of more than 200 first-year students at UPNG, Zimmer-Tamakoshi found important gender differences among her students on the questions of conjugal relations and women's careers. Although attitudes of both males and females toward interethnic marriage and having the right to choose their own marriage partner became more liberal between first entering and the time they were in their second semester, young women were much more adamant that marriages should be monogamous, that women's careers were as important as men's, and that spouses should spend significant amounts of time together both at home and in the company of friends and relatives.

In a study at the National Arts School, Rosi discovered similar trends. Both young men and women thought that good looks and sexual attractiveness were important features of a potential spouse and that mutual love should be the basis for marriage. Young men, however, wanted wives who would both work and be good homemakers and who would subordinate their careers to their husbands', while young women wanted husbands who would be supportive of their careers and considerate of whatever arrangements the women made to see that their homes and children were taken care of.

Growing up in different social environments is also a potential source of conflict between male and female members of the educated elite. Whereas many educated men in Papua New Guinea spent at least some of their childhood in villages, many educated women grew up on government stations or in urban areas as a result of their fathers' level of education and work. Such women often lack traditional skills and have personal expectations about dress, social life, and marriage that tend to alienate them from village in-laws and, in some cases, from their husbands, Young wives, for example, may resent the interference of village in-laws who expect them to help their husbands pay back large brideprices or to make way for village co-wives who will raise pigs for the husband while the first wife works at a job (for examples, see Rosi and Zimmer-Tamakoshi 1993).

One aspect of the sophistication and opportunities that educated women have that is especially galling to many of Papua New Guinea's men is the possibility of their meeting and marrying non-Papua New Guineans. A recurring element in the writings of poets like Justin Yatu is the theme of female university students falling prey to the seductions of Western civilization and of being white men's clowns (1986; see also Yatu 1985). Although many women agree with men that interracial marriages are wrong--see, for example, Susan Balen's story "A Date with Danger" (1985) and Frances Deklin's negative reflections on mixed marriages involving Papua New Guinean women and Australian men (1987) -- a surprising number disagree and, in some cases, actively seek partnerships with foreign men. Air Niugini stewardesses are notorious in this regard, many of them being outspoken about their preference for white men whom they believe are more supportive of their ambitions and less likely to use physical force to control their behavior (see Rosi and Zimmer-Tamakoshi 1993; Zimmer-Tamakoshi 1990). Even more visible are women like former parliamentarians Josephine Abaijah and Nahau Rooney (now widowed) and the president of the National Council of Women, Maria Kopkop, who are only three of many government women and women's leaders to have long-standing relations or marriages with white men. These women have been harassed for having non-Papua New Guinean men in their lives. The same is not often true for those Papua New Guinean men who have white wives and lovers.

An interesting and relevant link between interracial sexual relations and most Papua New Guineans' aversion to "women's liberation" was pointed out to me by Penelope Schoeffel (pers. com., 1993):

When I was a student at UPNG in the early seventies (1971-1973) there was a "Black Power" group and "Women's Liberation" group. The former comprised PNG men and the latter mainly expatriate women. The two groups were quite close to one another and several of the white women in the latter had

relationships with men in the former. Perhaps because of this, most PNG men and women at UPNG interpreted "women's liberation" as being concerned with women's sexual freedom, which they generally considered an alarming idea. Some PNG male students enjoyed or hoped to enjoy relationships with liberated white women, but would have been shocked to see PNG women openly espouse women's sexual freedom. Few PNG women students wished to be linked to "Women's Liberation" because of their ambivalence about what they thought its agenda was, and because of the strong disapproval among the student elite directed to anything seen as being "white dominated." . . . The few outspoken PNG women on Campus (such as Margarete Loko and Paula Paliau) would have nothing to do with the group.

A Divided Sisterhood

It is less easy to characterize the views of Papua New Guinea's village women given so many cultural and historical differences in their experiences. Nevertheless, in common with women in town, village women have spoken out on several issues. Two of these are the high levels of domestic violence and rape. Marital violence is widespread in rural areas, with 67 percent of rural women (compared with 56 percent of low-income urban women and 62 percent of elite urban women) admitting to being hit on occasion by their husbands (Ranck and Toft 1986:22-23). Although villagers say they accept wife-beating as normal (see Chowning 1985), severe or undeserved beatings are *not* accepted by women, and today abused wives regularly take their husbands to court (see Scaglion and Whittingham 1985; Westermark 1985). Women began taking their domestic complaints outside the village to get a fairer hearing during the colonial period, bringing their complaints before foreign *kiaps* and church and welfare officers (Strathern 1972a, 1972b).

The high incidence of rape in Papua New Guinea (see Kivung, Doiwa, and Cox 1985; Zimmer 1990) has brought out women of every level of society to condemn rapists and a male-dominated court system that many women feel leaves rapists free to prey on women and girls in both town and country, During a much reported-on rape and murder case in Lae, thousands of women--including nearby village women-turned out in Port Moresby and Lae to call for longer sentences and castration for the rapist-murderers. Fear of rape and sexual harassment keeps many women and girls from attending school (in rural and urban

areas), from asserting themselves in gatherings where men are also present, and from experimenting with new lifestyles (see Crossley 1988, Meek 1982; Oliver 1987; Rosi and Zimmer-Tamakoshi 1993).

A third issue of importance to women is the willingness of many husbands to engage in adulterous liaisons with prostitutes and women who try to steal them away from their wives and families. In response to this many village women go to town with their husbands to keep a watchful eye over them and their husbands' incomes (Zimmer-Tamakoshi n.d.a); women who work frequently rely on children and other kin to accompany husbands on outings and to report on any wrongdoing or suspicious actions. In 1988, highly placed women in the Law Reform Commission and other government bodies pushed into law the Adultery and Enticement Act. This act makes it possible for a husband or wife to bring suit against an adulterous spouse, and to forestall an adulterous affair by allowing them to sue anyone who attempts to entice their spouses to have sex with them. Designed to give women control over their husbands' sexuality, the law is--ironically--potentially detrimental to the very women who framed it, women whose jobs as lawmakers and politicians require them to spend time alone with male co-workers. Proof of adultery, for example, can be as simple as having a witness testify that the alleged adulterers went into a room, shut the door behind them, and stayed in the room long enough to have sex! However, in the context of some men's efforts to discredit educated women and in a country where 85 percent of the population lives in rural villages, the promotion of the act by educated women can only be seen as politically motivated. In the words of one member of the elite women's group Women in Politics, "Their needs must come first. Without their support there will be few women elected to higher office and all women's interests will suffer" (Angela Mandie, pers. corn., 1988; see also Mandie 1985).

Regardless of the potential of these issues to unite women, almost insurmountable differences keep them apart. Although village women and women living in urban squatter settlements share elite women's desire for greater autonomy in the new social order, they do SO for quite different reasons. On the one hand are women like my former students at UPNG, who will travel overseas for purposes of education, business, or pleasure, and who expect to one day be working in positions of authority over both men and women. For such women, freedom to travel around the country without fear of sexual harassment and to share the same job opportunities and respect as their male co-workers are fundamental. On the other hand are village women who are over-

burdened with traditional and new forms of work at the same time as their men are receiving (or appropriating) most of the available government services and most of the income from cash crops and other lucrative enterprises (see Cox 1987; Hughes 1985; Zimmer 1988). For these women, gaining control over money means spending it on things they believe to be more important than the things men spend money on. The situation at Hoskins Oil Palm Settlement in West New Britain Province is fairly typical of the household division of labor and finances throughout rural Papua New Guinea:

. . . while most women were given some money by their husbands for food and household needs, these expenses were met predominantly from income earned by the women selling garden produce at market. On the other hand, 78 per cent of women interviewed shared their market-earned income with their husbands. . . . [Even though nearly all women worked on their husbands' oil palm plots, the men retained] control over their "own" oil palm income and also control the income earned independently by their wives. (Nakikus 1985a:125)

In Sexton's study of the *wok meri* movement in Eastern Highlands Province, she found that members of the market-women's savings association felt that men wasted money on cards and alcohol and spent too little on household consumption. Pooling their earnings from vegetable sales, women from diverse language groups took turns investing their savings in what they felt were worthwhile, profitable businesses. Since the money was kept separate from the women's take-home pay, most men could do little but admire their wives' ingenuity, thereby fulfilling at least one of the women's stated aims, which was to teach by example (Sexton 1982, 1986).

More commonly, however, it is men who have the access to cash, resulting in a shift in the balance of power between genders, as men can earn cash independently of women and men's cash contributions to ceremonial exchange payments can outweigh women's contributions of pigs and vegetables (Zimmer 1985; Zimmer-Tamakoshi 1993). Women chafe at the loss of status that goes along with their not having access to cash. Mirroring men's complaints against independent career women and schoolgirls, village women I have met in different parts of Papua New Guinea deplore town men's excessive drinking and womanizing and openly mock men who return to the village dressed like colonial mastas in white knee socks, shorts, white shirt, polished boots, and Aus-

sie hat. Keeping fit and forgoing expensive Western-style clothing, town women of modest means pride themselves on their economy and on their ability to return to the village and take up gardening at a moment's notice (see Zimmer-Tamakoshi n.d.a). Having learned to expect little from the few agricultural extension officers and others (academics included) who make their way out to the villages, more and more women are involved in organizations like the East Sepik Women's Development Documentation and Communication Project that are dedicated to putting village women in control of development and nonformal education projects, as well as creating opportunities for village women to travel and to meet with leaders elsewhere in the country (Samuel, Goro, and Kimbange 1987; see also Aarnink and Blydorp 1986).

In a context in which most women have inadequate access to cash for essentials, the more frivolous elements of wealthier women's lifestyles are offensive and easily conjured up as reasons to reject them or their ideas out of hand. While the women's pages in the *Post-Courier* and the *Times of Papua New Guinea* include many articles on practical issues concerning rural and urban women (see *Papua New Guinea Post-Courier* 1992a, 1992d; Waram 1992a), they are also crowded with advertisements for things most women can't afford, like ladies' swimwear fashions and expensive hotels and restaurants, as well as many articles on fashion, beauty salons, and ways to "Decorate Your Bathroom" (*Papua New Guinea Post-Courier* 1992e).

Intended as satire of the "Miss Papua New Guinea" contest and playful mockery of the male judges (one of whom was Bernard Narokobi), in 1984 female students at the University of Papua New Guinea staged a "Miss Traditional UPNG" contest to which some participants came bare-breasted (Tannos 1984). By going topless for a few hours, female university students may have "honored tradition" and made the point that traditional women's dress could be as provocative as miniskirts and lipstick, but their intended message was undoubtedly lost on other young women. Influenced by mission teaching against "lewd and improper dress" but less financially able to try different lifestyles, many village and town girls wear the modest (and cheap) *meri* blouses and only dream about what it would be like to wear the expensive Western clothing sold in Port Moresby's boutiques and shopping centers.

The ways in which villagers react to modernity as they variously link into the national economy and become part of larger identities and new interest groups can be quite surprising and, at first glance, contradictory. Long-contacted and more prosperous groups living in the vicinity

of large towns--the very groups one might expect to be more tolerant-may support their daughters' higher education but resist their wearing miniskirts and high heels in attempts to maintain group solidarity by curbing women's independence and preventing them from marrying outsiders (see the Tolai miniskirt debate above; also Hogan 1985). On the other hand, more distant and less privileged groups may tolerate new dress codes and women's liaisons with strangers in order to gain a foothold in the urban economy. Gende villagers, for example, regularly send their mostly uneducated teenage daughters to live in town with migrant relatives in the hope that these daughters will attract prosperous husbands, whether Gende or not (Zimmer-Tamakoshi 1993). When successful, some of these girls find themselves in situations where they have little in common with either their village sisters or the educated elite. Dependent on their husbands' wages, they are often abused by them, and little respected by squatter settlement women who have to clean other women's houses, village women who have to tend babies, pigs, gardens, and family, and working women who see them as poaching on their men. For such women, hoped-for emancipation may mean no more than finding a husband who is appreciative of their housekeeping skills and being recognized as contributing to the development of Papua New Guinea by being conduits of wealth from urban to rural areas in the form of bride-price payments and other investments of cash in the women's relatives (Zimmer-Tamakoshi 1993, n.d.a).

Conclusion

In this article I have illustrated some of the various perspectives of Papua New Guinea men and women concerning women's role in today's society. In the section on men's views, I used men's writings-both literary and political--to reveal their opposition to women's freedom to forge new relations and to actively participate in the building of the nation. I also argued (as others have already suggested; see Hogan 1985; Johnson 1984; Lindstrom 1992; Macintyre n.d.) that at least some men and a few highly placed women have exploited differences and antagonisms among women for political ends, condemning the privileges and actions of elite women in order to appeal to the majority.

What is at stake is more than simply achieving high political office, however. In a review of Papua New Guinea nationalists' attempts to create a sense of national unity in a nation riven by differences of culture, language, history, ecology, and more, Lindstrom (1992) demonstrates how politicians and others have used the idea of a shared set of

"core traditions," or what is termed the "Melanesian Way," to try to lessen disunity. Similar agendas are apparent elsewhere in the Pacific-for example, in Fijian nationalism (Rutz n.d.). And in the construction of Papua New Guinea's new national Parliament building, we have seen how the planners of a central national institution purposefully incorporated traditional designs from all over Papua New Guinea-such as designing the outer structure of the building in the shape of a Sepik men's house--in an attempt to embody Papua New Guineans' shared village origins (Rosi 1991).

Another "tradition" that Papua New Guinea nationalists play up is the notion that women, especially young women, should be under the control of parents and spouse. In spite of constitutional rights granting women full participation in the social, economic, and political development of their country, statements such as the following by "Melanesian Way" spokesman and creator Bernard Narokobi stand firmly on the side of male dominance and parental control of young women:

Women are not inferior to men but different. . . . Within the family, the woman's authority is as important as the man's. . . . However, at the clan and village level, the woman cannot be head. . . .

[Directing his words to "Westernised girl"] As for sex, only the West of today has achieved sexual heights of excitement in which the human body is thoroughly depraved, perverted, corrupted, debased. . . . Forced marriages, I will readily agree with you are a scandal. But . . . [t]here are important sociological reasons too, for arranged marriages and for payment of bride and groom wealth. Marriage brings families and tribes together. . . . Marriage in Melanesia still is a collective communal relationship of a public nature, not a one to one private affair. (Narokobi 1983:35-36, 52-53)

Playing up to villagers' fears that their educated daughters will run wild and contract marriages for which no bride-price is paid and portraying independent women as Jezebels who threaten the stability of both society and the family, male nationalists divert attention from differences (particularly economic and political) that divide them from other Papua New Guineans while blaming at least some of the nation's problems on a very small minority of women.

As with other facets in the construction of a national culture, however, elite males' portrayal of women is contested ground. In the section on new women, I have shown how elite women are dissatisfied with men's actions in the development of Papua New Guinea and how women are calling for new relations with men. At the national level and in Papua New Guinea's towns and cities, this dissatisfaction is expressed in the campaign rhetoric and increasingly women-centered demands of female leaders and politicians (*Papua New Guinea Post-Courier* 1992c; Wormald 1992), in the aspirations of female students (Rosi and Zimmer-Tamakoshi 1993), and in the refusal of some women to even consider marriage to Papua New Guineans (Zimmer-Tamakoshi 1990).

The campaign strategies and efforts of such women to "improve" the lives of all women have thus far, however, made little impression on the majority of Papua New Guinea's women. Most of the latter continue to support male over female candidates for public office and to envy (or spurn) the real or imagined privileges of educated and elite women. This division has been detrimental to creating a united women's movement and has generated a multiplicity of local and regional movements. Rural women are making themselves heard and what they are saying is that they do not trust elite women (or elite men, for that matter) to help them improve their situations. In organizing themselves, rural women are seeking greater recognition and rewards for being the "economic and social backbone of Papua New Guinea society," an expression that is more and more being adopted by women leaders at all levels of Papua New Guinea society to describe and appeal to rural women (e.g., Wilson 1987:174).

NOTE

This article was conceived as part of an Association for Social Anthropology in Oceania session on "Nationalism in the Pacific" organized by Robert Foster. My attendance at the beginning session in Savannah, Georgia, in 1988 was made possible by a travel grant from the University of Papua New Guinea. Subsequent versions of this article benefited from participation in a National Endowment for the Humanities summer session on "The Politics of Culture in the Pacific," held in 1991 at the East-West Center in Honolulu and organized by Lamont Lindstrom and Geoff White. My thanks to UPNG and NEH for their financial support and to the participants in the nationalism and politics sessions for their helpful comments and critiques. I am also grateful to Northeast Missouri State University for awarding me a 1992 Summer Research Grant, which allowed me time to work on aspects of this article and to travel to Hawaii to do further research in the Pacific Collection at the Hamilton Library, University of Hawaii. And finally, I want to thank Dale Robertson, Sharlene Rohter, and the several anonymous reviewers and Penelope Schoeffel for their many and insightful comments and criticisms. They will know where I followed their suggestions and where I did not.

REFERENCES

Aarnink, N., and A. Blydorp

1986 Ol Meri i Gat Paua: A Report on the East Sepik Women's Network. Wewak: East Sepik Women's Community Project.

Abaijah, Josephine

1991 A Thousand Coloured Dreams. Mt. Waverly, Vic.: Dellasta Pacific.

Baker, Rosemary

1975 "Preparing the Yeast: Training of Women for Leadership." In *New Horizons for Melanesian Women*, special issue of *Point*, no. 2 (Sept.): 78-94.

Balen, Susan

1985 "A Date with Danger." The PNG Writer 1, no. 1 (Sept.): 3-5.

Bengi, Manga

1992 "Chimbu Women Told to Get Their Act Together If They Want Development," *Papua New Guinea Post-Courier.* 13 Aug., 29.

Boserup, Ester

1970 Women's Role in Economic Development. New York: St. Martin's Press.

Brown, Paula

1988 "Gender and Social Change: New Forms of Independence for Simbu Women." *Oceania* 59:123-142.

Bunpalau, Wesley

1992 "Morobe Women Told to Work Together." *Papua New Guinea Post-Courier*, 26 Mar., 29.

Chowning, Ann

1985 "Kove Women and Violence: The Context of Wife-Beating in a West New Britain Society." In *Domestic Violence in Papua New Guinea*, ed. Susan Toft, 72-91. Law Reform Commission of Papua New Guinea Monograph No. 3. Boroko.

Cole, R. V., et al.

1985 Women in Development in the South Pacific: Barriers and Opportunities. Canberra: Development Studies Centre, Australian National University.

Cox, Elizabeth

1987 "Women in Rural Settlement Schemes-Institutionalized Gender Bias and Informal Gender Abuses." In *The Ethics of Development: Women as Unequal Partners in Development*, 28-49. See Stratigos and Hughes 1987.

Crossley, Anne

1988 "Women, Education, and Development in Papua New Guinea." In *Women and Education in Papua New Guinea and the South Pacific*, 1-11. See Wormald and Crossley 1988.

Daro, Boio Bess

1975a "The Challenge of Equality: A Role for Women in Developing Papua New Guinea." In *New Horizons for Melanesian Women,* special issue of *Point,* no. 2 (Sept.): 5-16.

1975b "Opportunities for Equal Participation: Women in Papua New Guinea Society." In *New Horizons for Melanesian Women,* special issue of *Point,* no. 2 (Sept.): 32-43.

Deklin, Frances

1987 "Women in Development: Some Reflections on the Experience of Papua New Guinean Women in Australian Society." In *The Ethics of Development: Women as Unequal Partners in Development,* 100-107. *See* Stratigos and Hughes 1987.

Dominy, Michele D.

1990 "Maori Sovereignty: A Feminist Invention of Tradition." In *Cultural Identity* and *Ethnicity in the Pacific*, ed. Jocelyn Linnekin and Lin Poyer, 237-257. Honolulu: University of Hawaii Press.

Dondoli, B. M.

1985a "Blame Yourself." *The PNG Writer* 1, no. 1 (Sept.): 22. 1985b "Triple C, P-Star." *The PNG Writer* 1, no. 1 (Sept.): 11.

Epstein, T. S.

1968 Capitalism, Primitive and Modern: Some Aspects of Tolai Economic Growth. Canberra: Australian National University Press.

Eri. Vincent

1970 *The Crocodile.* Originally published by Jacaranda Wiley, Ltd. Reprinted 1981, Auckland: Longman Paul. Ltd.

Etienne, Mona, and Eleanor Leacock, eds.

1980 Women and Colonization. New York: Praeger.

Eviota, Elizabeth U.

1986 "The Articulation of Gender and Class in the Philippines." In *Women's Work:*Development and the Division of Labor by Gender, 194-206. See Leacock and Safa 1986.

Filer, Colin

1985 "What Is This Thing Called Brideprice?" *Mankind* 15:163-183.

Gough, John

1984 "Race, Class, and Sex Roles in PNG School Literature." *Bikmaus* 5, no. 1: 96-101.

Hafkin, Nancy J., and Edna G. Bay, eds.

1976 Women in Africa: Studies in Social and Economic Change. Stanford, Calif.: Stanford University Press.

Hale, Sondra

1989 "The Politics of Gender in the Middle East." In *Gender and Anthropology: Critical Reviews for Research and Teaching,* ed. Sandra Morgen, 246-267. Washington, D.C.: American Anthropological Association.

Hammam, Mona

1986 "Capitalist Development, Family Division of Labor, and Migration in the Middle East." In *Women's Work: Development and the Division of Labor by Gender,* 158-173. See Leacock and Safa 1986.

Hodgkin, Thomas

1956 Nationalism in Colonial Africa. London: Muller.

Hogan, Evelyn

1985 "Controlling the Bodies of Women: Reading Gender Ideologies in Papua New Guinea." In *Women in Politics in Papua New Guinea*, 54-71. See O'Collins et al, 1985.

Houbein, Lolo

1982 "The Theme of Love in Papua New Guinea Literature to 1976." *Bikmaus* 3, no. 3: 3-39

Hughes, Helen

1985 "Women in the Development of the South Pacific." In *Women in Development in the South Pacific: Barriers and Opportunities,* 3-10. See Cole et al. 1985.

Jawodimbari, Arthur

1973 "Round the Bend." In *Wicked Eye: Poems by Arthur Jawodimbari and Dus Mapun*, n.p. Port Moresby: Papua Pocket Poets.

Jayawardena, Kumari

1986 Feminism and Nationalism in the Third World. London: Zed Books.

Jenkins, Carol

n.d. "The Changing Health Status of Papua New Guineans." In *Modern PNG Society. See* Zimmer-Tamakoshi n.d.b.

Johnson, Dianne D.

1984 "'The Government Women': Gender and Structural Contradiction in Papua New Guinea." Ph.D. thesis, Department of Anthropology, University of Sydney.

Jolly, Margaret

n.d. "The Politics of Difference: Feminism, Colonialism, and Decolonization in Vanuatu." MS in author's possession.

Kaniku, Anne

1981 "Milne Bay Women." In *Oral Traditions in Melanesia*, ed. Donald Denoon and Roderic Lacey, 188-203. Boroko: Institute of Papua New Guinea Studies.

Katrak. Ketu H.

1992 "Indian Nationalism, Gandhian 'Satyagraha,' and Representations of Female Sexuality." In *Nationalisms and Sexualities*, ed. Andrew Parker, Mary Russo, Doris Sommer, and Patricia Yaeger, 395-406. New York: Routledge.

Kavap, Jerry

1974 "Bai Go Nap We?" In *Kas Bilong Yu: Poems in Pidgin by Jerry Kavap,* n.p. Port Moresby: Papua Pocket Poets.

Kekedo. Rose

1975 "Not Just Window Dressing: The Struggle for Papua New Guinea Women." In *New Horizons for Melanesian Women,* special issue of *Point,* no. 2 (Sept.): 19-21.

1985 "The Role of the Department of Community and Family Services in Women's Advancement." In *From Rhetoric to Reality? Papua New Guinea's Eight Point Plan and National Goals after a Decade,* 32-37. See King, Lee, and Warakai 1985.

Kerpi, P. Kama

1974 "Kulpu's Daughter." Kovave 5, no. 1: 12.

1987 "Hohola in the Night." In *Through Melanesian Eyes: An Anthology of Papua New Guinean Writing,* 82-83. See Powell 1987.

Kiki, Lady

1975 "Partners in Politics: My Role as a Politician's Wife." In *New Horizons for Melanesian Women*, special issue of *Point*, no. 2 (Sept.): 65-67.

Kilage, Ignatius

1980 My Mother Calls Me Yaltep. Melbourne: Oxford University Press.

Kilburn, John

1985 "Meri University (2)." The PNG Writer 1, no. 1 (Sept.): 22.

Kili, Silas

1985 "City Gel." The PNG Writer 1, no. 1 (Sept.): 7.

King, Peter, Wendy Lee, and Vincent Warakai, eds.

1985 From Rhetoric to Reality? Papua New Guinea's Eight Point Plan and National Goals after a Decade. Papers from the Fifteenth Waigani Seminar. Port Moresby: University of Papua New Guinea Press.

Kivung, Peri, Maria Doiwa, and Susan Cox

1985 "Women and Crime: Women and Violence." In From Rhetoric to Reality? Papua New Guinea's Eight Point Plan and National Goals after a Decade, 74-80. See King, Lee, and Warakai 1985.

Kouza, Loujaya

1987 "Teenage World." In *Through Melanesian Eyes: An Anthology of Papua New Guinean Writing*, 93. See Powell 1987.

Kumbeli, Joyce A.

1985a "The Curfew." The PNG Writer 1, no. 1: 76.

1985b "No More Saturday." The PNG Writer 1, no. 1: 73.

Lahui, Jack

1975 "The Dark Side of a Niuginian's Teeth," "The Bottle Squabblers," and "The Elector and the Candidate." In *Gamblers Niugini Style: Poems by Jack Lahui*, n.p. Port Moresby: Papua Pocket Poets.

Langmore, Diane

1989 Missionary Lives: Papua, 1874-1914. Honolulu: University of Hawaii Press.

Leacock, Eleanor, and Helen I. Safa, eds.

1986 Women's Work: Development and the Division of Labor by Gender. South Hadley, Mass.: Bergin and Garvey.

Lindstrom, Lamont

1992 Pasin Tumbuna: Cultural Traditions and National Identity in Papua New Guinea. Culture and Communications Working Paper. Honolulu: Institute of Culture and Communications, East-West Center.

Little, Kenneth

1973 African Women in Towns: An Aspect of Africa's Social Revolution. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Loko, M.

1974 "The Changing Role of Women in Society." *Administration for Development,* no. 2 (July): 4-8.

Macintyre, Martha

n.d. "The Persistence of Inequality: Women in Papua New Guinea since Independence." In *Modern PNG Society. See* Zimmer-Tamakoshi n.d.*b*.

Mandie, Angela

1985 "The Role of an Educated Woman in Women's Organizations in Papua New Guinea." In *Women in Politics in Papua New Guinea*. 49-53. *See* O'Collins et al. 1985.

Mapun, Dus

1973 'Change" and "The Biblical Land." In Wicked Eye: Poems by Arthur Jawodimbari and Dus Mapun, n.p. Port Moresby: Papua Pocket Poets.

Meek, V. Lynn

1982 The University of Papua New Guinea: A Case Study of the Sociology of Higher Education. St. Lucia: University of Queensland Press.

Meleisea, Penelope Schoeffel

1983 "Women's Associations and Rural Development: Western Samoa and East New Britain." In *Pacific Women on the Move,* special issue of *Pacific Perspective* 11, no. 2: 56-61.

Miria, Clement

1992 "Cuts in Women's Funds Affect Work." The Times of Papua New Guinea, 13

Moghadam, Valentine M.

1992 "Revolution, Islam, and Women: Sexual Politics in Iran and Afghanistan." In *Nationalisms and Sexualities*, 424-446. See Parker et al. 1992.

Murphy, Penelope

1985 "UPNG as an Agent of Social Stratification: An Analysis of Output by Sex." In *Education and Social Stratification in Papua New Guinea*, ed. Peter Smith and Mark Bray, 146-153. Melbourne: Longman Cheshire.

Nakikus, Margaret

- 1985a "The Impact of Land Resettlement Schemes on Women in Papua New Guinea." In *Women in Development in the South Pacific: Barriers and Opportunities*, 123-136. See Cole et al. 1985.
- 1985b "Planning for Women's Advancement in Papua New Guinea." In From Rhetoric to Reality? Papua New Guinea's Eight Point Plan and National Goals after a Decade, 39-50. See King, Lee, and Warakai 1985.

Nakin, Ben

1985 "Women's Lib." The PNG Writer 1, no. 1 (Sept.): 21.

Narokobi. Bernard M.

1983 *The Melanesian Way.* Revised edition. Boroko: Institute of Papua New Guinea Studies.

Nii. Francis

1985 "Peaceful Village." The PNG Writer 1, no. 1 (Sept.): 12.

O'Collins, Maev, et al.

1985 Women in Politics in Papua New Guinea. Working Paper No. 6. Canberra: Department of Political and Social Change, Research School of Pacific Studies, Australian National University.

Ogi, H. Papi

1985 "Women in Rural Development: An Anecdotal Account from the East Sepik Province." In From Rhetoric to Reality? Papua New Guinea's Eight Point Plan and National Goals after a Decade, 148-156. See King, Lee, and Warakai 1985.

Okonjo, Kameme

1976 "The Dual-Sex Political System in Operation: Igbo Women and Community Politics in Midwestern Nigeria." In *Women in Africa: Studies in Social and Economic Change*, 45-58. See Hafkin and Bay 1976.

Oliver, Joan

1987 "Women Students at the University of Papua New Guinea in 1985." In *The Ethics of Development: Women as Unequal Partners in Development*, 156-172. See Stratigos and Hughes 1987.

Paipaira, May

1986a "Dear Diary." The PNG Writer 2, no. 1: 73.

1986b "An Easy Habit." The PNG Writer 2, no. 1: 76.

1986c "Flame of the Forest." The PNG Writer 2, no. 1: 29.

1986d "Little Man, Grow Up." The PNG Writer 2, no. 1: 51.

1986e "Mother Stands." The PNG Writer 2, no. 1: 72.

Papua New Guinea Post-Courier

1992a "Focus on Women's Health." 6 Feb., 29.

1992b "Rabaul Women Celebrate without Invited Guests." 26 Mar., 29.

1992c "Government Told to Deal with Law and Order." 6 Aug., 39.

1992d "Girls Need More Calcium and Regular Exercise." 13 Aug., 35.

1992e "Decorate Your Bathroom." 27 Aug., 44.

Parker, Andrew, Mary Russo, Doris Sommer, and Patricia Yaeger, eds.

1992 Nationalisms and Sexualities. New York: Routledge.

Potash, Betty

1989 "Gender Relations in Sub-Saharan Africa." In *Gender and Anthropology: Critical Reviews for Research and Teaching,* ed. Sandra Morgen, 198-227. Washington, D. C.: American Anthropological Association.

Powell, Ganga

1937 Through Melanesian Eyes: An Anthology of Papua New Guinean Writing. Melbourne: Macmillan of Australia.

Putahu, Segg

1975 "Wanpela Bilong Yumi Olgeta." In *Siboda Henari: Poems on Independence,* n.p. Port Moresby: Papua Pocket Poets.

Ranck, Stephen, and Susan Toft

1986 "Domestic Violence in an Urban Context and with Rural Comparisons." In *Domestic Violence in Urban Papua New Guinea*, 3-51. See Toft 1986.

Rooney, Nahau

1985 "Women and National Politics in Papua New Guinea." In *Women in Politics in Papua New Guinea*, 39-48. *See* O'Collins et al. 1985.

Rosi, Pamela

1991 "Papua New Guinea's New Parliament House: A Contested National Symbol." *The Contemporary Pacific* 3, no. 2: 289-324.

Rosi, Pamela, and Laura Zimmer-Tamakoshi

1993 "Love and Marriage among the Educated Elite in Port Moresby." In *Transformations of Oceanic Marriage*, ed. Richard Marksbury. Pittsburgh: University of Pittsburgh Press.

Rutz, Henry J.

n.d. "Political Ideology and the Fijian Nation." Paper presented at Association for Social Anthropology in Oceania session, "Nationalism and National Culture," Victoria, B.C., Mar. 1991.

Salisbury, Richard

1962 From Stone to Steel. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Samuel, Tailepa, Lusey Goro, and Anna Kimbange

1987 "What Stands in the Way." In *The Ethics of Development: Women as Unequal Partners in Development*, 18-27. See Stratigos and Hughes 1987.

Scaglion, Richard, and Rose Whittingham

1985 "Female Plaintiffs and Sex-Related Disputes in Rural Papua New Guinea." In Domestic Violence in Papua New Guinea, ed. Susan Toft, 120-133. Law Reform Commission of Papua New Guinea Monograph No. 3. Boroko.

Schoeffel, Penelope

1985 "Women in the Fisheries of the South Pacific." In *Women in Development in the South Pacific: Barriers and Opportunities*, 156-175. See Cole et al. 1985.

Schuster, Ilsa M. Glazer

1979 New Women of Lusaka. Palo Alto, Calif.: Mayfield Publishing.

Sexton, Lorraine

- 1982 "Wok Meri: A Women's Savings and Exchange System in Highland Papua New Guinea." *Oceania* 54:133-150.
- 1986 *Mothers of Money, Daughters of Coffee: The Wok Meri Movement.* Ann Arbor: University of Michigan Press.

Sharrad, Paul

1984 "A Map of PNG Short Stories in English." Bikmaus 5, no. 2: 1-16.

Sil, Kua Mathew

1986 "The Village That My Granny Knew." The PNG Writer 2, no. 1 (May): 46.

Slarke, Robyn

1992 "No Legal Aid for Women in Papua New Guinea." *The Times of Papua New Guinea*. 5 Mar., 19 and 22.

Smith, Peter

1987 Education and Colonial Control in Papua New Guinea: A Documentary History. Melbourne: Longman Chesire.

S.M.R.

1992 "How to Be a Lady!" Papua New Guinea Post-Courier, 20 Feb., 24.

Soaba, Russell

1979 Maiba: A Papuan Novel. Washington, D.C.: Three Continents Press.

Somare, Michael

1975 Sana: An Autobiography. Port Moresby: Niugini Press.

Strathern, A. M.

1972a Official and Unofficial Courts: Legal Assumptions and Expectations in a Highlands Community. New Guinea Research Bulletin No. 47. Canberra: Australian National University.

1972b Women in Between: Female Roles in a Male World, Mount Hagen, New Guinea. London and New York: Seminar Press.

Stratigos, Susan, and Philip J. Hughes, eds.

1987 The Ethics of Development: Women as Unequal Partners in Development. Papers from the Seventeenth Waigani Seminar. Port Moresby: University of Papua New Guinea Press.

Tannos. Jonathan

1984 "The Girls of UPNG: Tradition Is Not Being Neglected." *Papua New Guinea Post-Courier*, 18 July, 18-19.

Taylor, Meg

1970 "The Role of Women in Politics." *Nilaidat* (University of Papua New Guinea student newspaper), n.d., n.p. (Mimeo, Pacific Collection, Hamilton Library, University of Hawaii, Honolulu.)

Temu, Deveni

1975 "New Attitudes for Old: How Vital Women's Education Is to the Development of Papua New Guinea." In *New Horizons for Melanesian Women*, special issue of *Point*, no. 2 (Sept.): 71-77.

The Times of Papua New Guinea

1992 "The Status of Women in Papua New Guinea." 9 Jan., 19.

1993a "East New Britain Women Embark on Campaign against Violence." 4 Mar., 5.

1993b "Women Celebrate Their Day on Monday." 4 Mar., 2.

Toft, Susan

1985 "Marital Violence in Port Moresby: Two Urban Case Studies." In *Domestic Violence in Papua New Guinea*, ed. Susan Toft, 14-31. Law Reform Commission of Papua New Guinea Monograph No. 3. Boroko.

Toft, Susan, ed.

1986 *Domestic Violence in Urban Papua New Guinea*. Law Reform Commission of Papua New Guinea Occasional Paper No. 19. Boroko.

Toft, Susan, and Susanne Bonnell

1985 Marriage and Domestic Violence in Rural Papua New Guinea. Law Reform Commission of Papua New Guinea Occasional Paper No. 18. Boroko.

Townsend, Patricia K.

1985 *The Situation of Children in Papua New Guinea.* Boroko: Institute of Applied Economic and Social Research.

Turner, Mark

1990 Papua New Guinea: The Challenge of Independence. Ringwood, Vic.: Penguin Books of Australia.

Umba, Benjamin

1976 "The Fires of Dawn." In *Three Short Novels from Papua New Guinea*, ed. Mike Greicus, 1-36. Auckland: Longman Paul.

Umetrifo, Baluwe

1987 "Yupela Meri i Senis Hariap Pinis." In *Through Melanesian Eyes: An Anthology of Papua New Guinean Writing*, 84. See Powell 1987.

Van Allen, Judith

1976 "'Aba Riots' or Igbo 'Women's War'? Ideology, Stratification, and the Invisibility of Women." In *Women in Africa: Studies in Social and Economic Change*, 59-85. *See* Hafkin and Bay 1976.

Vitaharo, Orovu

1986 "Women and Politics in Papua New Guinea: Resemblance or Representation?" *The PNG Writer* 2, no. 2: 26-27.

Waram, Ruth

- 1992a "Violence: A Crime against Women." *Papua New Guinea Post-Courier*, 13 Feb., 24-25.
- 1992b "Women's Day Snubbed, While Many Centres Go without Celebrations." *Papua New Guinea Post-Courier*, 26 Mar., 25 and 28.
- 1992c "Dame Josephine Calls on Women to Unite." *Papua New Guinea Post-Courier*, 16 July, 28.
- 1992d "New Political Body Formed." Papua New Guinea Post-Courier, 13 Aug., 29.
- 1992e "Manus Comes Up with a First." Papua New Guinea Post-Courier, 17 Aug., 43.

Weeks, Sheldon

1985a "Progress in Promoting Equality of Educational Opportunity for Women." In From Rhetoric to Reality? Papua New Guinea's Eight Point Plan and National Goals after a Decade, 92-106. See King, Lee, and Warakai 1985.

1985b "Students and Social Background: A Literature Review." In *Education and Social Stratification in Papua New Guinea*, ed. Mark Bray and Peter Smith, 98-109. Melbourne: Longman Chesire.

Westermark, George

1985 "Family Disputes and Village Courts in the Eastern Highlands." In *Domestic Violence in Papua New Guinea*, ed. Susan Toft, 104-119. Law Reform Commission of Papua New Guinea Monograph No. 3. Boroko.

Wilson, Maggie

1987 "Beer and Shotguns--Is This Development?" In *The Ethics of Development:* Women as Unequal Partners in Development, 173-177. See Stratigos and Hughes 1987.

Wingti, Paias

1985 "Standing by Our Principles in Tough Times." In From Rhetoric to Reality? Papua New Guinea's Eight Point Plan and National Goals after a Decade, 15-21. See King, Lee, and Warakai 1985.

Wormald, Eileen

1992 "1992 National Election--Women Candidates in the Election." *The Times of Papua New Guinea*, 28 May, 23-26.

Wormald, Eileen, and Anne Crossley, eds.

1988 Women and Education in Papua New Guinea and the South Pacific. Port Moresby: University of Papua New Guinea Press.

Yatu. Justin

1985 "Sister, My Sister." The PNG Writer 1, no. 1:72.

1986 "Kaukau Graduate." The PNG Writer 2, no. 1:48.

Zimmer, Laura

- 1985 "The Losing Game--Exchange, Migration, and Inequality among the Gende People of Papua New Guinea." Doctoral diss., Department of Anthropology, Bryn Mawr College.
- 1988 "Development for Whom?" In *Jimi Valley 1987 RRA Report*, ed. James Joughin and Brian Thistleton, 77-79. Port Moresby: Government Printers for Department of Agriculture and Livestock.
- 1990 "Sexual Exploitation and Male Dominance in Papua New Guinea." *Point,* Series No. 14, *Human Sexuality in Melanesian Cultures,* ed. Joel Ingebrittson. Goroka, PNG: Melanesian Institute.

Zimmer-Tamakoshi, Laura

- 1990 "Unusual Women as Gende Role Models." Paper presented at American Anthropological Association meetings, New Orleans, Nov. 1990.
- 1993 "Bachelors, Spinsters, and 'Pamuk Meris.' " In *Transformations of Oceanic Marriage*, ed. Richard Marksbury. Pittsburgh: University of Pittsburgh Press.
- n.d. *a* "Papua New Guinea Women in Town: Housewives, Homemakers, and Household Managers." In *Modern PNG Society. See* Zimmer-Tamakoshi n.d. *b* .

Zimmer-Tamakoshi. Laura. ed.

n.d. b Modern PNG Society. Bathurst, N.S.W.: Crawford House Press, in press.

SEA TENURE AND THE MANAGEMENT OF LIVING MARINE RESOURCES IN PAPUA NEW GUINEA

David Hyndman University of Queensland

Customary Marine Tenure

Use of coastal waters in Papua New Guinea takes place under a great diversity of locally defined, informal, exclusive, communal, relatively closed, or even private tenure arrangements in what has come to be labeled "sea tenure" or customary marine tenure (CMT) (Anell 1955; Baines 1989; Balfour 1913; Cranstone 1972; Kearney 1975, 1977; Moore 1977; Narokobi 1984; Quinn, Kojis, and Warpeha n.d.; Spring 1982; Tenakanai 1986). CMT in Papua New Guinea includes mixtures of exclusive individual and public-access traditions with ownership tied to specific environments, species, or technology--or to some combination of all three (Carrier 1981, 1982a, 1982b; Carrier and Carrier 1983, 1989). CMT community membership is small, interrelated and bound by cultural rules that specify who has access to resources (Akimichi 1981; Bergin 1983; Chapman 1987; Cordell 1984; Couper 1973; Johannes 1978b, 1982a, 1989a, 1989b; Johannes and MacFarlane 1986, 1991; Rodman 1989; Ruddle and Akimichi 1984; Schoeffel 1985; South Pacific Commission 1988).

Although sea tenure is vital to over 400,000 ethnically diverse coastal peoples of Papua New Guinea, the fate of these CMT resource-management systems, especially in the transboundary Torres Strait region, are increasingly threatened by commoditized fisheries and contentious mining and oil projects. Advocacy expressed in this article for maintaining tradition-based sea tenure in Papua New Guinea stems from my own

long-standing anthropological research association with the Wopkaimin landowners around the Ok Tedi mining project, located in the Fly River headwaters (Hyndman 1991b). Environmental disaster from the Ok Tedi project ramifies throughout the Fly River socioecological region (Hyndman 1991a). Refugees from pollution there are migrating to Daru, the Western Province administrative center situated below the Fly estuary; and coastal fisheries are threatened. Moreover, the need for a baseline appraisal of sea tenure in contemporary Papua New Guinea became apparent at a 1990 conference, "Sustainable Development for the Traditional Inhabitants of the Torres Strait Region," sponsored by the Australian Great Barrier Reef Marine Park Authority (Lawrence and Cansfield-Smith 1991). This article, then, is intended for CMT researchers and policymakers. Versions have been presented to a World Wildlife Fund review for Papua New Guinea (Hyndman 1992); to John Cordell, director of the Torres Strait transboundary indigenous conflict, resolution project; and to the Fourth Annual Common Property Conference held in Manila in June 1993.

Issues of conservation, common property, and identity inform the following analysis of CMT in Papua New Guinea and the Melanesian transboundary Torres Strait Islands. The existing ethnographic record on sea tenure in Papua New Guinea is shown to clearly include systems of informal, closed, communal, collectively-held coastal marine property. These customs carry special legitimacy that can only be imposed from within by a group on its members. Sea-tenure estates are not broken-down traditions but living customs, which have always transformed and related to basic resource-management tasks. They are diverse, flexible, dynamic, and capable of regulating many kinds of subsistence and commercial activities associated with marine fishing, hunting, and gathering. The article concludes that CMT systems are viable, if fragile and still incompletely understood, limited-entry solutions to managing living marine resources.

Customary Sea Tenure in the Tomes Strait Islands

Subsistence, trade, politics, and identity in the Torres Strait flow from the sea (Cordell 1991a, 1991b; Cordell and Fitzpatrick 1987; Harris 1977; Marsh 1986; Marsh and Saafeld 1991; Miller and Limpus 1991; Nietschmann 1989; Olewale and Sebu 1982). A century ago the Cambridge Anthropological Expedition noted the Islanders' intricate system of marine natural history knowledge and use. Islanders assert exclusive ownership of islands, waters, and reefs between Cape York Peninsula

and the sea territories of the Kiwai and other southwest coastal Papuan peoples (Nietschmann and Nietschmann 1981; Nietschmann 1989). In addition to Islanders' regard for the Strait as a whole being their territory, each group holds exclusive rights over fringing and adjacent reefs and intervening waters. These are home-island claims that are partitioned into areas controlled by specific clans and then further subdivided into individually owned zones. Today, named marine-tenure boundaries are still resilient and held in place through culturally defined cognitive maps, even though in some places occupation and resource use beyond the home reefs may be attenuated (Fitzpatrick 1991a, 1991b; Johannes and MacFarlane 1990).

Customary Sea Tenure in Papua New Guinea

Well-developed ownership of marine ecosystems exist along the south coast of Papua New Guinea (Frusher and Subam 1981; Gaigo 1977, 1982; Haines 1978/1979; Hudson 1986a, 1986b; Kwan 1991; Pulseford 1975; Swadling 1977). Papuan maritime geography is best documented among the Kiwai (Ely 1987; Landtman 1927; Lawrence 1991). Kiwai clans own land, mangrove systems, and reefs. Dugong and turtle hunting are preeminent in subsistence and identity construction among the Kiwai.

Sea tenure is also well documented among peoples along the north coast and the islands off the mainland of Papua New Guinea. From the archipelagic waters surrounding the island groups are reports for the Massim area of Milne Bay (Malinowski 1918, 1922; Lauer 1970; Williamson 1989), for New Ireland and New Britain in the Bismarck Sea (Bell 1953-1954; Panoff 1969-1970), and for Ponam Island off Manus (Carrier 1981; MacLean 1978). From the mainland are reports for the Siassi people (Pomponio 1992), the seafaring Sepiks (Lipset 1985), and other peoples of the north coast (Cragg 1981, 1982; Keurs 1989).

Complex CMT systems are found among Ponam Islanders and the Siassi. Various Ponam Islander patrilineages own different areas of marine space, resources, and exploitative technology (Carrier and Carrier 1983). Under the Ponam system of overlapping rights, a patrilineage owning a particular technology can use it in another patrilineage's domain if permission for the target species is obtained and the various right holders are each allocated a portion of the catch. A particularly intricate system of tradition and place characterizes Siassi sea tenure (Pomponio 1992). CMT among the Ponam Islanders and the Siassi is embedded in gift economies and kinship-ordered modes of production.

Since Malinowski's classic Argonauts of the Western Pacific (1922), CMT among Trobriand Islanders has been shown to conclusively exist and to be embedded in factors other than biological resources. When Trobriand Islanders fought over sea tenure, it was not for scarce resources but for the status of participation in the gift economy (Malinowski 1918). Among the Trobriand Islanders, CMT is both resource and territory based. Coastal village CMT considers coastal areas to be connected to the land, and maritime ownership includes beachs, estuaries, coastal waters, and fisheries resources. Living and nonliving resource exploitation, whether subsistence or commercial, is exclusive to the village community (Williamson 1989). Labai villagers, moreover, claim exclusive reef ownership when mullet schools and Kevatariya fishermen own distinct portions of reef claimed as "our gardens" (Williamson 1989). The importance of fishing in the Trobriand economy with various right holders each allocated a portion of the catch has long been noted (Malinowski 1918); and Massim peoples generally spend 17 percent of their work time fishing (Moulik 1973).

The ethnographic record has generally undervalued the use of marine resources by coastal maritime peoples (Pernetta and Hill 1983). Along the western Papuan coast the average daily subsistence catch per person is around 80 grams of fish and 80 grams of crabs and prawns (Haines 1982). Exploitation of marine resources is also extensive in coastal New Ireland (Wright 1990) and New Britain (Epstein 1963; Harding 1967). On New Ireland, Tigak Islanders eat on average 23.4 grams whole weight per day of locally caught fish (Wright 1990), while along the West New Britain coast 11.4 grams of fresh fish is consumed per person per day (Green and Sanders 1978). Fish accounts for 2 percent by weight of subsistence production among Karkar Islanders on the north coast (Norgan and Durnin 1974).

Legal Ownership of the Sea and Living Resources

A process of dispossession and disruption of indigenous fishing cultures is a matter of historic record in many parts of Melanesia. Legislating commons status for inshore fisheries was a convenient maneuver by colonists seeking to displace or nullify marine-tenure claims of indigenous peoples. Johannes points out that "the value of marine tenure [in Oceania] was not generally appreciated by Western colonisers. It not only ran counter to the tradition of freedom of the seas which they assumed to have a universal validity, but it also interfered with their desire to exploit the islands' marine resources—a right they tended to

take for granted as soon as they planted their flags. Colonial governments often passed laws that weakened or abolished marine tenure" (1978b:358-359).

In Papua New Guinea, however, colonial administrations implicitly recognized customary maritime rights. German and British colonial administrators acknowledged customary fishing rights (McCubbery 1969). The commodity trade for pearls, trochus shells and bêche-de-mer was covered by the Colonial Ordinances of British New Guinea from 1891. The Fisheries Ordinance of the Territory of New Guinea enacted by the British further recognized customary sea tenure with the provision, "this Ordinance shall not apply to any native fishing in waters in which by native custom he has any rights of fishing" (Williamson 1989:40). Later, the colonial Australian Pearl-Shell and Bêche-de-mer Ordinance of 1952-1953 provided coastal peoples with the exclusive right to all marine animals, except whales, to a distance of 800 meters offshore (Williamson 1989).

After independence Papua New Guinea signed the 1982 United Nations Convention on the Law of the Sea, which allows claim for a territorial sea of up to 12 nautical miles, an archipelagic sea with exclusive ownership of all marine resources, and a 200-nautical-mile Exclusive Economic Zone (EEZ). In addition to the Law of the Sea Convention, Papua New Guinea has signed other international treaties. The Convention on International Trade in Endangered Species of Wild Fauna and Flora (CITES) controls the taking and export of certain maritime species customarily acquired for subsistence and exchange by coastal peoples (Williamson 1989). Australia and Papua New Guinea cater for the Torres Strait Islanders and the Kiwai and other southwestcoast Papuans in a unique international treaty signed in 1978. Article 10 of this treaty establishes a Protected Zone in which the fishing practices of Islanders, the Kiwai, and other traditional owners are protected. Implementing the treaty is intended to accommodate indigenous sea tenure and provide for continuity of the subsistence fishery.

Papua New Guinea also enacted, in 1977, domestic ocean-resources and marine-territory laws collectively known as the National Seas Legislation. According to Williamson (1989), however, nothing in the act establishes the division of rights to Papua New Guinea waters within the state. Neither sovereignty under Section 2(2) of the Constitution nor regulation rights within internal waters through the Fisheries Act expressly confer state ownership rights to coastal waters. Beach areas belong to the state through the Mining Act. The Fisheries Act regulates the commercial fishery but does not reserve to the state fisheries owner-

ship. It is Section 5 of the Customs Recognition Act that implicitly recognizes the preexistence of customary rights to coastal-water fisheries according to the customs of the different indigenous peoples. These customary coastal-waters and fisheries rights can be interpreted to protect property from unjust deprivation by Section 53(1) of the Constitution (Williamson 1989).

At present there are three statutes that may be used to establish protected areas in Papua New Guinea. These are the National Parks, Conservation Areas, and Fauna (Protection and Control) Acts (Eaton 1985). The objectives of the National Parks Act (1982) is "to provide for the preservation of the environment and of the national cultural inheritance by . . . the conservation of sites and areas having particular biological, topographical, geographical, historical, scientific or social importance." The Conservation Areas Act (1978) has similar objectives; however, conservation areas established under this legislation do not have to be on public land but can be developed on land or marine space that is privately owned or held under customary tenure. Moreover, it includes provisions for a National Conservation Council to advise on the selection and management of conservation areas and "to encourage public interest in and knowledge of conservation areas and conservation generally," The Fauna (Protection and Control) Act (1966) is mainly concerned with protection through sanctuaries, protected areas, and wildlife-management areas of certain species of wildlife considered to be endangered. In sanctuaries all wildlife is protected except for certain specified animals that may be hunted. In protected areas certain specified fauna is protected and hunting of other types of wildlife is allowed. Wildlife-management areas represent an attempt to involve customary land and marine owners in the control of living-resource exploitation (Eaton 1985).

About 97 percent of Papua New Guinea is still held under customary land tenure (Eaton 1985; Pulea 1985; Williamson 1989). Only 1.4 million hectares of land, 3 percent of the total area, has been alienated from customary tenure. Most of this is held by the government, but 160,000 hectares are freehold and 340,000 hectares are leased to private interests (Eaton 1985). During the past decade it was estimated that there were 390,000 coastal people, or 13 percent of the total population, who exercised customary rights and use of marine resources (Frielink 1983). As previously discussed, land and sea tenure and ownership of resources are vested in kinship groups and use rights are inherited from a common ancestor. Land and sea tenure provides people with more than subsistence; it gives them their identity and constitutes the basis of their social relationships.

The relationship of indigenous CMT systems to the national government is analogous to the Law of the Sea Convention with respect to the EEZ (Nietschmann and Ely 1987; Williamson 1989). Jurisdiction over navigation, criminal activities, pollution, and environmental matters lies with the government, but as in the EEZ of the coastal state, ownership rights to living resources lie with the indigenous owners of use rights over the reefs. The granting of fishing licenses by the government without the consent of the indigenous owners of the reef would represent uncompensated expropriation (Williamson 1989). CMT ownership of marine space and species provides a strong cultural and historical base for present-day EEZ claims. When almost all of the tuna fishing grounds in the Pacific were transferred to EEZs, the U.S. fishermen became resource pirates until negotiating an appropriate fisheries treaty with the Forum Fishing Agency in 1986 (Nietschmann and Ely 1987).

The Future for CMT Management of Living Resources

In analyzing the potential and desirability of integrating Melanesian CMT into contemporary fisheries- and marine-management frameworks in the transboundary Torres Strait region, Cordell suggests that the following three questions stand out (1992:122): (1) What happens to CMT patterns during the transition from subsistence to commercial economies? (2) What are the resource-management and biological-conservation impacts of CMT? (3) What uses, if any, can be made of CMT systems that work to define user and access rights--in essence, to preserve the social order--rather than the balance of nature? These questions raise the critical ethical issues in CMT research: To what extent, if at all, do outsiders (anthropologists included) have the right to speak about and represent indigenous peoples' sea-tenure systems? The highest standards of professional accountability must apply and CMT studies should proceed only with the consent and active collaboration of the indigenous peoples involved. The peoples themselves should have the final say about what constitutes their CMT systems.

On the first question, Haines (1982), Carrier (1987), Johannes and MacFarlane (1992), and Polunin (1990) have concluded that CMT offers little potential to mitigate change and resolve conflict. Such a contentious conclusion appears premature given that these Melanesian sea-tenure estates, including the Marovo *puava* in the adjacent Solomons (Hviding 1988), remain some of the most extensive and sophisticated traditional knowledge systems in Oceania for spatially managing and socially regulating coral-reef fisheries (Clarke 1990). Wright (1990) takes the opposite position and describes CMT systems in Papua New

Guinea that have allowed the successful negotiation of the transition to modernity through commercial fishing ventures and has suggested that directions for utilizing CMT in the development of marine resources in Papua New Guinea may be found in the judicial system used at present to resolve village disputes over land rights.

On the second question, Johannes (1982b), Clarke (1990), and Nietschmann (1989) have already shown that through closed areas and seasons, food taboos, and game restrictions, Melanesian CMT systems in Papua New Guinea and the Torres Strait have enhanced species conservation. Carrier (1987), on the other hand, cautions that Ponam Islander limited-entry sea-tenure systems did not necessarily conserve resources and that it is dangerous to presume intended or Unintended conservation when one finds a limited-entry CMT system in Papua New Guinea. Indigenous peoples' choices in aquatic-resource use in Papua New Guinea and the transboundary Torres Strait Islands cannot he explained by open-access, common-property models and the terminology itself is misleading and inappropriate (Carrier 1987; Nietschmann 1989). Open-access common property assumes a model of optimization, that people act out of self-interest alone without regard for community. Lack of community designates the open-access commons but under CMT, sea-tenure holders in Papua New Guinea are well-defined peoples who do not lack use rights.

On the last question, what these CMT systems really do is consolidate a people's control over fishing grounds and defend against encroachment. Management utility of CMT systems should not stand or fall merely on the basis of a conservation test. Although it is doubtful that sea-tenure systems were designed purely with conservation in mind (Carrier 1987; Polunin 1990), they do represent important attempts by indigenous peoples to deal with problems of managing resources by controlling and restricting access (Cordell 1989, 1992). As Carrier points out, "because of the way repute was generated, however, the scarce resource was not fish but ownership itself, for this is what made it possible to be generous" (1987: 164). Melanesian CMT systems preserve the social order by embedding aquatic resources in the gift economy and the kinship mode of production.

More research will enable policymakers to go beyond documenting general features of CMTs to specifying how they can be integrated with contemporary systems of marine use. In Papua New Guinea indigenous owners of CMT systems can become involved in the protection of their living land and marine resources through wildlife-management areas. Of the eleven wildlife-management areas established, the first and larg-

est is Tonda, with 5,900 square kilometers in southwest Papua. The management committee regulates outsider hunting and fishing with licenses and royalties paid on deer, duck, and fish. Maza is the only completely marine management area and covers 184,230 hectares in the transboundary Torres Strait Islands region. Indigenous peoples, while having to contend with impositions on their commoditization of turtle, dugong, and fish catches, have expressed concerns over exploitation by commercial fishermen from outside the protected area. The great advantage of wildlife-management areas is that sea-tenure and land-tenure rights are retained by indigenous owners and CMT management is encouraged. The aim is sustainable utilization of renewable living resources.

Government policies and CMT systems need to accommodate one another. What seems the imperative is the principle and obligation of the Papua New Guinea government to uphold indigenous peoples' rights and controls over their ancestral marine domains. It is impossible to isolate the sea from the total fabric of maritime economy and culture. It is through customary sea tenure that Papua New Guinea's maritime peoples are progressing with past customs to forge their cultural identity in the modern world.

LITERATURE CITED

Akimichi, T.

1981 "Perception and Function: Traditional Resource Management in the Pacific Islands." *Resource Management and Optimization* 1 (4): 361-378.

Anell, B.

1955 Contributions to the History of Fishing in the South Seas. Uppsala, Sweden: Almqvist and Wiksells.

Baines, G.

1989 "Traditional Resource Managment in the Melanesian South Pacific: A Development Dilemma." In *Common Property Resources: Ecology and Community-based Sustainable Development*, ed. F. Berkes, 273-295. London: Bellhaven Press.

Balfour, H.

1913 "Kite Fishing." In *Essays and Studies Presented to William Ridgeway on His Sixtieth Birthday*, ed. E. C. Quiggin, 583-608. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Bell, F.

1953- "Land Tenure in Tanga." Oceania 24:28-57.

1954

Bergin, A.

1983 "Fisheries in the South Pacific." Asia Pacific Quarterly 22:20-32.

Carrier, J.

- 1981 "Ownership of Productive Resources on Ponam Island, Manus Province." *Journal de la Société des Océanistes* 37:205-217.
- 1982a "Conservation and Conceptions of the Environment: A Manus Case Study." In *Traditional Conservation in Papua New Guinea: Implicationsfor Today,* 39-43. *See* Mourata, Pernetta, and Heaney 1982.
- 1982b "Fishing Practices on Ponam Island (Manus Province), Papua New Guinea," *Anthropos* 77:904-915.
- 1987 "Marine Tenure and Conservation in Papua New Guinea." In *The Question of the Commons: The Culture and Ecology of Communal Resources*, ed. B. McCay and J. Acheson, 142-167. Tucson: University of Arizona Press.

Carrier, J., and A. Carrier

- 1983 "Profitless Property: Marine Ownership and Access to Wealth on Ponam Island, Manus Province." *Ethnology* 22: 133-151.
- 1989 "Marine Tenure and Economic Reward on Ponam Island, Manus Province." In *A Sea of Small Boats*, 94-121. *See* Cordell 1989.

Chapman, M.

1987 "Traditional Political Structure and Conservation in Oceania." *Ambio* 16 (4): 201-205.

Clarke, W. C.

1990 "Learning from the Past: Traditional Knowledge and Sustainable Development." *The Contemporary Pacific* 2 (2): 233-253.

Cordell, J.

- 1984 "Defending Customary Inshore Sea Rights." In *Maritime Institutions in the Western Pacific*, 301-326. See Ruddle and Akimichi 1984.
- 1991a "Lines in the Water: Sea Tenure as Custom Today in Western Oceania." In *Proceedings of the Torres Strait Baseline Study Conference*, 507-516. See Lawrence and Cansfield-Smith 1991.
- 1991b "Negotiating Sea Rights." Cultural Survival Quarterly 15 (2): 5-10.
- 1992 Managing Sea Country: Tenure and Sustainability of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Marine Resources. Canberra: Report on Indigenous Fishing, Ecological Sustainable Development Fisheries Working Group.

Cordell, J., ed.

1989 A Sea of Small Boats. Cambridge, Massachusetts: Cultural Survival.

Cordell, J., and J. Fitzpatrick

1987 "Cultural Identity and the Sea in Torres Strait." *Cultural Survival Quarterly* 11 (2): 15-17.

Couper, A.

1973 "Islanders at Sea: Change and Maritime Economies of the Pacific." In *The Pacific in Transition*, ed. H. Brookfield, 229-247. New York: St. Martin's Press.

Cragg, S.

1981 The Subsistence Economy of Umboi Island with Special Reference to the Role of Mangrove Swamps. Waigani: Office of Environment and Conservation.

1982 Coastal Resources and the Umboi Logging Project. Waigani: Office of Environment and Conservation.

Cranstone, B.

1972 "Fishing." In *The Encyclopaedia of Papua New Guinea*, ed. P. Ryan, 425-427. Carlton: Melbourne University Press.

Eaton. P.

1985 "Land Tenure and Conservation: Protected Areas in the South Pacific." *South Pacific Regional Environmental Programme/Topic Review* 17. Noumea: South Pacific Commission.

Epstein, A.

1963 "The Economy of Modern Matupit: Continuity and Change in the Gazelle Peninsula, New Britain." *Oceania* 33:182-215.

Ely, T.

1987 "Hunters of the Reefs: The Marine Geography of the Kiwai, Papua New Guinea." Ph.D. thesis, Department of Geography, University of California, Berkeley.

Fitzpatrick, J.

1991a "Home Reef Fisheries Development: A Report from Torres Strait." *Cultural Survival Quarterly* 5 (2): 18-20.

1991b "Maza: A Legend about Culture and the Sea." In *Proceedings of the Torres Strait Baseline Study Conference*, 335-347. See Lawrence and Cansfield-Smith 1991.

Frielink. A.

1983 *The Coastal Rural Population of Papua New Guinea.* Report No. 83-11. Port Moresby: Department of Primary Industry, Fisheries Division.

Frusher, S., and S. Subam

1981 "Traditional Fishing Methods and Practices in the Northern Gulf of Papua." *Harvest* 7: 15-158.

Gaigo, B.

1977 "Present Day Fishing Practices in Tatana Village." In *The Melanesian Environment*, ed. J. Winslow, 176-181. Canberra: Australian National University Press.

1982 "Past and Present Fishing Practices among the People of Tatana Village, Port Moresby." In *Traditional Conservation in Papua New Guinea: Implications for Today,* 301-302. See Mourata, Pernetta, and Heaney 1982.

Green, W., and H. Sanders

1979 Manus Province Tuna Cannery Environmental Study. Waigani: Office of Environment and Conservation.

Haines, A.

1978/ "The Subsistence Fishery of the Purari Delta." *Science in New Guinea* 6 (2): 80-1979 95.

1982 "Traditional Concepts and Practices and Inland Fisheries Management." In *Traditional Conservation in Papua New Guinea: Implications for Today*, 279-291. See Mourata, Pernetta, and Heaney 1982.

Haines, A., G. Williams, and D. Coates, eds.

1986 Proceedings of the Torres Strait Fisheries Seminar, Port Moresby, 11-14 February, 1985. Canberra: Australian Department of Primary Industry

Harding, T.

1967 Voyagers of the Vitiaz Strait: A Study of a New Guinea Trade System. Seattle: University of Washington Press.

Harris. D.

1977 "Subsistence Strategies Across the Torres Strait." In *Sunda and Sahul: Prehistoric Studies in Southeast Asia, Melanesia, and Australia,* ed. J. Golson, J. Allen, and R. Jones, 421-463. New York: Academic Press.

Hudson, B.

- 1986a "Dugongs: Traditional Harvesting and Conservation." In *Endangered Species: Social, Scientific, and Legal Aspects in Australia and the South Pacific,* ed. S. Burgin, 188-205. Sydney: Total Environment Centre.
- 1986b "The Hunting of Dugong (Mammalia, Sirenia) at Daru, Papua New Guinea during 1978-82: Community Education Initiatives." In *Proceedings of the Torres Strait Fisheries Seminar, Port Moresby, 11-14 February, 1985, 77-94. See* Haines, Williams, and Coates 1986.

Hviding, E.

1988 Marine Tenure and Resource Development in Marovo Lagoon, Solomon Islands: Traditional Knowledge, Use, and Management of Marine Resources with Implications for Contemporary Development. Honiara: Report to the South Pacific Forum Fisheries Agency.

Hyndman, D.

- 1991a "Wopkaimin Landowners, the Ok Tedi Project, and the Creation of the Fly River Socio-ecological Region." In *Proceedings of the Torres Strait Baseline Study Conference*, 355-366. *See* Lawrence and Cansfield-Smith 1991.
- 1991b "Zipping Down the Fly on the Ok Tedi Project." In *Mining and Indigenous Peoples in Australasia*, ed. J. Connell and R. Howitt, 77-90. Sydney: Sydney University Press.
- 1992 "Customary Marine Tenure in Papua New Guinea." In *Review of the Management and Status of Protected Areas and Action Plan.* Appendix C.2, 20-28. Brisbane: World Wide Fund for Nature, WWF Project 4668, and Papua New Guinea Department of Environment and Conservation.

Johannes, R.

- 1978a "Reef and Lagoon Tenure Systems in the Pacific." *South Pacific Bulletin* (4th Quarter): 31-34.
- 1978b "Traditional Marine Conservation Methods in Oceania and Their Demise." *Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics* 9:349-364.
- 1982a "Implications of Traditional Marine Resources Use for Coastal Fisheries Development in Papua New Guinea." In *Traditional Conservation in Papua New Guinea: Implications for Today,* 239-250. See Mourata, Pernetta, and Heaney 1982
- 1982b "Traditional Conservation Methods and Protected Marine Areas in Oceania." *Ambio* 11 (5): 258-261.

- 1989a "Criteria for Determining the Value of Traditional Marine Tenure Systems in the Context of the Contemporary Marine Resource Management." In *Report of the Workshop on Customary Tenure, Traditional Resource Management, and Nature Conservation.* Noumea: South Pacific Commission.
- 1989b "Managing Small-scale Fisheries in Oceania: Unusual Constraints and Opportunities." In *Economics of Fisheries Management in the Pacific Islands Region*, ed. H. Campbell, K. Menz, and G. Waugh. Canberra: ACIAR Proceedings, no. 26.

Johannes, R., and J. MacFarlane

- 1986 "Traditional Fishing Rights in the Torres Strait Islands." In *Proceedings of the Torres Strait Fisheries Seminar, Port Moresby, 11-14 February, 1985,* 31-37. See Haines, Williams, and Coates 1986.
- 1990 "Assessing Customary Marine Tenure Systems in the Context of Marine Resource Management: A Torres Strait Example." In *Traditional Marine Resource Management in the Pacific Basin: An Anthology,* 241-262. *See* Ruddle and Johannes 1990.
- 1991 "Torres Strait Traditional Fisheries Studies: Some Implications for Sustainable Development." In *Proceedings of the Torres Strait Baseline Study Conference*, 389-403. See Lawrence and Cansfield-Smith 1991.

Johannes, R., and J. MacFarlane, eds.

1992 Traditional Fishing in the Torres Strait Islands. Hobart: CSIRO Division of Fisheries.

Kearney, R.

- 1975 "Skipjack Tuna Fishing in Papua New Guinea." *Marine Fisheries Review* 37 (2): 5-8.
- 1977 "Prospects for Fisheries in Papua New Guinea." In *The Melanesian Environment*, ed. J. Winslow, 216-221. Canberra: Australian National University Press.

Keurs. P.

1989 "Some Remarks on Seafaring, Trade, and Canoe-Construction of the Siassi of Mandok Island." *Baessler-Archiv* 37:373-400.

Kwan, D.

1991 "The Artisanal Turtle Fishery in Daru, Papua New Guinea." In *Proceedings of the Torres Strait Baseline Study Conference*, 229-241. See Lawrence and Cansfield-Smith 1991.

Landtman, G.

1927 The Kiwai Papuans of British New Guinea. London: MacMillan.

Lauer, P.

1970 "Sailing with the Amphlett Islanders." *Journal of the Polynesian Society* 79 (4): 381-398.

Lawrence, D.

1991 "The Subsistence Economy of the Kiwai-speaking People of the Southwest Coast of Papua New Guinea." In *Proceedings of the Torres Strait Baseline Study Conference*, 367-378. See Lawrence and Cansfield-Smith 1991.

Lawrence, D., and T. Cansfield-Smith, eds.

1991 *Proceedings of the Torres Strait Baseline Study Conference.* Townsville: Great Barrier Reef Marine Park Authority.

Lipset, D.

1985 "Seafaring Sepiks: Ecology, Warfare, and Prestige in Murik Trade." *Research in* Economic *Anthropology* 7:67-94.

MacLean, J.

1978 "The Clam Gardens of Manus." Harvest 4: 160-163.

Malinowski. B.

1918 "Fishing and Fishing Magic in the Trobriand Islands." Man 18:87-92.

1922 Argonauts of the Western Pacific. London: E. P. Dutton.

Marsh. H.

1986 "The Status of the Dugong in Torres Strait." In *Proceedings of the Torres Strait Fisheries Seminar, Port Moresby, 11-14 February, 1985,* ed. A. Haines, G. Williams, and D. Coates, 53-76. Canberra: Australian Department of Primary Industry.

Marsh, H., and K. Saafeld

1991 "The Status of Dugong in the Torres Strait." In *Proceedings of the Torres Strait Baseline Study Conference*, 187-195. See Lawrence and Cansfield-Smith 1991.

McCubbery, C.

1969 "Marine Rights in the Pacific and New Guinea." In *Land Tenure and Indigenous Group Enterprise in Melanesia*, ed. R. Crocombe, 2. Third Waigani Seminar. Waigani: University of Papua New Guinea Press.

Miller, J., and C. Limpus

1991 "Torres Strait Marine Turtle Resources." In *Proceedings of the Torres Strait Baseline Study Conference*, 213-227. See Lawrence and Cansfield-Smith 1991.

Moore, R.

1977 "Management of Traditional Fisheries Resources in Papua New Guinea." In *Agriculture in the Tropics,* ed. B. Enys and T. Varhase, 147-154. Waigani: University of Papua New Guinea Press.

Moulik, T.

1973 *Money, Motivation, and Cash-cropping.* Canberra: New Guinea Research Bulletin, no. 53.

Mourata, L., J. Pernetta, and W. Heaney, eds.

1982 Traditional Conservation in Papua New Guinea: Implications for Today. Boroko: Institute of Applied Social and Economic Research.

Narokobi, C.

1984 "The Law of the Sea and the South Pacific." Ambio 13:372-376.

Nietschmann, B.

1989 "Traditional Sea Territories, Resources, and Rights in Torres Strait." In *A Sea of Small Boats*, 60-94. *See* Cordell 1989.

Nietschmann, B., and T. Ely

1987 "The New Pacific." Cultural Survival Quarterly 11 (2): 7-9.

Nietschmann, B., and J. Nietschmann

1981 "Good Dugong, Bad Dugong; Good Turtle, Bad Turtle." *Natural History* 90 (5): 54-63.

Norgan, N., and J. Durnin

1974 "The Energy and Nutrient Intake and the Energy Expenditure of 204 New Guinea Adults." *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London B* 268:309-348.

Olewale, E., and D. Sebu

1982 "Momoro (The Dugong) in the Western Province." In *Traditional Conservation in Papua New Guinea: Implications for Today*, 251-256. See Mourata, Pernetta, and Heaney 1982.

Panoff, M.

1969- "Land Tenure among the Maenge of New Britain." *Oceania* 40:177-194. 1970

Pernetta, J., and L. Hill

1983 "A Review of Marine Resource Use in Coastal Papua." *Journal de la Société des Océanistes* 37:175-191.

Polunin, N.

1990 "Do Traditional Marine 'Reserves' Conserve? A View of the Indonesian and New Guinea Evidence." In *Traditional Marine Resource Management in the Pacific Basin: An Anthology,* 191-212. *See* Ruddle and Johannes 1990.

Pomponio, A.

1992 Seagulls Don't Fly into the Bush: Cultural Identity and Development in Melanesia. Belmont. California: Wadsworth.

Pulea. M.

1985 *Customary Law Relating to the Environment.* South Pacific Regional Environment Programme Topic Review, no. 212. Noumea: South Pacific Commission.

Pulseford, R.

1975 "Ceremonial Fishing for Tuna by the Motu of Pari." *Oceania* 66:107-113.

Quinn, N., B. Kojis, and P. Warpeha, eds.

n.d. Subsistence Fishing Practices of Papua New Guinea. Lae: Papua New Guinea University of Technology.

Rodman, M.

1989 Deep Water: Development and Change in Pacific Village Fisheries. Boulder, Colorado: Westview Press.

Ruddle, K., and T. Akimichi, eds.

1984 *Maritime Institutions in the Western Pacific.* Senri Ethnological Series, no. 17. Osaka: National Museum of Ethnology.

Ruddle, K., and R. Johannes, eds.

1990 Traditional Marine Resource Management in the Pacific Basin: An Anthology. Study No. 2. Jakarta: UNESCO/ROSTEA.

Schoeffel, P.

1985 "Women in the Fisheries of the South Pacific." In *Women in Development in the South Pacific*, ed. H. Hughes, 156-175. Canberra: Development Studies Centre, Australian National University.

South Pacific Commission

1988 Proceedings of the Workshop on Pacific Inshore Fisheries Resources. Noumea: South Pacific Commission.

Spring, S.

1982 "Subsistence Hunting of Marine Turtles in Papua New Guinea." In *Biology and Conservation of Sea Turtles*, ed. K. Bjirndal, 291-296. Washington, D.C.: Smithsonian Institution Press.

Swadling, P.

1977 "Depletion of Shellfish in the Traditional Gathering Beds of Pari." In *The Melanesian Environment*, ed. J. Winslow, 182-187. Canberra: Australian National University.

Tenakanai, C.

1986 "The Papua New Guinea Traditional Fisheries Study." In *Proceedings of the Torres Strait Fisheries Seminar, Port Moresby, 11-14 February, 1985, 38-43. See* Haines, Williams, and Coates 1986.

Williamson, H.

1989 "Conflicting Claims to the Gardens of the Sea: The Traditional Ownership of Resources in the Trobriand Islands of Papua New Guinea." *Melanesian Law Journal* 17:26-42.

Wright, A.

1990 "Marine Resource Use in Papua New Guinea: Can Traditional Concepts and Contemporary Development Be Integrated?' In *Traditional Marine Resource Management in the Pacific Basin: An Anthology*, 301-323. See Ruddle and Johannes 1990.

EDITOR'S FORUM

PREDICAMENTS IN POLYNESIA: CULTURE AND CONSTITUTIONS IN WESTERN SAMOA AND TONGA

Rodney C. Hills

Centre for Pacific Development and Training

Mosman, New South Wales

Both Western Samoa and Tonga have adopted unique constitutions, each reached by very different recent histories. Yet two hundred years ago these societies appeared similar, at least to foreigners. This essay briefly compares and contrasts the histories of Western Samoa and Tonga, whose formal constitutions were devised with necessary compromises between tradition and modernity in order to cope with modern legislative needs. The Western Samoan and Tongan constitutions have recently faced challenges to the systems of representation originally devised in them. These challenges are described and the advantages and disadvantages faced by each country in adapting to change are briefly discussed in terms of its attitudes to history, tradition, and contemporary politics.

Samoa and Tonga lie in the southwest extremity of Polynesia, which spreads to Hawaii far to the northeast and to beyond French Polynesia to the southeast. Tonga and Western Samoa are two of the geographically closest Polynesian countries: Their nearest islands are a mere 300 kilometers apart. The people and their ways of life were and are more similar to each other than to those of the Melanesian countries to the northwest. For centuries there was both friendly and warlike contact between them. There was chiefly intermarriage, and each nation figures in the traditional stories and legends of the other.

Starting with similar Polynesian social systems, Samoa and Tonga

were in contact with European and American influences from the earliest part of the nineteenth century. By the close of that century the government of Samoa was fragmented in the face of colonization while Tonga had developed a centralized government.

Eventually, both nations established national independence with constitutional compromises between the need for modernity and a desire to maintain Polynesian custom and tradition. Recently, in both Tonga and Western Samoa, some of these compromises have been threatened, and political reforms are either under way or will have to be considered to maintain domestic stability. A 1990 referendum in Western Samoa showed a majority of those who voted to be in favor of universal suffrage in place of voting by *matai* (titled chiefs, the heads of extended families); in Tonga pressure is growing for more-accountable government and better-balanced representation through a redistribution of seats in the Legislative Assembly. In each case, the changes would undermine traditional allegiances to chiefs in favor of a more-representative political system.

The Precontact Period: Constitutional Foundations

Precontact life is summarized here, on the basis of accounts by Meleisea et al. (1987b) for Samoa and Latukefu (1974) for Tonga.

There is little evidence of major differences between the lifestyles in Samoa and Tonga when they were first observed by foreigners. Kinship structures were almost identical. Families, and particularly orators, studied and memorized genealogies that affirmed the position and rank of individuals and family groups. The position and status of women were particularly important, with the eldest sister in each family carrying the highest social rank. Differences among ranks were enforced by social rules.

Both societies had layers of chiefs, some of whose functions were real while those of others were more spiritual, and society placed taboos on the interaction of chiefs with others. Punishments for breaking taboos were strict and sometimes brutal. Both Samoa and Tonga had language structures in which respect and status were implicit and indirectness was important. Although chiefly rank was, to some extent, expected to be inherited, the real situation was fluid. Ascendancy relied as much on having the support of an influential constituency as on inheritance. Both Samoa and Tonga had mechanisms by which an incompetent successor with claims through inheritance could be debarred from holding a position of authority.

Both societies had reciprocal obligation systems to which both the highest and lowest members contributed. The contributions could take many forms. The resulting chiefly authority was finely balanced with community decision making through consensus. People and land were closely linked, strengthening other kin relationships. While on one level a person would have a strong spiritual relation to a particular place, on another level there could be claims of wide-ranging relationships of varying importance to other families and places. These would be brought into play according to the political needs of particular circumstances. In both countries the management and distribution of land was a responsibility of local chiefs. Tenure was given in return for services and could be withdrawn.

Some evidence suggests Tonga was more inclined to centralized authority than Samoa. For example, in Samoa the fono (a meeting or council) was a mechanism for discussion of village policies; meetings would go on for days until agreement evolved. In Tonga, the *fono* seems to have been a meeting at which chiefly decisions were conveyed to village members without discussion (Martin 1817). Latukefu (1975) notes that offenders in Tonga were not brought before the *fono* for public trial as in Samoa. Offenses were dealt with directly by *'eiki* (nobles): There was no appeal against punishment.

Centralization of authority was more evident in Tonga also in the early emergence of a supreme spiritual ruler who was revered by the population at large but appeared to exercise little practical power. A quite different pattern emerged in Samoa, where there remained four paramount chiefs with similar status to each other, none of whom even today is able to claim a superior role--at least in traditional terms.

Constitutional Development: Foreign Influences

Both Samoa and Tonga experienced precolonial settlement led by traders and missionaries. Early visitors to both countries found Polynesians remarkably hospitable, indeed welcoming. Beachcombers were able to settle and eke out relatively comfortable lifestyles in harmony with Polynesian populations. But hospitality expressed a formal obligation, unrelated to personal attitudes and emotions. As a result of these early foreign settlements, protection of foreign nationals was to become a significant issue in the external relations of both countries. Samoa was subject to more intensive economic exploitation than Tonga because it offered extensive yet compact fertile land better suited to agriculture, and it had an excellent harbor close to busy marine trade routes. As a

result Samoa experienced greater competition between the great rivals for power in the Pacific.

In the mid-nineteenth century the United States of America, Britain, and Germany were involved. Rivalry between Britain and the United States resulted in Samoa's having a premier who was an American in 1875. But German interests became paramount following the Berlin General Act of 1889 and its revision in 1899, which formalized the spheres of interest of Great Britain and Germany in the Treaty of Berlin. Eastern Samoa came under American influence with the agreed establishment of a coaling station there in 1878, leading eventually to its annexation. There was German settlement in Tonga, particularly in Vava'u in the north, but arrangements between the powers after 1889 precluded German colonization. In addition, Tonga's 1875 constitution stated that land could not be sold to foreigners, only leased for restricted periods following cabinet approval. As a result, the foreign pressures on land that dominated the political process in Samoa never appeared in Tonga.

Both countries adopted with enthusiasm different forms of Christianity purveyed by the first missionaries and both accorded high rank to church pastors. In each case missionaries were to find that they were cleverly used by the local populations within preexisting political structures (Garrett 1982). Samoa was a base for the Congregational Church while Tonga became a stronghold of the Wesleyan Methodists. In the latter half of the nineteenth century, the leaders of the Methodist Church in Tonga became closely involved in Tongan politics. This had no parallel in Samoa. Tonga's King George Tupou I sought advice from many church advisors, but the key player became the Reverend Shirley Waldemar Baker (Garrett 1982; Rutherford 1971), culminating in the 1875 Tongan Constitution by which the State of Tonga was formally centralized as a kingdom. This process is described in Latukefu (1974, 1975). Minority churches were later established in both countries.

In Tonga the Catholic Church was adopted by the Ha'a Havea chiefs and became entangled in their local political rivalries. Their defeat by the Methodist chiefs in 1852 left a political legacy that festered for years. In both countries the Mormon Church has made significant gains, supported by extensive foreign funding during the twentieth century.

Internally Tonga underwent a bloody unification during the period from 1830 to 1852. George Tupou I was able to unify Tonga through his own political ambition, an ability to undertake mobile marine warfare, and access to captured guns and a few foreigners who could use them. Although there were competing claims to his formal position as the Tuʻi

Kanokupolu, his conquests were of such effectiveness that his position was never again formally questioned. In turn he had no difficulty obtaining recognition as "King" from Europeans and others who were comfortable with that concept and who wished to obtain his protection.

George Tupou I embarked on preconstitutional reform through a series of edicts that reformed and codified traditional practice in 1839, 1850, and 1862. Then, in cooperation and collaboration with the church and foreign advisers, he announced the 1875 constitution. Debate continues about why there was such an innovative constitutional outcome: whether it was the influence of the king, or his entrepreneurial adviser; or a convenient and far-sighted marriage of the two forceful personalities involved; or a response to a domestic need, or to international pressures.

Whatever the cause, the development of a constitution in Tonga was presented as a *fait accompli* by the king, who won necessary noble, or chiefly, support for a more positive and active role for himself. He accomplished this by trading off the weakened power of many minor chiefs against the political dominance of a small number of important ones who became entrenched by obtaining hereditary titles under the new constitution. It would seem that the Tongan predisposition to authority made the country as a whole more receptive to accepting the foreign advice that led to this centralization.

It was also in the interest of the Methodist Church to promote unity through a leader who had adopted their denomination. This was achieved through a constitutional structure based on the Western principles of the Hawaiian model, which most easily fitted Tonga's rather authoritarian version of Polynesian culture. Had the Reverend Shirley Baker interacted with Tongan leaders fifty years earlier, when regional chiefs were stronger and more independent, a different and less centralized Tongan state might have emerged.

Tongans often claim that the triumph of the Tongan Constitution was that it allowed Tonga to fend off foreign interests and influences throughout the colonial period. As a result the Tongan way of life was protected. This argument ignores the fact that Tonga had already absorbed many aspects of a modern (or at least foreign) state in the new constitution. Among the most important of these aspects were: a legally adopted written constitution, the introduction of universal suffrage, hereditary estates and titles, an independent legal structure, a parliament, a national currency, restricted immigration, and land protection. The Tongan claim ignores also the fact that Tonga was forced to accept protectorate status under Britain from 1900 to 1970.

Tonga has been relatively tranquil from 1860 to the present. But this

was arguably a period of parochial introspection that left Tonga's governments with limited international experience. This characterization is particularly true following ratification of the Treaty of Friendship and Protection with Britain that Tonga was forced to accept in 1900. The treaty allowed a sometimes-intrusive British influence in foreign relations, defense, and economic matters, although the basis for this is unclear (Latukefu 1975).

In contrast to Tonga, Western Samoa suffered wars between competing chiefs until 1900, and no single chief became ascendant. Power in Western Samoa remained dissipated among four titles, the holders of which were basically content to live in competitive harmony. The titles were Malietoa (a title derived from the defeat of the invading Tongans), Tamasese, Tuimaleali'ifano and Mata'afa. Foreign settlers, however, were so uncomfortable with this arrangement that they constantly, tried either to impose or invent a "king" (So'o 1988). This foreign preference, coupled with sympathetic Samoan attitudes toward joint ownership of titles, resulted in a joint "kingship" in 1874 between Malietoa Laupepa and Tupua Pulepule.

Then, either unable to withstand or indifferent to the jockeying among groups of foreign residents from the 1830s to 1962, Western Samoa found itself with colonial status. Colonial pressure grew out of commercial interests, particularly the desire to protect land that had been developed for copra plantations by German companies. A need to protect nationals flowed from this investment. The western portion of the Samoan Islands group was under German rule (1900-1914), then was governed by New Zealand (1914-1944), followed by a United Nations mandate (1945-1961). Finally, Western Samoa became independent in 1962. So while Tonga maintained its unity and regarded itself as independent, Western Samoa was fragmented internally and the only central authority was a colonial one.

In Western Samoa the church was much less influential in domestic politics. Whatever its predisposition elsewhere, the Congregational Church in Western Samoa devolved authority more than the Methodist Church in Tonga, and it did not intervene on behalf of a central government and did not encourage the adoption of foreign concepts of government that were introduced by the colonizing powers. In Western Samoa, the political system did not provide a central authority with which a church could align itself.

Village life in Western Samoa continued to be resilient in the face of changes introduced by central government. Local communities remained the source of authority for Western Samoans through to and beyond the time when a written constitution was adopted. So, in Western Samoa to the present, villagers still meet in the *fono* to discuss the selection of their leaders. Except in the parliamentary arena, where universal suffrage has been introduced, the process remains relatively fluid. The multitude of nuances that make a leadership choice appropriate or otherwise can be brought into play. These procedures have not been codified and some argue that the introduction of formal processes, including the Land and Titles Court, has made it more difficult to resolve disputes because positions are argued more formally and go on the public record (Meleisea 1987a).

Undoubtedly, pressure for centralization was present in both countries from the 1830s onward. But in Western Samoa centralization never took root. It was probably in the commercial settlers' and half-castes' interests to support a strong centralized government in the hands of Samoans if they could depend on it for support; otherwise they would prefer a rather diffuse and powerless one that fostered continuity of Samoa's village-based consultative government system. It seems the Samoans thought so too. As a result, during the colonial period Western Samoa experienced much stronger foreign political and commercial influences than Tonga. These included: the growth of a much larger, influential half-caste community that developed from relations among Samoans, merchants, and contract laborers; the emergence and demise of an independence movement (the Mau); and negotiations with both the New Zealand administration and the United Nations over a constitution for independence.

During this active period, when society and government was changing and evolving in Western Samoa, Tonga's foreign affairs and some aspects of internal administration were managed by Britain. Latukefu's accounts of Tongan history describe a period of introversion (1974, 1975), when effort was consumed in domestic disputes over finance, church management, and title succession.

The Tongan and Western Samoan Constitutions

Tonga's constitution was handed down in 1875, Western Samoa's adopted in 1962. Over the space of ninety years, two constitutions emerged in quite different historical circumstances. Both bridged the gap between a need for representative constitutional government and a traditional system where social rank carried authority. The two constitutions work out compromises in different ways.

Tonga's constitution introduced a hereditary head of state of the kind

associated with established constitutional monarchies (although based on Hawaiian precedents), so Tonga's is one of the most recently established constitutional monarchies in the world, despite claims that the chiefly line can be traced much further back. Headship of state in Tonga is determined by hereditary claim on the male side. Paradoxically, it came into being at a time of emerging and spreading republicanism in the world as a whole.

In contrast, Western Samoa's 1962 constitution set up a headship of state with no clear succession rules, largely because conference delegates could not agree on a succession mechanism. Headship was first held by the *fautua* (advisers), Tupua Tamasese and Malietoa. Tupua died in 1963, and the Head of State is now Malietoa. In the future the Western Samoan constitution allows the Head of State to be selected by an undefined procedure of the Legislative Assembly. This would allow the election of a paramount chief by a "traditional" process in the parliament, which would mirror the older process of the village *fono*. Meleisea notes that the Samoan constitution was "written in a spirit which assumed that all the contradictions . . . would be solved by the the next generation" (1987a:211).

Tonga and Western Samoa each adopted a unicameral legislature, reflecting the smallness of the countries and a relatively simple approach to representation. However, the procedure in each for choosing a prime minister and cabinet is quite different. In Tonga these choices are in the hands of the monarch, while in Western Samoa the prime minister is appointed by the Head of State from among members of the legislature. The member who commands the support of the fono is chosen. Perhaps as a result of a need for support within the legislature, and a complex of other factors (So'o 1988), Western Samoa developed aspects of a party system that now complement other processes in the selection of the prime minister. This never developed in Tonga where the king still chooses the prime minister, who need not be from among elected parliamentarians. In Tonga today the prerogative of the king in both parliamentary and traditional senses is being questioned by a more educated electorate. In Western Samoa the opposite problem is emerging, that of how to find suitable positions and responsibilities for paramount chiefs who may be denied either traditional or formal roles by a more democratic process.

The two constitutions confronted the issues of representation and respect for chiefly rank in different ways. In the Tongan model the Legislative Assembly has two sets of members other than the cabinet members chosen by the king. One set is the peoples' representatives elected

by the commoners on the basis of universal suffrage. The second set is the nobles' representatives elected by the thirty-three hereditary titleholders. The numbers in each group have varied throughout Tonga's constitutional period and are currently equal. Thus both electors and their representatives are stratified by rank. The strengths and weaknesses of this approach have been discussed elsewhere (Hills 1991b). In Western Samoa the only voters under the original constitution were the matai. The fact that the franchise was restricted has to be seen in context, especially that matai were elected after wide-ranging debate in the aiga (an extended kinship group). So the choice itself was a two-stage process, each stage allowing a different rank to play a role in selection. with the aiga delegating responsibility to its matai. The Tongan structure with its basis in universal suffrage may seem more modern than the Samoan model, but it is less fluid: Half the representatives are elected by only thirty-three nobles who, combined with government ministers, control the majority in the Legislative Assembly. This control has recently become an issue (Hills 1991a).

In other aspects the constitutions are similar. Both set the modern state within a framework of Christian principles, and their general constitutional framework is similar to that of many other countries that obtained independence in the 1960s (Levine 1983). Perhaps because Western Samoa was governed under a United Nations mandate, which followed a turbulent colonial history, it became the first Pacific island country to obtain full independence, in 1962.

Although Tonga and Western Samoa obtained their constitutions eighty-seven years apart, following quite different colonial histories and separated by a time span during which attitudes to colonialism changed dramatically, the two constitutions were fundamentally similar in that the structure of the legislature and representation within it was a compromise between chiefly leadership and representational democracy.

Contemporary Constitutional Challenges

The constitutional compromises in both Western Samoa and Tonga have been tested during the last ten years in the face of increased public concern for even greater participation in government, combined with evidence suggesting the abuse of power by vested interests.

In Western Samoa, challenges arose during the period when only *matai* could vote after new *matai* titles were created with no function other than to create additional votes for candidates in parliamentary elections (the *matai palota*). The abuse of the *matai* system was the

basis of demands for universal suffrage that developed in the late 1980s. In Tonga, the issue of representation arose from the inability of the peoples' representatives in parliament to bring ministers to account for what were seen as unreasonable claims on public funds for overtime and overseas travel allowances.

In both cases the demands of a few individuals quickly gained sympathy from an emerging well-educated middle class, frequently with overseas education and experience, who wanted to participate more fully in the processes of government. These critics of Polynesian politics saw traditional processes as slow and inefficient, and were concerned about their personal and economic future in countries where they perceived the majority of policy decisions lay with a relatively less-educated, elderly chiefly group who appeared to have a vested interest in holding onto the power vested in them by the early constitutions.

Reform of the Tongan constitution can be effected only through parliamentary amendment. But this is only possible with the king's acquiesence. In Western Samoa, reform can be obtained through general referendum. The country has shown itself to be more adaptable than Tonga: Its 1990 referendum on universal suffrage changed the voting system radically when it became clear that *matai* titles were being abused. Meleisea (1987a) and Soʻo (1988) have noted that this abuse was a threat to Samoan tradition as well as to the political system, and the situation is now rectified. There is, paradoxically, evidence that reform took place because conservative voters, who did not want change, abstained from voting in the referendum.

Meanwhile, Tonga has a continuing problem over the balance of representation between commoners and nobles in its parliament and the role of the monarchy, Reform of Tonga's parliamentary structure is almost impossible because a combination of government ministers and nobles' representatives can always outvote the nine peoples' representatives who have been seeking change. A solution can take several forms; although one is parliamentary reform through constitutional amendment, attitudes among many current members seem to make this relatively easy route quite impossible (Hills 1991a). In addition, the inequality of representation can only get worse as the overall population grows while the number of hereditary titles is fixed. In the interim, in the face of a clearly unsatisfactory situation, Tonga is undergoing a period of social tension that unhappily is undermining its reputation for social justice and stability. Tongan observers who support reform are divided between those who would prefer to use the parliamentary system and those who feel that they must appeal directly to the king. Certain of the current parliamentarians and ministers are perceived to have vested interests, and the reformers in the parliament have little real power (*Matangi Tonga* 1992).

Tonga also faces the possible introduction of political parties. It is said that Tonga is too small to need parties and that the reciprocity of the social system makes them unnecessary. However, since the 1990 Tonga general election and most recently under pressure from increasingly active pressure groups, parliamentarians, government ministers, and the churches have discussed forming political parties both for and against the government. Interestingly, in the Tongan case, if any parties were formed now they would more likely be based on a platform (either of constitutional reform or opposition to it) than as a reflection of kin relationships. However, the most radical reformist proposals of 'Akilisi Pohiva, Vili Fukofuka, and Futa Helu seem more likely to split reformist parliamentarians than unite them.

The churches, which have commoner leadership, have always played a significant role in domestic Tongan politics and both sides are seeking their support. Although outspoken churchmen have supported calls for reform of parliamentary representation, the government has been looking for a conservative alliance with the churches under the traditional Tongan banner of "Church and State," perhaps with a view to initiating a pro-government party.

Western Samoa had no political parties in its early years of independence. They emerged in the 1970s and 1980s under the leadership of first Va'ai Kolone, then Tupuola Efi, then Tofilau Eti. However, while labels as "parties" convey an air of modernity, they have not been platforms for the presentation of coherent policies (although this may be changing). Rather they have been a mechanism for welding together, in a more formal and modern way, the kinship and interest groups related to a particular leader.

Tonga's capacity to live comfortably with a centralized government remains strong, but the other face of centralization is a tendency to turn to oppression, as illustrated by comments from Tonga's police minister about reintroducing capital punishment for treason (*Matangi Tonga* 1991). This facet of political activity has happily been absent from Western Samoa. So Tonga has been uncomfortable adjusting to pressures for change, in contrast to the response in Western Samoa in 1990.

Despite the absence of political parties, popular domestic movements, both organized and spontaneous, have grown in Tonga since 1975. There are embryonic unionlike organizations in Tonga among teachers and nurses. For example, in 1988 science teachers were able to

organize strong public protest against an American group that proposed building a toxic-waste incinerator. Similarly, in 1991 the peoples' representatives in the parliament, together with church leaders, led an unprecedented public demonstration against the sale of Tongan passports to foreigners. Tonga has not experienced anything of the kind Western Samoa saw in the Mau between 1926 and 1930. The Mau was a political independence movement, of a kind unnecessary in Tonga where the British presence was low-key: More recently in Western Samoa, unions have been able to create disruption through organized strike activity, such as by the public service in 1981 and by nurses in 1989. These activities in both Western Samoa and Tonga show that there is growing awareness of the value and use of public pressure out.. side traditional consultation processes when those processes have not responded appropriately to new challenges.

Both Western Samoa and Tonga now have economies of the kind described as "migration, remittance, aid, and bureaucracy" based (MIRAB) (Bertram and Watters 1985; Watters 1987). Their terms of trade in agricultural products have become depressed and their range of alternative exports is limited. Accurate figures are hard to come by, but both countries have 40 to 50 percent of their populations living overseas and remitting what amounts to some 30 percent of their gross domestic product (Ahlburg 1991). Depressed economic conditions caused by chronically low growth rates lead to ever greater pressure for outmigration, which in turn leads to foreign experience and overseas education. Returned migrants are the base for much political dissatisfaction, so challenges to tradition will continue as long as economic conditions lead to the out-migration of citizens who hope to return home eventually.

In both countries aid has become an important source of public finance, and governments are becoming increasingly dependent on it, Western Samoa and Tonga both have to find ways of adjusting to growing consumer expectations. Neither is being forced to make difficult economic choices about long-term public investment because there is no shortage of investment capital, now largely provided through international aid arrangements. However, national financial management will become more and more critical as each country integrates into the international economy, particularly if migration regulations are tightened or if aid flows decrease as the Pacific competes with growing needs in Eastern Europe.

In these circumstances government will have to be efficient and honest if it is to receive the endorsement of those governed. The mix of tra-

ditional and parliamentary arrangements, which delegates authority to a chiefly group, may not be able to withstand the demands for transparency and accountability the contemporary world expects.

Conclusions

Samoa and Tonga began the early nineteenth century with similar social and political conditions. Since 1852 Tonga has been relatively stable and isolated, while Western Samoa has been buffeted by colonialism. In constitutional arrangements, each tried to adapt representational government to its own traditions and has found that the compromise with chiefly authority has worked only partially. In the late 1980s both began to face strains that will require adaptive responses. So far, by introducing universal suffrage, Samoa has tackled the challenges more successfully than Tonga.

Tonga accepted the features of the modern state earlier, absorbing the central tenets of representational parliamentary government in 1875. Tonga adopted a centralized and relatively authoritarian government easily, both because the nation was united militarily and because Tongan chiefs were more authoritarian than Samoan *matai*. This form of government laid the foundation for one hundred years of stability but was a distortion of Polynesian traditions that Tongans themselves now seem unwilling to accept.

Both Samoan and Tongan societies show respect for social rank, but in Western Samoa rank has not become as central to government as in Tonga. Tonga grasped an early opportunity to integrate rank into a nineteenth-century constitution. Some aspects of that constitution, including hereditary titles and the land-holding system, have dated rapidly and today appear to be anachronisms. Tonga's early adoption of these foreign elements is now causing difficulty in reforming them to meet new political challenges.

In Tonga Polynesian adaptability disappeared with the introduction of hereditary titles. The system lost its fluidity, and an important political dimension disappeared from local life. More recently, as the central government in Tonga has taken over the judicial and welfare functions that were once in the hands of chiefs, the chiefs have become even more distanced from their traditional roles. In modern Tonga nobles have to make an explicit effort to maintain a traditional relationship to their people. A few have succeeded: An example is the king's son, 'Ulukalala Lavaka-'Ata, who has returned to live in one of his estates.

In Western Samoa problems of maintaining the traditional chiefly

functions appeared when new *matai* titles were created for parliamentary purposes. This difficulty has now been overcome with the change to universal suffrage. So Western Samoa, with its more varied colonial history and diffuse leadership pattern, has emerged as more adaptable than Tonga in the face of modern political challenges.

Meleisea (1987a) makes an interesting point about Samoan government, that Euro-American thinking assumes that centralization of government is synonymous with "modern" government. As a result, many occidental writers have assumed that Tongan government is more modern than Samoan. In addition, the Tongan system of government is popularly seen as classically Polynesian, because it emphasizes authority and rank relationships in a way foreigners can understand. In contrast, Soʻo (1988) claims that in the 1940s Western Samoans were unconvinced of any need to change their village-based form of government. This comparative study suggests that the Western Samoan decentralized system has maintained Polynesian principles more truly and now demonstrates greater capacity to adapt constitutionally.

Each nation now faces challenges that flow from its history. In Western Samoa there remains a need to identify organization and authority, in Tonga the reverse--the need is to to allow the expression and adoption of dissenting views.

NOTE

I should like to thank reviewers and other readers for their helpful comments on earlier drafts of this essay.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

Ahlburg, D.

1991 Remittances and Their Impact: A Study of Tonga and Western Samoa. Pacific Policy Paper 7. Canberra: National Centre for Development Studies, Australian National University.

Bertram, I. G., and R. F. Watters

1985 "The MIRAB Economy in South Pacific Microstates." *Pacific Viewpoint* 26 (3): 497-519.

Davidson, J. W.

1967 Samoa mo Samoa. Melbourne: Oxford University Press.

Garrett, J.

1982 *To Live among the Stars: Christian Origins in Oceania.* Geneva and Suva: World Council of Churches in association with the Institute of Pacific Studies, University of the South Pacific.

Hills, R. C.

1991a "The 1990 Election in Tonga." The Contemporary Pacific 3 (2): 357-378.

1991b *Tonga's Constitution and the Changing State.* Regime Change and Regime Maintainance in Asia and the Pacific Series, Discussion Paper No. 4. Canberra: Department of Social and Political Change, Research School of Pacific Studies. Australian National University.

Latukefu, S.

1974 Church and State in Tonga. Canberra: Australian National University Press.

1975 *The Tongan Constitution: A Brief History to Celebrate Its Centenary.* Nukuʻalofa: Tonga Traditions Committee.

Levine, S.

1983 Pacific Power Maps: An Analysis of the Constitutions of Pacific Island Polities. Working Paper Series of the Pacific Island Studies Center for Asia and Pacific Studies. Honolulu: University of Hawaii at Manoa.

Martin, J.

1817 Tonga Islands: William Mariner's Account. Reprint. Neiafu: Vava'u Press. 1981.

Matangi Tonga

1991 Vol. 6, no. 2, March-April, p. 31.

1992 Vol. 7, no. 5, September-November. pp. 8-12.

Meleisea, M.

1987a The Making of Modern Samoa. Suva and Apia: University of the South Pacific.

Meleisea. M., et al.

1987b *Lagaga: A Short History of Western Samoa.* Suva and Apia: University of the South Pacific.

Rutherford, N.

1971 Shirley Baker and the King of Tonga. Melbourne: Oxford University Press.

So'o, A. S.

1988 "Constitutional Developments in Western Samoa." M.A. thesis, University of Waikato, New Zealand.

Watters, R.

1987 "MIRAB Societies and Bureaucratic Elites." In *Class and Culture in the South Pacific*, ed. A. Hooper, S. Britton, R. Crocombe, J. Huntsman, and C. Macpherson, 32-55. Auckland and Suva: Centre for Pacific Studies, University of Auckland; Institute of Pacific Studies, University of the South Pacific.

REVIEWS

Nancy McDowell, *The Mundugumor: From the Field Notes of Margaret Mead and Reo Fortune*. Smithsonian Series in Ethnographic Inquiry. Washington and London: Smithsonian Institution Press, 1991. Pp. 337, figures, tables, genealogies, diagrams, bibliography, index. USS45.00 cloth.

Reviewed by Michael W. Young, Australian National University

Few New Guinea peoples have received such a bad ethnographic press as the Mundugumor of the Yuat River. Picture a "fierce group of cannibals," "gay, hard, arrogant," "proud, harsh, and violent," "competitive, aggressively sexed, jealous and ready to see and avenge insult, delighting in display, in action, in fighting." Reluctant, rejecting mothers, the women were as tough and assertive as the men. Thus Margaret Mead presented a bleakly savage portrait of Mundugumor ethos in her popular classic on male and female socialization, *Sex and Temperament in Three Primitive Societies* (London, 1935). In that book, the Mundugumor formed the centerpiece of a triptych of contrasting Sepik cultures, set between the Mountain Arapesh and the Tchambuli (modern Chambri).

In late 1932, Mead and her second husband, Reo Fortune, sailed up the Yuat just three years after the river region had been pacified by the Australian Administration. The Mundugumor were to be the third culture they had studied together. They had planned for eight months, but stayed for less than three. Both, apparently, found the Mundugumor difficult and disagreeable. Working conditions were also unusually tough. It was the hot and steamy rainy season, the village was flooded, the mosquitoes were at their worst. Not least among the irritants, their professional marriage was beginning to founder. Small wonder that

Mead's brilliant ethnographic eye was becoming jaundiced: In *Blackberry Winter* (New York, 1972) she admits she "loathed" Mundugumor culture. Fortune kept his feelings to himself and published nothing substantial on Mundugumor.

Mead's practical and personal difficulties aside, sixty years later we can clearly see that she was ensnared by simplistic constructs--Benedictine rather than Boasian--of culture and personality. This is nowhere more obvious than in her paradoxical assertion that it was the misfits and "deviants" who kept Mundugumor culture going. It was a degenerate, disorganized, and dysfunctional society, she believed, whose increasing complexity had made it unworkable. Mundugumor culture was "broken," Mead declared, and had "stopped like a clock" (a view she confirmed during a brief return visit in 1971).

Prompted by Nancy McDowell (who had worked upriver in Bun) and the theoretical interests of Lévi-Strauss, Mead began in the early seventies to draft a more comprehensive ethnography of the Mundugumor. She did not live to complete it but McDowell had promised to do so, and the result is this fascinating book based largely on Mead's manuscript and field notes. Characteristically, Mead's notes were clear and methodically organized, Fortune's scrambled and "practically unreadable."

One of the virtues of McDowell's book is that it rehabilitates the Mundugumor (nowadays called the Biwat) and dislodges them from their unenviable position near the top of the Least-Likeable League of world cultures. By dint of a careful and dispassionate reading of the field notes, McDowell finds they allow a more charitable interpretation of the Mundugumor of sixty years ago. During a two-week visit of her own in 1981, she interrogated them afresh. Now Christian and comparatively affluent, she found them "warm, open and generous . . . as well as assertive and volatile." In contrast to Mead, McDowell "liked them very much" (p. 298). The portrait of the Mundugumor that emerges from these pages is a believable one.

Not the least interesting theme of the book is the activity of fieldwork itself as conducted by two legendary ethnographers, the most dynamic duo in the history of Melanesian anthropology. Fortune set the agenda for their division of labor in Mundugumor: Mead was to do "the language, the children and the technology while he would specialize on the social organization, kinship, warfare and religion" (p. 10). The absurdity of this arrangement will be obvious, even if we did not happen to know that Fortune's linguistic abilities were far superior to Mead's. Moreover, their collaboration was becoming strained and at times they

Reviews 133

worked at cross-purposes, though they worked alternately with the best informant, "There are indications," McDowell says with more than a hint of understatement, "that they were not fully sharing data with each other" (p. 289).

Thanks partly to this historical depth of field, this is a rich and fascinating book. The ethnographic materials (on economy, trade, warfare, religion, initiation, and so forth, as well as on kinship and marriage) are remarkable enough to warrant a straightforward narrative, and to this end McDowell writes clearly and well. Notwithstanding her obligation to Mead, the temptation to adopt a postmodernist stance must have been considerable. The ingredients are almost irresistible: the field notes of two extraordinarily gifted and experienced ethnographers; a "fierce cannibal tribe" on the cusp of colonial transformation; the author's own visit to their Christian descendants half a century. later, and the possibility for multivocality and contrasting representations that all these factors allow. Yet the author has wisely eschewed stylistic tricks and resisted making extravagant theoretical claims. Her tone is considerate of the people and respectful of her sources; indeed, she leans over backward to be fair to Mead, concluding the book with a tribute to her "special talents as an observer and ethnographer" (p. 303).

For kinship specialists, the most interesting third of the book will be McDowell's retrieval of the full data on Mundugumor kinship and marriage, followed by her reinterpretation of the controversial "rope." Mead had deduced that the "rope" (geun) was a descent line or group recruited through alternating sexes in adjacent generations (such that mother and son belong to a different line than father and daughter). This gave rise to an anomalous "system" of which many anthropologists have been understandably skeptical.

McDowell skillfully disentangles Mead's and Fortune's evidence on social organization and reassembles it in the form of an elegant transactional model. She distinguishes between two contrasting modes of exchange (of valuables and ritual services) that operate within and between generations. The "rope" unites them into a single complex. Thus, in a detailed technical argument, McDowell shows that the marriage system and its intricate obligatory exchanges makes perfect sense if predicated on brother-sister exchange. The ideal marriage system entailed third bilateral cross-cousin marriage with brother-sister exchange, such that the descendants of a brother-sister pair reunite in marriage in the fourth generation (p. 278).

In this scheme, a "rope" is neither a descent line nor a kin group, but a comprehensive metaphor for "the complex interweaving of relationships and ties between classificatory brother-sister pairs and their children over time, ties that began and ended with brother-sister exchange marriage" (p. 269). In other words, the alternating female-male-female line of relatives was not, as Mead supposed, the "rope" itself, nor a line of descent, least of all a "lineage" (as Mead herself had begun to call it in *Male and Female* [London, 1949]), but one of the two strands of alternating sex links that comprised each "rope."

So far as I can judge, McDowell's model is utterly convincing. If anything, she is too modest about her own analytical achievement and perhaps too generous in excusing Mead her patent errors. In essence, "rope" refers to a system of exchange, not to a system of descent. One reason Mead got it wrong (Fortune, too, though his notes show that he twigged the "rope" metaphor) was that she lacked a rigorous concept of descent. Another, of course, was that neither of them spoke the Biwat language; they worked entirely in pidgin. Though a few minor problems remain with McDowell's model, there is no denying its cogency and elegance. The Mundugumor, alias Biwat, are finally comprehensible.

In brief, this is an ethnography with unusual appeal to anthropologists (and anyone else) interested in the Sepik region, in complex exchange and exotic kinship systems, in Margaret Mead's energetic career, or in the history and anthropology of ethnography in Papua New Guinea. The book is handsomely produced by the Smithsonian in its excellent Ethnographic Inquiry series. The omission of maps, however, is a sorry one; I cannot imagine why anyone should think that the precise location of Mundugumor villages is unimportant.

Terry Crowley, *Beach-la-Mar to Bislama: The Emergence of a National Language in Vanuatu.* Oxford Studies in Language Contact. Oxford: At the Clarendon Press, 1990. Pp. xxii, 422, maps, tables, bibliography, index. US\$98.00 cloth.

Reviewed by John Lynch, University of the South Pacific

The Vanuatu Constitution declares Bislama to be the national language of the republic, and one of the three official languages (alongside English and French). As Crowley notes (p. 1), this means that Vanuatu is the only Pacific state or territory "in which a non-European language has a constitutional status higher than" a metropolitan or excolonial language, and one of the few countries in the world where a pidgin or

Reviews 135

creole has this status. In a country with one hundred or more indigenous languages (Tryon 1976), which was jointly administered by Britain and France before independence in 1980, and with political tensions (then and now) between anglophone and francophone citizens, the choice of Bislama as a politically and regionally neutral language was a good one.

Crowley's aims are to "chart the history of Bislama" over the last 150 years, examining the role of ni-Vanuatu in the development of the language, and to "look at some of the changes that are taking place so rapidly in the language today." His "credentials" for writing on the history and development of Bislama are impeccable. He has conducted extensive descriptive research on one Vanuatu language (Paamese) and comparative research on Oceanic languages within and outside Vanuatu; he lived in Vanuatu for a decade or more, speaking Bislama on a daily basis; and he has published what has become the authoritative dictionary of that language (Crowley 1990), as well as the only grammar (Crowley 1987, which is written in Bislama).

After an initial introductory chapter, Crowley devotes three chapters to various aspects of language contact. Chapters 2 and 3 divide the period of contact into a preplantation period and a plantation-cumcolonial period, with 1865 the watershed year. Chapter 4 focuses specifically on the Bislama lexicon, outlining the various source languages for Bislama vocabulary and the nature and extent of their contributions. The next two chapters are devoted to the grammar of the language, chapter 5 dealing with earlier stages of the language and chapter 6 with more recent developments. The final chapter is retrospective, covering a number of recurrent themes: the nature of Beach-la-Mar (the name given to the earlier, perhaps less stable, variety of the language), the role of women in the development of the language, and the way in which the language, even though not originally a "native Melanesian" one, functions as an expression of Melanesian identity.

Crowley is at pains "to stress the Melanesian side of the development of the language," stating clearly in his introduction that "Bislama is undeniably a Melanesians' language--and a Melanesian language--and it is certainly no mere broken English, despite the claims of its detractors in the past" (p. ix). This thread, which runs through the whole book, is an extremely important one. Too often, accounts of pidgin or creole languages emphasize the contribution that (usually European) lexifier languages have made and underplay the contribution of the substrate languages. Too often also, the role of the speakers of those substrate languages in the maintenance, development, expansion, and enrichment of creole languages has been ignored. One of Crowley's

achievements is to place in proper perspective these contributions to the development of one such language.

Crowley's discussion of the origin of Bislama vocabulary (chapter 4) is of particular interest in this regard. He gives the proportion of Bislama words derived from various languages as follows:² Englishderived, 84-90 percent: Melanesian-derived, 3.75 percent: Frenchderived, 6-12 percent; and other, 0.25 percent. A couple of comments are necessary. First, most Bislama words that are ultimately, of Portuguese origin (like pikinini 'child' or kalabus 'jail') were not derived through contact with Portuguese, since these words were already in the South Seas Jargon--the variety of pidginized English spoken in the early nineteenth century. (A similar comment can be made about words of Polynesian origin, like kava 'kava' and taro 'taro'). Second, Crowley goes to considerable lengths to track down the source (or, in many cases, possible sources) of the Melanesian-derived items. He shows that the languages of Efate and the Shepherds, and also those spoken in the Pentecost-Ambae-Maewo region, have been the main contributors to the vocabulary of Bislama, with some input also coming from Santo, Malakula, and the Banks; the languages of the extreme north and the extreme south, however, as well as those of Epi, Ambrym, and Paama have made negligible contributions.

Another feature of the book is the detailed attention to the development of the language--both lexically and grammatically--over the decades. Of particular interest in this regard is the attention Crowley gives to the influence of vernacular substrates on the grammar of Bislama. To give one example only: he shows that there are a number of transitive verbs in Bislama that also have a prepositional function when used in serial constructions. The Bislama verb *kasem* 'get; reach, arrive at', for example, may be used prepositionally with the meaning 'as far as, until', as in:

Sip ia i ron kasem Santo 'This ship went/goes as far as Santo'

Crowley points to exact parallels in Vanuatu languages like Paamese (p. 328):

Sīv koanik muloh rokol out Santo ship this it-ran it-touch place Santo 'This ship went as far as Santo'

Reviews 137

The book is well presented, with examples clearly set out and with footnotes at the bottom of each page rather than tucked away at the back. One criticism, though, concerns the lists of French-derived vocabulary (pp. 113-128), where comments on individual items occur as normal text in the middle of the lists: these might perhaps have been better treated as footnotes, or moved to the end of each list.

Despite its relatively high cost--but what good books are cheap these days?--this is an extremely valuable addition to the literature on Melanesian Pidgin and on pidgin/creole studies generally. But it is more than that: Because of the attention paid to the effects on the language of interethnic contact and social and political developments in Vanuatu, it is also a valuable contribution to the social history of the Pacific.

NOTES

- 1. Vanuatu was known as the New Hebrides before independence; its citizens are referred to as ni-Vanuatu. Bislama is probably the most generally accepted name of the language today, though other names have been used in the past (see pp. 26-33, for example): it is often spelled Bichelamar in French, and many people pronounce the *s* of *Bislama* as *sh*.
- 2. The rather large range given for English- and French-derived vocabulary is due to the fact that quite a number of Bislama words--like *bang* 'bank', *sigaret* 'cigarette', or *futbol* 'football'--might have come from either English or French (or, indeed, from both simultaneously).

REFERENCES

Crowley, Terry

1987 Grama blong Bislama. Suva: Ekstensen Sevis, Yunivesiti blong Saot Pasifik.

1990 An Illustrated Bislama-English and English-Bislama Dictionary. Vila: Pacific Languages Unit and Vanuatu Extension Centre, University of the South Pacific.

Tryon, D. T.

1976 New Hebrides Languages: An Internal Classification. Pacific Linguistics, Series C. No. 50. Canberra: Australian National University.

Ingjerd Hoëm, Even Hovdhaugen, and Arnfinn Muruvik Vonen, *Kupu Mai Te Tutolu: Tokelau Oral Literature.* Oslo: Institute for Comparative Research in Human Culture, Scandinavian University Press; distributed outside Scandinavia by Oxford University Press, 1992. Pp. ii, 196, music notations, bibliography, index. US\$39.95 cloth.

Reviewed by Richard Moyle, University of Auckland

This volume presents the detailed findings of research collectively conducted in Tokelau over an eight-year period by a trio of academics; Hoëm and Vonen were students of Hovdhaugen at the University of Oslo.

Hoëm's essay on songs and cultural identity is a welcome addition to earlier, more generalized and tentative publications on the subject, combining field material given verbally and in writing in both English and Tokelauan. Despite occasional infelicities of writing style, she presents a wide-ranging analysis of music's functions as they reflect on Tokelauan self-identity: the resolution of interisland rivalries into a single pan-Tokelau dance form--the *fatele*; the textual emphasis on presenting a Tokelauan world view; and the synthesis of perceived old and new sets of values.

By contrast, Hoëm's next essay, on Tokelau speeches, uses copious footnotes to accompany verbatim presentations of three speeches, together with parallel English translations that form the basis of her generalizations about the art form as a whole. This material, with linguistic minutiae carefully detailed, is clearly intended for a different readership.

Hovdhaugen's contribution begins with an innocuous, nonannotated account of the work areas of Tokelauan women as told by one woman, followed by a translation and a list of terms associated with matweaving, a subject touched on in the account. His subsequent essay on fishing stories is more substantial. Curiously, however, many of the copious footnotes accompanying the stories in Tokelauan relate to details of translation and specialized meanings, but the reader cannot make sense of this material until reaching the English translation some pages later. Clearly, a parallel translation format is called for here.

By contrast, Vonen's analysis of the story of Alo is in parallel text format. This essay represents the most detailed study to date of any Tokelauan *kakai* (fables), and illustrates well the extent of cultural knowledge embodied in these tales. As with the other authors, Vonen provides a great many (290 no less!) footnotes detailing aspects of linguistic, presentational, and cultural usage. With better planning, however, the longer footnotes (some of which occupy more page space than the text itself) could have been transferred elsewhere in the essay. The comparisons with Samoan and other Tokelauan versions of the same story are illuminating, but, in the absence of any thematic analysis or conclusion, the reader is left somewhat stranded. Vonen's rudimentary analysis of

Reviews 139

the melodies of the sung *tagi* in the story reveals the use of two stereotypes; had the musical notations appeared with the analysis instead of separately at the end of the book, these and other details would be more apparent. The stereotypes appear to be different from those in Samoa (Moyle 1988:64-65) and Tonga (Moyle 1987:179), the only other west Polynesian areas where comparable research has occurred.

Overall, the book's impact and usefulness is somewhat uneven. In seeking to combine the oil of "traditional philological analysis" with the water of "empirically oriented, modern linguistic and anthropological approaches" (jacket notes), the authors rather unrealistically assume a readership skilled in many fields. And, although the authors sought help in polishing the English language content of their publication, the book suffers constantly from lack of editing. On the very first page ("Guide to the Transcription"), two of the words illustrating the use of macrons to denote long vowels contain acute accents instead of macrons, and in the section on linguistic orthography on the same page, the ellipsis is described naively as "a sequence of three full stops." Typographic errors abound in both English and Tokelauan. A more unified goal, consistency of format for presenting linguistic material, and careful editing-all relatively straightforward matters--would have greatly enhanced the value of this book for both Tokelau scholars and Tokelauans themselves.

REFERENCES CITED

Moyle, Richard M.

1987 Tongan Music. Auckland: Auckland University Press.

1988 *Traditional Samoan Music.* Auckland: Auckland University Press in association with The Institute for Polynesian Studies.

BOOKS NOTED

RECENT PACIFIC ISLANDS PUBLICATIONS: SELECTED ACQUISITIONS, MAY-AUGUST 1993

This list of significant new publications relating to the Pacific Islands was selected from new acquisition lists received from Brigham Young University-Hawaii, University of Hawaii at Manoa, Bernice P. Bishop Museum, University of Auckland, East-West Center, University of the South Pacific, National Library of Australia, and the Australian International Development Assistance Bureau's Centre for Pacific Development and Training. Other libraries are invited to send contributions to the Books Noted Editor for future issues. Listings reflect the extent of information provided by each institution.

- Alemann, Maurice. Early Land Transactions in the Ngatiwhatua Tribal Area. Thesis, U. Auckland, 1992.
- Alexander, Arthur Chambers. *Koloa Plantation, 1835-1935: A History of the Oldest Hawaiian Sugar Plantation.* 2d ed. Lihue, Hawaii: Kauai Historical Society, 1985.
- Attenborough, Robert D., and Michael P. Alpers, eds. *Human Biology in Papua New Guinea: The Small Cosmos.* Oxford: Clarendon Press, 1992.
- Awhina, Te Tari. Whakamarama i te Tiriti o Waitangi: Understanding the Treaty of Waitangi. Auckland: Auckland Inst. of Technology, 1990.
- Badcock, Jacqui. *The Role of Food and Nutrition Surveillance in National Food and Nutrition Planning in the Pacific.* Canberra: National Centre for Development Studies, Australian National U., 1990.
- Bahn, Paul G., and John Flenley. *Easter Island: Earth Island.* New York: Thames and Hudson, 1992.
- Bailey, Beth, and David Farber. The First Strange Place: The Alchemy of Race and Sex in World War II Hawaii. New York: Free Press, 1992.
- Bailey, John M. *Pacific Foods: The Leaves We Eat.* Noumea: South Pacific Commisssion, 1992.
- Baker, Richard W. *The International Relations of the Southwest Pacific: New Visions and Voices.* Honolulu: East-West Center. 1992.

- Beamer, Billie. *The Royal Torch: A Dark Flame of Disdain and Human Disregard.* San Jose, Calif.: Billie and Billie Publishing, 1989.
- Blanchett, G. Research and Development of Small-scale Fisheries in the South Pacific. Canberra: National Centre for Development Studies. Australian National U., 1990.
- Booth, Thomas H.. and Virginia Booth. *The Adventure Guide to Micronesia*. Edison, N.J.: MPC Hunter Publishing, 1991.
- Brownlie, Ian, and F. M. Brookfield. *Treaties and Indigenous Peoples*. New York: Oxford U. Press, 1992.
- Buchholz, Hanns Jurgen. New Approaches to Development Cooperation with South Pacific Countries. Saarbrucken, Ger.: Verlag Breitenbach, 1987.
- Bull, Adrian, and Stephen J. Craig-Smith. *Climatic Change and Its Possible Effects on Tourism Activity in the South West Pacific.* Lawes, Qld.: Centre for Hospitality and Tourism Management, U. Queensland, 1990.
- Bundy, Alan, and Judith Bundy, eds. *Directory of Australian Academic and Research Libraries*. 5th ed. Blackwood, S.A.: Auslib Press, 1992.
- Bushnell, Oswald A. *The Gifts of Civilization: Germs and Genocide in Hawaii.* Honolulu: U. Hawaii Press, 1993.
- Carpenter, Richard A., et al. How to Assess Environmental Impacts on Tropical Islands and Coastal Areas: South Pacific Regional Environment Programme (SPREP) Training Manual. Honolulu: East-West Center, 1989.
- Castle, Alfred L. A Century of Philanthropy: A History of the Samuel N. and Mary Castle Foundation. Honolulu: Hawaiian Historical Society, 1992.
- Chuuk State: 1989 Census of Population and Housing. Kolonia, Pohnpei: Office of Planning and Statistics, Federated States of Micronesia, 1992.
- Connell, John, and Richard Howitt, eds. *Mining and Indigenous Peoples in Australasia*. Sydney: Sydney U. Press, 1991.
- Cooper, Robert Cecil, and R. C. Cambie. *New Zealand's Economic Native Plants*. Auckland: Oxford U. Press, 1991.
- Cooper, Wiremu, et al. Taonga Maori People. Sydney: Australian Museum, 1989.
- Coulter, Hugh K. Commodity Marketing Institutions in the Pacific Islands: A Case Study of Papua New Guinea. Honolulu: East-West Center. 1990.
- Crocombe, Marjorie Tuainekore, et al. *Te Rau Maire: Poems and Stories of the Pacific.* Rarotonga: Tauranga Vanaga, 1992.
- Day, Arthur Grove. *Hawaii and Points South: True Tales from the Pacific.* Honolulu: Mutual Publishing, 1992.
- Dening, Greg. Mr. Bligh's Bad Language: Passion, Power. and Theatre on the Bounty. Cambridge: Cambridge U. Press, 1992.
- Directory of State, County, and Federal Officials. Honolulu: Hawaii Legislative Reference Bureau, 1993.
- Doubilet, David. Pacific: An Undersea Journey. Boston: Little, Brown, 1992.
- Dougherty, Michael. To Steal a Kingdom. Waimanalo, Hawaii: Island Press, 1992.
- Dowrick, Stephanie, and Jane Parkin. Speaking with the Sun: New Stories from Australia and New Zealand Writers. Wellington: B. Williams Books, 1991.
- Druett, Joan, and Ron Druett. *Petticoat Whalers: Whaling Wives at Sea, 1820-1920.* Auckland: Collins, 1991.
- Dutton, Thomas Edward. *A First Dictionary of Koiari*. Canberra: Dept. of Linguistics, Australian National U., 1992.
- ——, ed. *Culture Change, Language Change: Case Studies from Melanesia.* Canberra: Dept. of Linguistics, Australian National U., 1992.

- Dutton, Thomas Edward, and Dicks Thomas. *A New Course in Tok Pisin (New Guinea Pidgin)*. Pacific Linguistics, Series D, No. 67. Canberra: Dept. of Linguistics, Australian National U., 1985.
- Edgecombe, Jean. Norfolk Island, South Pacific: An Island of History and Many Delights. Thornleigh, N.S.W.: J. M. Edgecombe, 1991.
- Edmondson, Jerold A., and Kenneth Gregerson. *Tonality in Austronesian Languages.* Honolulu: U. Hawaii Press, 1993.
- Ellwood, Robert S. *Islands of the Dawn: The Story of Alternative Spirituality in New Zealand.* Honolulu: U. Hawaii Press, 1993.
- Environment and Development: A Pacific Island Perspective. Manila: Asian Development Bank, 1992.
- Falanruw, Marjorie C., et al. *Vegetation Survey of Rota, Tinian, and Saipan. Commonwealth of the Northern Mariana Islands.* Berkeley: Pacific South-West Forest and Range Experiment Station, 1989.
- Feeney, Stephanie, and Ann Fielding. Sand to Sea: Marine Life in Hawaii. Honolulu: U. Hawaii Press, 1989.
- Feuer, A. B., et al. Coast Watching in the Solomon Islands: The Bougainville Reports, December 1941-July 1943. New York: Praeger, 1992.
- Finney, Ben R. From Sea to Space. Palmerston North, N.Z.: Massey U., 1992.
- Fleming, Sue, and Monalisa Tukuafu. Women's Work and Development in Tonga. Armidale, N.S.W.: U. New England, 1986.
- Forbes, David W. Treasures of Hawaiian History: From the Collections of the Hawaiian Historical Society. Honolulu: Hawaiian Historical Society, 1992.
- Foster, John. He Tuhituhi Maori: A Study of Maori Texts by Well-Known Writers. Auckland: Reed, 1991.
- Frazer, Ian. Growth and Change in Village Agriculture: Manakwai, North Malaita. Armidale, N.S.W.: U. New England, 1987.
- Freeman, Tom W., and James P. Delgado. *Pearl Harbor Recalled: New Images of the Day of Infamy.* Annapolis, Md.: Naval Inst. Press, 1991.
- Fujii, Jocelyn K., and Linny Morris Cunningham. *Under the Hula Moon: Living in Hawaii*. New York: Crown, 1992.
- Garrett, Helen M. A. Te Manihea: The Life and Times of the Pioneer Missionary Robert Maunsell. Auckland: Reed, 1991.
- Goulding, Nigel. Temperature Variability in the South Pacific: A Regional Examination of Its Nature and Sources. Thesis, U. Auckland, 1993.
- Government in Hawaii: A Handbook of Financial Statistics. Honolulu: Tax Foundation of Hawaii, 1992.
- Greene, Linda W. Exile in Paradise: The Isolation of Hawaii's Leprosy Victims and Development of Kalaupapa Settlement, 1865 to the Present. Denver: U.S. National Park Service, 1985.
- Grouden, Victoria Jane. Ko te Hokianga o te Tai Tokerau: A Regional Case Study of Cultural Contact. Thesis, U. Auckland, 1992.
- Growney, James W. Land, Love, and Loss in Hawaii: A Fictional Truth. Honolulu: Editions Ltd., 1992.
- Hanley, Mary Laurence, and O. A. Bushnell. *Pilgrimage and Exile: Mother Marianne of Molokai*. Honolulu: U. Hawaii Press, 1991.
- Hawaii's Birds. 4th ed. Honolulu: Hawaii Audubon Society, 1989.
- Heliker, C. C. Volcanic and Seismic Hazards on the Island of Hawaii. Reston, Va.: U.S. Geological Survey, 1990.

Herter, Eric. Discovery: The Hawaiian Odyssey. Honolulu: Bishop Museum Press. 1993.

Hirsch, Phillip Hans, et al. *Asia-Pacific Focus: People and Environment in Change.* Milton, Qld.: Jacaranda Press, 1991.

Hitch, Thomas Kemper, and Robert M. Kamins. *Islands in Transition: The Past, Present, and Future of Hawaii's Economy.* Honolulu: First Hawaiian Bank, 1992.

Hoefer, Hans, et al. Hawaii. 9th ed. Hong Kong: APA Productions, 1991.

Holmes, Tommy. The Hawaiian Canoe. 2d ed. Honolulu: Editions Ltd., 1993.

Howard, Michael Carlton. *The Cold War and Political Alignment in the South Pacific.* Burnaby, B.C.: Simon Fraser U.. 1991.

Howarth, Francis G., and William P. Mull. *Hawaiian Insects and Their Kin.* Honolulu: U. Hawaii Press. 1992.

Impact economique du tourism en Nouvelle-Caledonie. Noumea: Inst. Territorial de la Statistique et des Etudes Economiques, 1988.

Index to New Zealand Periodicals. Wellington: National Library of New Zealand. 1986.

Izumi, Masanami. *Marine Resources Bibliography of Guam.* Noumea: South Pacific Commission. 1993.

Jarrett, Frank, and Kym Anderson. Growth, Structural Change. and Economic Policy in Papua New Guinea: Implications for Agriculture. Canberra: National Centre for Development Studies. Australian National U., 1989.

Josselin, Jean-Marie. A Taste of Hawaii: New Cooking from the Crossroads of the Pacific. New York: Stewart, Tabori & Chang, 1992.

Juillerat, Bernard. Shooting the Sun: Ritual and Meaning in West Sepik. Washington, D.C.: Smithsonian Press, 1992.

Kamakau, Samuel Manaiakalani. *Ruling Chiefs of Hawaii.* Rev. ed. Honolulu: Kamehameha Schools Press, 1992.

Kame'eleihiwa, Lilikala. *Native Land and Foreign Desires*. Honolulu: Bishop Museum Press. 1992.

Kanze, Edward. Notes from New Zealand: A Book of Travel and Natural History. New York: H. Holt, 1992.

Kay, Robert F. *Tahiti and French Polynesia: A Travel Survival Kit.* 3d ed. Berkeley: Lonely Planet, 1992.

Kepler, Angela Kay, and Cameron B. Kepler. *Majestic Molokai: A Nature Lover's Guide.* Honolulu: Mutual Publishing. 1992.

Khan, Muinuddin. *Labour Administration: Profile of Fiji*. Geneva: International Labour Organization, 1990.

Kikumura, Akemi. *Issei Pioneers: Hawaii and the Mainland, 1885 to 1924.* Los Angeles: Japanese American National Museum, 1992.

King, Jane. New Zealand Handbook. Chico, Calif.: Moon Publications, 1993.

Koch, Gerd. *The Material Culture of Tuvalu*. Suva: Inst. of Pacific Studies, U. South Pacific, 1984.

Kondo, Dennis. Business Basics in Hawaii: Secrets of Starting Your Own Small Business in Our State. Rev ed. Honolulu: Chamber of Commerce of Hawaii, 1991.

Lacourrege, Gerard. Nouvelle Caledonie: autemps des bagnes. Paris: Atlas, 1986.

Lal, Brij V. Broken Waves: A History of the Fiji Islands in the Twentieth Century. Honolulu: U. Hawaii Press, 1992.

——, ed. *Pacific Islands History: Journeys and Transformations.* Canberra: Research School of Pacific Studies, Australian National U., 1992.

Lanai Ranch: The People of Koele and Keomuku. Honolulu: Center for Oral History, U. Hawaii, 1989.

- Lay, Graeme. Passages: Journeys in Polynesia. Auckland: Tandem Press, 1993.
- Lebot, Vincent, et al. Kava: The Pacific Drug. New Haven: Yale U. Press, 1992.
- Levesque, Rodrique. *History of Micronesia: A Collection of Source Documents.* Gatineau, Quebec: Levesque Publications, 1992.
- Levett, Allan, and Colin Lankshear. *Going for Gold: Priorities for Schooling in the Nine-ties.* Wellington: Daphne Brasell, 1990.
- Levin, Michael J., and Robert D. Retherford. *Recent Fertility Trends in the Pacific Islands*. Honolulu: East-West Center, 1986.
- Lockwood, Victoria, et al. *Contemporary Pacific Societies: Studies in Development and Change.* Englewood Cliffs, N.J.: Prentice-Hall, 1993.
- MacDonald, Mary N. Mararoko: A Study in Melanesian Religion. New York: P. Lang. 1990.
- McGregor, Graham. et al. *Dirty Silence: Aspects of Language and Literature in New Zealand*. Auckland: Oxford U. Press, 1991.
- MacKenzie, Maureen Anne. Androgynous Objects: String Bags and Gender in Central New Guinea. Philadelphia: Harwood Academic, 1991.
- Martin, Pamela Bell. *Telecommuting, the Ride of the Future.* Honolulu: Hawaii Legislative Reference Bureau. 1992.
- Mitchell, Donald D. Kilolani. *Resource Units in Hawaiian Culture.* 4th ed. rev. Honolulu: Kamehameha Schools Press, 1992.
- Moon, Geoff. The Living Forests of New Zealand. Auckland: David Bateman, 1992.
- Murphy, Christopher William. *Macroeconomic Model of Fiji*. Canberra: National Centre for Development Studies, Australian National U., 1992.
- Nash, Roy. Succeeding Generation: Family Resources and Access to Education in New Zealand. Auckland: Oxford U. Press, 1993.
- Naumann, Ruth. *The Tauiwi: The Later Immigrants.* Auckland: New House Publishers, 1990.
- Neale, Tom. An Island to Oneself: The Story of Six Years on a Desert Island. Woodbridge, Conn.: Ox Bow Press. 1990.
- New Zealand Tourism Board. Tourism in the 90s. Wellington: The Board, 1992.
- Nga Whakahaere Reo Maori: Directory of Maori Language Organizations. Wellington: N.Z. Maori Language Commission, 1990.
- Nimmo, Harry. The Pele Literature: An Annotated Bibliography of the English-language Literature on Pele, Volcano Goddess of Hawaii. Honolulu: Bishop Museum Press, 1992.
- 1991 New Zealand Census of Population and Dwellings: New Zealand's Multicultural Society. Wellington: Dept. of Statistics, 1993.
- Oliver, Anthony Michael. The Almanac of Hawaii. Honolulu: Mutual Publishing, 1993.
- Ono, Hiroichi. *Labour Administration: Profile on Occupational Safety and Health in Fiji.* Bangkok: International Labour Organization, 1991.
- Orsman, Harold William, and Des Hurley. *New Zealand Slang Dictionary.* Auckland: Reed, 1992.
- ------. Quotable New Zealanders: Memorable Remarks and Reflections. Auckland: Reed. 1992.
- Paraha, Glynnis. He Pounanu Kakano Rua, Construction of Maori Women: A Visual Discourse. Thesis, U. Auckland, 1992.

Parkinson, Susan, et al. *A Nutrition Handbook for the South Pacific Islands.* Rev. ed. Suva: National Food and Nutrition Committee, 1992.

Parslow, Beverly Helen. *Pre-contact Polynesian Fishing: A Gender Perspective.* Thesis, U. Auckland, 1993.

Parsons, Michael J. *Butterflies of the Bulolo-Wau Valley*. Honolulu: Bishop Museum Press, 1991

Pearson, David, et al. Nga Take: Ethnic Relations and Racism in Aotearoa/New Zealand. Palmerston North, N.Z.: Dunmore Press, 1991.

Peat, Neville. *Tokelau: Atoll Associate of New Zealand.* Wellington: Compatriot Press, 1986.

Peebles, Douglas, and Glen Grant. From the Skies of Paradise: Oahu. Honolulu: Mutual Publishing, 1992.

Peebles, Douglas, and Sam Malvaney. *Landmark Hawaii: Sites and Sights of the Islands.* Honolulu: Mutual Publishing, 1991.

Piercy, LaRue W. *Hawaii's Missionary Saga: Sacrifice and Godliness in Paradise.* Honolulu: Mutual Publishing, 1992.

Pollock, Nancy J. These Roots Remain: Food Habits in Islands of the Central and Eastern Pacific since Western Contact. Laie, Hawaii: Inst. for Polynesian Studies, 1992.

Rameka, Nora, and Joe Te Pania. *Understanding Tangihanga*. Wellington: Trade Union Education Authority, 1990.

Raymond, Geoff. Footprints in Fiji. Melbourne: Lothian Publishing, 1988.

Reid, Gordon. A *Picnic with the Natives: Aboriginal-European Relations in the Northern Territory to 1910.* Carlton, Vic.: Melbourne U. Press, 1990.

Report on the Niue Census of Population and Dwellings, 1991. Alofi, Niue: Administrative Services Dept., 1992.

Rere, Taira. *Conversational Maori, Rarotongan Language.* 2d ed. Rarotonga: Rangitai Taira, 1991.

Rohter, Ira. *A Green Hawaii: Sourcebook for Development Alternatives.* Honolulu: Na Kane o ka Malo Press, 1992.

Rolley, Jack F. Pacific Hitch-hike--to Jambolana. New York: Vantage Press, 1989.

Roth, Randall W. The Price of Paradise. Honolulu: Mutual Publishing, 1992.

Seiden, Allan. Hawaii, the Royal Legacy. Honolulu: Mutual Publishing, 1992.

Shade, Patricia J., et al. *Ground-water Resources Reconnaissance of the Yap Main Islands, Federated States of Micronesia*. Denver: U.S. Geological Survey, 1992.

Shaw, Brian, and Judith Loveridge. *The New Zealand Experience: A Second Collection.* Palmerston North, N.Z.: Dunmore Press, 1991.

Singh, Gurmit. An Ethnographic Study of Curriculum Implementation in Two Primary Schools in Fiji. Thesis, U. Auckland, 1992.

Sixth Five-Year Development Plan 1991-1995 /Kingdom of Tonga. Nukuʻalofa: Central Planning Dept., 1991.

Smith, Bernard. *Imagining the Pacific in the Wake of the Cook Voyages*. Carlton, Vic.: Melbourne U. Press. 1992.

Smith, Robert. *Hiking Hawaii: The Big Island.* 3d ed. Huntington Beach, Calif.: Hawaiian Outdoor Adventures Publication, 1990.

Smith, Zachary Alden. *Hawaii State and Local Government: The Aloha County Simulation*. Lanham, Md.: University Press of America, 1992.

Smith, Zachary Alden, and Richard Pratt. *Politics and Public Policy in Hawaii*. Albany: State U. New York Press, 1992.

- Spate, Oscar Hermann Khristian. On the Margin of History: From the Punjab to Fiji. Canberra: National Centre for Development Studies, Australian National U., 1991.
- Stewart, Frank. A World Between Waves. Washington: Island Press, 1992.
- Sutherland, William. *Beyond the Politics* of *Race: An Alternative History of Fiji to 1992.*Canberra: Research School of Pacific Studies, Australian National U., 1992.
- Teaero, Teweiariki. Kiribati: Coming of Age. Tarawa: Kiribati Government, 1989.
- Theroux, Paul. *The Happy Isles of Oceania: Paddling the Pacific.* New York: Putnam's, 1992.
- Thompson, Herb. *Mining and the Environment in Papua New Guinea*. Murdoch, W.A.: Murdoch U., 1990.
- Thomson, David. Selfish Generation? The Ageing of New Zealand's Welfare State. Wellington: B. Williams Books, 1991.
- Tregakis, Moana. Hawaii. Oakland, Calif.: Compass American Guides, 1992.
- Utumapu, Tafili Tongatapu Marta-Leahnora. Finau i Mea Sili: Attitudes of Samoan Families in New Zealand to Education. Thesis, U. Auckland, 1992.
- Von Holt, Ida Elizabeth Knudsen. *Stories of Long Ago: Niihau, Kauai, Oahu.* Rev ed. Honolulu: Daughters of Hawaii, 1985.
- Waiko, John Dademo. *A Short History of Papua New Guinea*. Melbourne: Oxford U. Press, 1993.
- Weisel, Dorian. Aloha o Kalapana. Honolulu: Bishop Museum Press, 1992.
- Western Samoa Seventh Development Plan, 1992-1994. Apia: Western Samoa National Planning Office, 1992.
- Whistler, W. Arthur. Flowers of the Pacific Island Seashore: A Guide to the Littoral Plants of Hawaii, Tahiti, Samoa, Tonga, Cook Islands. Fiji, Micronesia. Honolulu: U. Hawaii Press. 1992.
- ——. *Polynesian Herbal Medicine.* Lawai, Hawaii: National Tropical Botanical Garden, 1992.
- Wichman, Juliet Rice. A Chronicle and Flora of Niihau. Lawai, Hawaii: National Tropical Botanical Garden, 1990.
- Williams, Herbert William. *Dictionary of the Maori Language*. 7th ed. Wellington: GP Publications, 1992.
- Wilson, John, ed. *From the Beginning: The Archaeology of the Maori.* Auckland: Penguin Books, 1987.
- Wyban, Carol Araki. *Tide and Current: Fishponds of Hawaii.* Honolulu: U. Hawaii Press. 1992.
- Yerex, David. New Zealand Off the Beaten Track. Wellington: GP Publications, 1992.
- Zimmerman, Jovita Rodas, ed. *From Mabuhay to Aloha: The Filipinos in Hawaii.* Honolulu: Filipino Assn. of University Women, 1992.

CONTRIBUTORS

- **Rodney C. Hills,** Centre for Pacific Development and Training, Australian International Development Assistance Bureau, Middle Head Rd., Mosman, N.S. W. 2091, Australia
- **David Hyndman,** Department of Anthropology and Sociology, University of Queensland, Brisbane, Qld. 4072, Australia
- **Douglas L. Oliver,** 4051 Black Point Rd., Honolulu, Hawaii 96816, U.S.
- **Andrew Strathern,** Department of Anthropology, University of Pittsburgh, 3B18 Forbes Quadrangle, Pittsburgh, Penn. 15620, U.S.
- **Laura Zimmer-Tamakoshi,** Division of Social Science, Northeast Missouri State University, Kirksville, Mo. 63501-0828, U.S.